Stress defense in rice: how jasmonates enhance resistance to osmotic stress

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

DOKTORS DER NATURWISSENSCHAFTEN

(Dr. rer. nat.)

der KIT-Fakult ät für Chemie und Biowissenschaften

des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT)

genehmigte

DISSERTATION

von

Gangliang Tang

aus

Zhejiang, China

KIT-Dekan: Prof. Dr. Reinhard Fischer

Referent: Prof. Dr. Peter Nick

Korreferent: Prof. Dr. Reinhard Fischer

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 19. October. 2018

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation, abgesehen von der Benutzung der angegebenen Hilfsmittel, selbständig verfasst habe.

Alle Stellen, die gemäß Wortlaut oder Inhalt aus anderen Arbeiten entnommen sind, wurden durch Angabe der Quelle als Entlehnungen kenntlich gemacht.

Diese Dissertation liegt in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde vor.

Zudem erkläre ich, dass ich mich beim Anfertigen dieser Arbeit an die Regeln zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis des KIT gehalten habe, einschließlich der Abgabe und Archivierung der Primärdaten, und dass die elektronische Version mit der schriftlichen übereinstimmt.

Karlsruhe, im Oktober 2018

Gangliang Tang

Acknowledgements

I feel that time has passed so quickly. When I typed my final word on my computer, I had to acknowledge that my doctoral career was coming to an end, as well as my time as a student. I have been studying at KIT for almost three years, and it seems to have all happened only yesterday. My first time abroad was my trip to Germany. On the first day, I was fortunate to meet Peter. I felt curious and worried about the unfamiliar environment in Germany, and feared that I did not leave a good first impression on my supervisor. So much has happened in the past three years. I have met many good people. I have been happy, sad, laughed, cried, shared good times with friends, and reflected in solitude. I have also grown a lot. I have become inner-motivated and self-directed. I have met so many wonderful people in the past three years. We have studied, lived, and played together. Today, I need to thank all of these wonderful people.

First and foremost, I express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Peter Nick, for granting me the enormous opportunity to come to his laboratory in Karlsruhe and to learn from him. I used to want to study abroad as a Ph.D. student for well training. I sent out many resumes and contacted many professors all around the world. In the more than 300 emails that I sent, one-half did not respond. Of the remaining one-half, two-thirds said they had no openings. Most of the remaining one-third gave me only a simple reply, and a handful gave me a relatively positive response. In fact, only Peter gave me a clear answer. He went on to assist me to actively apply for scholarships, so that I finally had the opportunity to study at KIT. Without Peter's active help, I would have had no chance to become a Ph.D. student here. I came to Germany with gratitude. Even though he never asked me to, I told Peter that I would work diligently for more than 10 hours each day, just like when I was a master's student. In the first year of my studies, I did work very hard. Every day, I was one of the first people in the laboratory. I often continued to work until 8 or 10 in the evening. When I would leave the institute, it was frequently the case that no one

T

was there. So, I completed most of my doctoral work in the first year. The doctor's work is full of hardships. I have failed in experiments many times, and I did not achieve expected results for a long time. In some aspects of my work, I felt that I did not deserve to be a Ph.D. student. However, Peter never blamed me. He always gave me ample kindness and encouragement, freedom, and patience so that I could maintain my confidence and finally complete my graduation thesis. If I can successfully pass the defense, the person I need to appreciate most is Prof. Nick.

In my three-year doctoral career, the second person I must thank is Dr. Michael Riemann, who is also our group leader and direct guide for my thesis. Many of my experiments have greatly benefitted from his guidance. From experimental methods to the ideas of the study, Michael provided me with the most detailed advice. Michael also helped me to rewrite the first paper I wrote during my Ph.D. literally word by word. During my 20 years of study, this was the first person to give me so much assistance. Without Michael, I am certain that I would not have been able to complete my Ph.D. in three years. Thank you deeply for helping me all the time. I will never forget your help throughout my life. I am also sincerely grateful that Prof. Dr. Reinhard Fischer agreed to be my co-examiner immediately. I deeply appreciate his time, devotion, and expertise.

I want to thank all of the doctors, every master's student, and each employee in our institute. Research cannot be completed by a single person, but rather requires a team. During these three years of study, I am deeply grateful to the teachers and colleagues who assisted me during my experiments, as well as the friends who have taken care of my spirit and well-being. It can be a very difficult and lonely experience for a person to study abroad in a foreign country, which is thousands of miles away from one's home. Without the friends that I have had who have performed experiments together, had lunch together, played together, and traveled together, I could not have finished the Ph.D. work. We have gotten through three years of a happy life, and I will always cherish and remember our times together. Even after leaving KIT, when everyone will

II

go their own way, and may live far apart from each other, I am certain that there will be times that we will feel light and warmth at the recollection of time spent together during this time in our lives. I wish that the friends who have been with me for the past three years will have a beautiful future and a happy life. I hope that all of you will not forget the time studying at KIT, doing experiments together, going hiking together, and encouraging each other to work hard for the dream...We will never forget each other.

Finally, I give my most sincere respect to my parents. When I was born, my hometown was still poor, and our family was one of the poorest in the village. However, my parents worked very hard. When my father was around 30 years old, he often went to work in Shanghai, which is far from our village. At that time, I was just a small child. I could only see my father for two or three times each year. It was necessary though because, at that time, local job opportunities were very scarce. My father had to travel far away to work as a construction worker to earn his modest salary and support the entire family. With the support of my parents' hard work, however, I finally earned a master's degree in ecology. Without my parents' support, I could not have possibly studied for such a long period of time, and it would have been impossible to finish my undergraduate studies. Of course, I would never have had the opportunity to go abroad to study to be a doctor without their selfless sacrifice. If I can graduate successfully, the people that I most need to thank are my parents, who have supported me for more than 20 years.

This work was supported by a fellowship from the China Scholarship Council (CSC).

Gangliang Tang

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
ABBREVIATIONS	VII
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	XI
ABSTRACT	XIV
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Plant stress	1
1.2 Plants responses to Abiotic stresses	2
1.3 Drought stress	3
1.3.1 Responses of Morphology and Anatomical Features to Drought Stress	ses 4
1.3.2 Responses of Root Morphology to Drought Stresses	4
1.3.3 Physiological and Biochemical Adaptations to Drought Stress in Plan	ts 5
1.3.4 Genetic Regulations of Plant Adaptations under Drought Stress	6
1.4 Osmatic Stress	11
1.4.1 How Do Plants Respond to Osmotic Stress	12
1.4.2 Adjustments of Osmotic Balance by Soluble Substances	13
1.5 Jasmonate Signaling System in Plant Defense System	15
1.5.1 History of Jasmonate	15
1.5.2 JA Biosynthesis	16
1.5.3 JA Metabolism	17
1.5.4 Jasmonate Receptor Complex in JA Signal Perception	18
1.5.5 JA Signaling Pathway	19
1.5.6 Function of Jasmonate	21
1.6 Rice	23
1.7 Scope of this study	24
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.1 Plant materials, growth, and stress conditions	27 27

2.2 Analysis of morphology parameters	27
2.3 Measurement of stomatal conductance (Gs)	27
2.4 Measurement of relative water content (RWC) of shoots	28
2.5 Endogenous levels of ABA, OPDA, JA, and JA-Ile	28
2.6 RNA extraction and quantitative real-time PCR	28
2.7 Measurement of malondialdehyde (MDA)	30
2.8 Measurement of superoxide	31
2.9 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis	31
2.10 Data analysis	32
	22
3.1 Compared with <i>cpm2</i> , WT adapted to osmotic stress of different concentration	55 ns
better. JA plays a positive role in defending against osmotic stress.	33
3.1.1 cpm2 is more sensitive to high-intensity (25% PEG) osmotic stress	33
3.1.2 <i>cpm2</i> is more sensitive to low-intensity (≤20% PEG) osmotic stress in morphology	36
3.2. The effect of osmotic stress on hormones of rice shoot and root	30
3.2.1 Time course of IAs in response to osmotic stress	39
3.2.2. Time course of ABA in response to osmotic stress	35
3.2.3 IA was required for physiological adaption to osmotic stress	42 44
3.2.4 ARA was increased in response to asmatic stress	44
3.2.4 ADA was increased in response to osmotic stress	45
3.3.1 Osmotic stress can induce the expression of JA synthetic genes upstream of AOC. This phenomenon is more obvious in WT.	48 of 48
3.3.2 Osmotic stress can only slightly induce the gene expression of JA synthetic genes downstream of AOC	c 49
3.3.3 JA response gene (JAZ) is upregulated in WT, but not in <i>cpm2</i> after PEG treatment.	51
3.3.4 ABA-related genes upregulated more in WT shoots compared with cpm2	
shoots. In roots, OsLEA3 expressed more in cpm2.	52
3.4 Osmotic stress can induce the decline of stomatal conductance in rice. WT sho	wed
more downregulation compared to <i>cpm2</i>	55
3.5 JA biosynthesis mutant (cpm2) accumulated more ROS compared to WT	56 v

3.6 Changes of metabolites accumulation in rice shoots and leaves under osmotic	
stress	58
3.7 The function of JA is age-dependent	62
4. DISCUSSION	64
4.1 Hormones are necessary in the process of resistance to osmotic stress	64
4.1.1 JA mitigates osmotic stress symptoms	65
4.1.2 Differential increase of jasmonates in roots and shoots	66
4.1.3 ABA and JA pathways respond to osmotic stress in parallel	68
4.2 Mechanism of JA-induced osmotic stress defense in rice	70
4.3 Age-dependent JA induced defense against osmotic stress in rice	77
5. OUTLOOK	80
6. APPENDIX	
7. REFERENCES	

Abbreviations

13-LOX: 13-LIPOXYGENASE

13-HPOT: 13-hydroperoxyoctadecatrienoic acid

12,13-EOT: 12,13(S)-epoxyoctadecatrienoic acid

α-LeA: α-linolenic acid

ABA: abscisic acid

ACC: 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid

ACX: ACYL-CoA OXIDASE

ADC: Arginine decarboxylase

ANOVA: one-way analysis of variance

AOC: allene oxide cyclase

AOS: allene oxide synthase

ASP: Aspartic acid

AtHK1: Arabidopsis thaliana histidine kinase-1

BR: brassinolide

bZIP: basic leucine zipper transcription factor

CO₂: carbon dioxide

COR: cold-responsive protein

COI1: CORONATINE INSENSITIVE 1

cpm2: coleoptile photomorphogenesis 2

DM: dry mass

- DRE: drought response element
- DREB: dehydration response element binding
- ESTs: Expressed Sequence Tags

FAD: FATTY ACID DESATURASE

FM: fresh mass

GA: gibberellin

GC-MS: Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

GH3: GRETCHEN HAGEN3

Gs: Stomatal conductance

GSA: glutamate-semialdehyde

HSP: heat shock protein

JA: jasmonic acid

JMT: Jasmonic acid carboxyl methyltransferase

JA-Ile: jasmonoyl-isoleucine

JAZ1: jasmonate-zim-domain protein

JAR1: JASMONATE RESISTANT 1

KAT: L-3-KETOACYL-CoA THIOLASE

LEA: late embryo abundant

MDA: Malondialdehyde

MFP: multifunctional protein

MeJA: methyl jasmonate

NBT: nitroblue tetrazolium

NO: nitric oxide

 O_2 : superoxide anion

OAT: ornithine-delta-aminotransferase

OPDA: 12-oxophytodienoic acid

OPR: OPDA REDUCTASE

PAL: phenylalanine ammonia-lyase

PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction

PEG: polyethylene glycol

PLD: phospholipase D

PtdOH: phosphatidic acid

P5CS: pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase

PLA: PHOSPHOLIPASE A1

PRO: Proline

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RWC: Relative water content

SA: salicylic acid

- SDS: sodium dodecyl sulfate
- SP1: stable protein 1
- SOD: superoxide dismutase
- SSPs: seed storage proteins
- TBA: thiobarbituric acid
- TDC: tryptophan decarboxylase
- TFs: transcription factors
- TM: turgid mass
- TPS: Trehalose-6-phosphate synthase
- TPP: Trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase
- TIP: tonoplast intrinsic protein

Zusammenfassung

Pflanzen haben die Fähigkeit, durch abiotischen und biotischen Stress verursachte Schäden zu lindern. Phytohormone spielen eine sehr wichtige Rolle bei der Anpassung an diese Arten von Stress. Um die Rolle von Jasmonat bei der Anpassung osmotischen Stress zu erforschen, wurde eine Jasmonsäure (JA) an Biosynthesemutante (cpm2) von Reis, die in der Funktion der ALLENOXID CYCLASE (AOC) beeintr ächtigt ist, und der entsprechende Wildtyp (WT) auf ihre Reaktionen nach Behandlung mit Polyethylenglycol (PEG) 6000 untersucht. Der WT zeigte Toleranz gegenüber osmotischem Stress, der einen vorübergehenden Anstieg von JA und JA-Isoleucin (JA-Ile) in Sprossen induzierte, der einem Anstieg der Abscisins äure (ABA) voraus ging. In den Wurzeln war das Muster des hormonellen Anstiegs ähnlich, aber die Antwort schien schneller zu sein. In *cpm2*-Pflanzen wurden jedoch extrem niedrige Konzentrationen von 12-Oxophytodiens äure (OPDA), JA und JA-Ile nachgewiesen, unabhängig davon, ob sie mit PEG 6000 behandelt wurden oder nicht. In cpm2-Sprossen stieg ABA weniger an als bei WT, wenn sie osmotischem Stress ausgesetzt waren, während ABA-Level in Wurzeln etwas höher waren. Dies legt nahe, dass Jasmonate an der Regulation der ABA-Biosynthese als Antwort auf osmotischen Stress in Blättern beteiligt sind.

Bei osmotischem Stress könnte das erste hormonelle Signal eine Zunahme von Jasmonaten sein, und die Akkumulation von JA im frühen Stadium von osmotischem Stress könnte zu einem späteren Anstieg der ABA führen, da WT-Sprosse mehr ABA akkumulieren wenn sie osmotischem Stress ausgesetzt sind. In Reis scheinen jedoch beide hormonellen Wege mehr oder weniger unabhängig durch osmotischen Stress induziert zu werden, da Jasmonate früher als ABA und ABA sogar in Abwesenheit von JA induziert wurde.

Wenn Pflanzen osmotischem Stress ausgesetzt sind, ist die Funktion von JA in Sprossen und Wurzeln nicht genau gleich. Kurzfristig war der Anstieg der JAs in den Wurzeln vorübergehend, während die JAs in den Sprossen im Laufe der Zeit akkumuliert wurden. Daher werden JAs haupts ächlich während einer ersten Reaktion auf diese Art von Stress gebildet. JAs werden genutzt, um molekulare Signale zu induzieren, die zur Anregung des Abwehrsystems in Wurzeln führen. Im Gegensatz dazu helfen JAs im Spross wahrscheinlich, dass sich die Pflanze durch bestimmte morphologische und physiologische Veränderungen an die raue Umwelt anpassen kann, um Wasser effizienter zu nutzen, da JAs ständig zunehmen, was mit dem Phänotyp der größeren Toleranz gegen über osmotischem Stress korreliert. Auf längere Sicht kann JA zu einer Zunahme von Kronenwurzeln in Reaktion auf osmotischen Stress in Reis führen, was dazu beitragen kann, dass die Pflanzen mehr Wasser aus der Umgebung aufnehmen können und resistenter gegen osmotischen Stress werden.

Schließlich stellen wir auch verschiedene mögliche Mechanismen vor, um zu erklären, wie JA die osmotische Stressabwehr in Reis induziert. JA ist teilweise an der Regulation der ABA-Biosynthese in Reaktion auf osmotischen Stress in Blättern beteiligt. JA selbst und die Anreicherung von ABA induzierten das Schließen der Stomata, was in der Folge zu einer geringen Transpiration und Zurückhaltung von Wasser in den Blätern führen und das Ziel erreichen kann, sich an osmotischen Stress anzupassen. Zweitens hängt die ROS-Akkumulation mit dem endogenen JA zusammen, insbesondere kann der Anstieg von JA zu einer Abnahme des ROS-Gehalts unter osmotischen Stressbedingungen führen. Es ist zwar nicht klar, ob die Abnahme von ROS durch die blockierte Synthese verursacht wird, die aus JA resultiert, oder der Mechanismus der Eliminierung von ROS in Gegenwart von JA verstärkt ist. Wir denken, dass die Hemmung von ROS in WT die Pflanzen vor weiteren oxidativen Schäden bewahrt, da der Gehalt an Superoxid in *cpm2* sehr hoch und aller Wahrscheinlichkeit nach schädlich für Reis ist. Drittens korrelierte JA mit der Regulierung der Ressourcenverteilung in Pflanzen - insbesondere mit der Regulation einiger Aminos äuren und Sekund ärmetaboliten. welche die Pflanzenresistenz gegenüber osmotischem Stress erhöhen könnten. Diese Funktion von JA kann jedoch das übermäßige Wachstum (wie cpm2) von Reis hemmen und XII

auch zum Schutz vor anderen Arten von biotischem und abiotischem Stress beitragen, da die meisten Aminos äuren und sekund ären Metabolite eher der Verteidigung als dem Wachstum dienen. Letztendlich kann JA Pflanzen helfen, sich an den langfristigen osmotischen Stress anzupassen, indem sie die morphologischen Eigenschaften von Pflanzen, insbesondere die Konstruktion des Wurzelsystems, anpasst. Die Funktion von JA beim Schutz vor osmotischem Stress ist jedoch altersabhängig. Da die Verteilung von Ressourcen in jedem Stadium des Pflanzenwachstums unterschiedlich sein kann, kann auch die Anpassungsfunktion von JA an osmotischen Stress im Laufe der Zeit unterschiedlich sein.

Abstract

Plants have the ability to alleviate deleterious effects caused by abiotic and biotic stress. Phytohormones play a critical role in the adaptation to these stresses. To study the role of jasmonate in the adaptation to osmotic stress, a jasmonic acid (JA) biosynthesis mutant (*cpm2*) of rice, which is impaired in the function of ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE (AOC) and its wild type (WT), was employed to investigate its responses after polyethylene glycol (PEG) 6000 treatment. WT showed tolerance to osmotic stress, which induced a transient increase of JA and JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile) prior to an increase in abscisic acid (ABA) in shoots. In roots, the pattern of hormonal increase was similar, but the response appeared to be faster. In *cpm2* plants, however, extremely low levels of 12-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), JA, and JA-Ile were detected, irrespective of whether or not they were treated with PEG 6000. In *cpm2* shoots, ABA increased less than in WT when exposed to osmotic stress, while ABA levels were slightly higher in roots. This suggests that jasmonates participate in the regulation of ABA biosynthesis in response to osmotic stress in leaves.

In addition, when exposed to osmotic stress, the first hormonal signal to osmotic stress might be an increase in jasmonates, and the accumulation of JAs in the early stage of osmotic stress might mediate a subsequent increase of ABA, as WT shoot accumulated more ABA when exposed to osmotic stress. However, in rice, both hormonal pathways seem to be induced by osmotic stress more or less independently, as jasmonates were induced earlier than ABA, and ABA was induced even in the absence of JA.

When plants are subjected to osmotic stress, the function of JA in shoots and roots is not identical. In the short-term, JAs' increase in roots was transient, whereas JAs accumulated in shoots over time. Thus, JAs are mainly used during a first reaction to this type of stress, JAs are utilized in order to induce molecular signals to arouse the defence system in root. In contrast, in the shoot, JAs probably assist the plant to adapt to harsh environments through certain morphological and physiological changes towards adaption and more efficient water usage, as JAs constantly increase, which correlates with the phenotype of larger tolerance to osmotic stress. Over a relatively long time, JA may be related to crown roots increasing in response to osmotic stress in rice, which may help the plants absorb more water from the surroundings and obtain more resistance to osmotic stress.

Finally, we also propose several possible mechanisms to explain how JA induces osmotic stress defence in rice. JAs partially participate in the regulation of ABA biosynthesis in response to osmotic stress in leaves. JA itself and the accumulation of ABA induced stomatal closure, which may subsequently result in low transpiration and reservation of water in leaves, and accomplish the goal of getting used to osmotic stress. Secondly, ROS accumulation is related to endogenous JA, specifically, the increase of JA may lead to a decrease in ROS content under the condition of osmotic stress. It is not clear, however, whether the decrease of ROS is caused by the blocked synthesis which results from JA or that the mechanism of elimination of ROS is enhanced in the presence of JA. We think that the inhibition of ROS in WT prevents plants from further oxidative damage, as the content of superoxide in *cpm2* is very high and, in all probability, is harmful to rice. Thirdly, JA is correlated with the regulation of resource allocation in plants. Specifically, JA is associated with the regulation of some amino acids and secondary metabolites, which might increase plant resistance to osmotic stress. However, this function of JA may inhibit the excessive growth (just like cpm2) of rice and may also contribute to defense against other kinds of biotic and abiotic stress, as most amino acids and secondary metabolites are used for defense rather than growth. Finally, JA may help plants to adapt to long-term osmotic stress by adjusting the morphological features of plants, especially the construction of root systems. However, the function of JA in the defense of osmotic stress is age-dependent. Since the allocation of resources may be different at each stage of plant growth, the adjustment function of JA to osmotic stress may also differ over time.

XV

1. Introduction

1.1 Plant stress

Plants are widely distributed in the natural world, and the environments in which they grow are always complex. Even in the same area, environmental conditions vary greatly over a year or one day, which makes it difficult for plants to survive. However, as plants do not have legs and cannot escape from harmful environments, they must withstand and adapt to these conditions (Nick 2013). When the extent of environmental variation is too serious and exceeds the range that a plant requires for its normal growth and development, it will become an adverse environmental factor, which is termed stress (Dobson and Smith, 2000). Environmental stress initiates a series of physiological metabolic reactions in plants, and is mainly manifested as an impediment of metabolism and growth (Kranner et al., 2010). In severe cases, it even leads to death of the entire plant. There are many types of stress, including drought, cold, high temperature, waterlogging, salinity, pests, and environmental pollution (Cheeseman, 2007). Among them, drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures are the most common abiotic stresses, and the adverse effects on plants are also most prominent (Mittler, 2006). These abiotic and biotic stresses may dehydrate cells, destroy the membrane system, increase cell membrane permeability, and disorder various enzyme activities and metabolic activities on the membrane (Fujita et al., 2006). They may also reduce the photosynthetic rate and affect the respiratory rate. Therefore, in order for plants to complete their life history, it is necessary to overcome these unfavorable conditions and adapt to the environment in which they live (Yang et al., 2009). Since stress factors can affect many stages of plant growth and development and several stress factors sometimes affect plants at the same time, the processes of tolerance and defense of plants to stress are complex (Mittler, 2002). Currently, with extant changes in global climate, plants' survivability has been put to severe tests, and their adaptation mechanisms to the adverse survival environment, as well as anti-reverse mechanisms, have gradually attracted great attention from researchers in the bioscience field (Herrero and Zamora, 2014).

1.2 Plants responses to Abiotic stresses

In order to adapt to the environment and have a higher probability of survival, during the long-term process of evolution, plants have also gradually formed a variety of defense mechanisms to resist the restraints of adverse factors on their growth and development. These mechanisms are broadly existent at the plants' cellular levels, molecular levels, as well as the entire organism's level (Harris, 1975). Concerning physiological and biochemical aspects: the cell filtration rate is reduced with stomatal closure, so as to maintain tissue tension and water contents (Yu et al., 2006); adapt to stress through changes in leaf morphology and structures, as well as changes in the root-shoot ratio and root density; and resist stress injuries through alterations of the expression patterns of the adversity stress-related genes and regulations of the relevant metabolic pathways (Kasuga et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2003; Yin et al., 2009), in order to resist the environment stress. On the cellular level, when plants encounter adversity stress, they trigger the relevant response reactions, causing increases in the contents of such substances as sugars, organic acids, soluble proteins, proline, and ABA (Xiantao et al., 1998). They can also generate new homodimerization or alter the ingredients of the membrane lipid to resist and avoid harms brought about by the adversity factors (Bohnert et al., 1995).

In addition to the above reactions, some molecules that are able to respond to the adversity stress signals may also appear in the plant cells in order to conduct regulations of the expressions of the stress-related gene (Liu et al., 2001). This then causes increases or declines of the expression volumes of the relevant proteins, and further regulates the physiological and biochemical process of the plant's resistance to adversity (Viña, 2002). From the perceptions of the stress signals, to the gradual transfers and transductions, and then to the conduction of responses, plants have evolved a series of anti-adversity mechanisms (Chen and Zhu, 2004; Kim, 2007).

1.3 Drought stress

Water is the paramount environmental factor that impacts plants' growth, and it is also one of the most important limiting factors on crop yields (Bradford and Hsiao, 1982). In our study, we focus on the role of jasmonic acid in response to water deficiency. Thus, in the following, we will mainly introduce two kinds of stress: drought and osmotic stress. Drought has become the most critical ecological challenge faced by our current world, and is also the crucial factor limiting the sustainable development of agriculture (Allen et al., 2010). The types of plant response to drought stresses mainly include the drought-avoidance type and the drought-tolerant type (Mart nez-Ferri et al., 2000). The drought-avoidance type means that, when under a drought stress condition, plants can maintain a high-water potential by extending and expanding root systems, avoiding tissue injuries by increasing water absorption in the deeper soil layer, reducing evapotranspiration water consumption, and delaying tissue dehydration (Mart nez-Ferri et al., 2000). For example, some desert woody plants have developed root systems, deep burials and big root-crown ratios, and thus can sufficiently absorb and utilize moisture in deep soil. Some plants even possess characteristics of small leaf cells, thinner cellular walls, mechanical tissues of the thick walls, denser leaf veins, transduction tissues, and a high degree of keratinizing of thicker waxy layers (Lee et al., 2007). The drought-tolerant type means that plants elevate their tolerance to droughts through a series of physiological reactions, the main models of which include: low osmotic potential prior to water stress, and the conducting of osmotic regulations and turgor pressure maintenance during stress periods (Gaxiola et al., 2001).

Beginning in the last century, people have noted the adverse influences of water deficiency on plants' photosynthesis. They also discovered that, during the process of drought stress, plants' physiological changes, especially photosynthesis, are one of the most representative indicators (Cornic, 2000; Flexas et al., 2004; Reddy et al., 2004; Chaves et al., 2009). Stomatal closure was thought to be the most important factor

limiting photosynthesis during drought stress, as it can decrease CO_2 deficiency (Cornic, 2000; García-Mata and Lamattina, 2001; Chaves et al., 2009). Under different water deficit conditions, there are two different types of limitations: stomatal limitation and non-stomatal limitation (Ni and Pallardy, 1992; Escalona et al., 2000). When exposed to a slight water deficit condition, photosynthesis decline is caused by stomatal closure; when the water deficit is more severe, photosynthesis declines could be attributed to other factors (e.g., non-stomatal limitation) (Escalona et al., 2000).

1.3.1 Responses of Morphology and Anatomical Features to Drought Stresses

Under water deficit conditions, plants mainly focus on retaining more water and enhancing water-use efficiency for adaptation (Loveys et al., 2004). During the process of leaf development, when suffering from water stress, the enlargement of cells is firstly inhibited, thus causing the leaf area to be smaller than that under normal water conditions (Marron et al., 2003), and transpiration and water dissipation are subsequently reduced (Miyashita et al., 2005). Therefore, the reduction of the leaf area is a type of plant strategy for adaptation to drought stress (Anyia and Herzog, 2004). Meanwhile, water stress elevates the rates of leaf senescence and death, thus reducing water dissipation (Munn & Bosch and Alegre, 2004). Leaf wilting and curling are also effective ways to reduce water dissipation (Wang et al., 2012). Turner (1986) studied the relationship between leaves' structures and water utility rates under drought conditions through the leaves' anatomical structures, and proved that the smaller the mesophyll cells under the unit leaf area, the higher the water-use efficiency. In addition, under drought stresses, the leaf epidermis will be thickened, which can elevate the plants' slight reflective power, weaken transpiration, elevate plants' drought resistance, and reduce mechanical damage during wilting (Schulze, 1986).

1.3.2 Responses of Root Morphology to Drought Stresses

The plants' root system is the main organ for direct absorption of water, and it plays an indispensable role in plants' drought tolerance (Passioura, 1981). Under a drought

4

condition, the changes of the roots should be beneficial to the absorption of as much moisture in the soil as possible (Chen et al., 2011). The plant root system adapts to the stress of drought via various means, such as extensions in horizontal or vertical directions, growth of root lengths and density, the development of fine roots with stronger absorption functions, and elevation of the root-shoot ratio (Pace et al., 1999). During the process of experiencing drought, the reductions of root water potential and turgor pressure will always result in shrinkage of cortical cells and increases of the root lengths and root-shoot ratios (Huang and Fry, 1998). When plants are under drought stress, adaptive changes will occur in the xylem, so as to elevate the moisture's flowability between the roots and the leaves (Alvarez et al., 2008).

1.3.3 Physiological and Biochemical Adaptations to Drought Stress in Plants

In order to cope with drought stress, plants will generate a series of physiological and biochemical changes, in order to make resistance reactions, including stomatal regulations, PH regulations, osmotic adjustments, and scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Chaves and Oliveira, 2004). When plants encounter drought stress, they will instinctively adjust their metabolic activities, elevate the concentration of intracellular solute and reduce osmotic potential, thus decreasing water potential, maintaining the ability of continued water absorption from external soil with lower water potential and maintaining turgor pressure, thus enabling metabolic activities to be maintained at a relatively more normal state and level (Singh et al., 1972; Irigoyen et al., 1992; Reddy et al., 2004). The accumulation of intracellular solute will lead to the decline of osmotic potential (Sakthivelu et al., 2008). These solute substances are known as osmotic adjustment substances and can be approximately categorized into two major kinds: (1) organic substances, such as dissociation proline, sugar, protein, and endogene hormone (Mohammadkhani and Heidari, 2008; Sperdouli and Moustakas, 2012); and (2) inorganic ions, such as Na⁺, K⁺, etc. (Ghoulam et al., 2002; Patakas et al., 2002). By accumulating these small-molecule osmotic regulation substances, plants elevate osmotic pressure inside their bodies, so as to maintain intracellular turgor pressure and water potential, prevent dehydration, and maintain cells' normal physiological functions (Hoekstra et al., 2001; Ramanjulu and Bartels, 2002). Drought stress interferes with the plants' antioxidant enzyme system, causing an increase of oxygen free radicals within the plants and the function of membrane lipid peroxidation, thus resulting in injuries of the membrane system (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008; Noctor et al., 2014). There exist some antioxidants within the plants, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD) and peroxidase (POD), and these antioxidants feature the function of eliminating superoxide radicals, thus reducing the harms of oxidants on the membrane system and protecting the plant bodies (Chaves et al., 2003). Meanwhile, in the case of drought stress, abscisic acid (ABA) content within the plants is increased (Zhang et al., 2006). ABA can obviously reduce leaves' moisture evaporation, decrease membrane permeability of the leaf cells, increase the soluble protein content of the leaf cells, induce the formation of the protective enzymes of the biomembrane system, reduce the peroxidation degree of the membrane lipid, protect the integrity of the membrane structure, increase the plants' antioxidant capacity under adversity stress, and further elevate the plants drought resistance (Boyer, 2009; Parent et al., 2009; Pinheiro and Chaves, 2010).

1.3.4 Genetic Regulations of Plant Adaptations under Drought Stress

Seki et al. (2002) studied the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* using microarrays, and the results indicated the following: when water stress occurs within the plant's cells, the expressions of many genes are activated or inhibited, and these genes may participate in at least four function groups: signal transduction, transcription regulation, cellular metabolism and transport, and the protection of the cell structures. Under drought stress, the analysis of the microarrays of the rice genome indicated that, among the 30 expressed sequence tags (ESTs) in rice, 30% of the genes were obviously up-regulated, while 18% were down-regulated (Galli et al., 1994).

According to the effects of products of stress-inducible genes, they can be divided into two kinds (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 1997; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2000). The coding products of the first kind of genes play a

6

direct role: 1) functional proteins preventing the cells from moving away from damages of water stress, such as LEA protein, osmotic protein, antifreeze protein, aquaporin, ion channel protein, chaperonin, mRNA binding protein, etc. (Ingram and Bartels, 1996; Ohno et al., 2003; Mazel et al., 2004); and 2) osmotic factors, such as proline, betaine, and synthesis of certain sugars (Quan et al., 2004). Under stress, aquaporin, sugar transporters, and proline transporter proteins transform moisture, sugar, and proline by plasma membrane and vacuole, in order to adjust osmotic pressure inside and outside of the cell (Sakamoto and Murata, 1998; Abebe et al., 2003; Baud et al., 2004). Moreover, toxic degradation enzyme, such as glutathione S transferase, soluble epoxide hydrolase, superoxide dismutase, catalase, and ascorbate peroxidase, can prevent cells from reactive oxygen damage (Kovtun et al., 2000). So far, the specific functions of this kind of gene products have received wide attention and been studied thoroughly, including using LEA protein gene (Ohno et al., 2003), proline synthase gene (Zhu et al., 1998), betaine synthetase gene (Sakamoto and Murata, 1998), etc., which obtained some transgenic plants with drought and salt resistance.

The coding products of the second kind of genes participate in controlling expressions of genes downstream and signal transduction, including: 1) protein kinase inducing and transforming stress signals, such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) that activates mitogen, and calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPK), which depends on calcium, receptor protein kinases, ribosomal-protein kinase, transcription-regulation protein kinase, etc. (Torii, 2000; Becraft, 2002; Di évart and Clark, 2003; Haffani et al., 2004; Yoshida and Parniske, 2005); 2) transcription factors that transduct signals and control gene expressions, such as bZIP transcription factors (transcription factor family with leucine zipper), MYC transcription factors (helical transcription factor family with basic helical strings), MYB transcription factors (transcription factor family with tryptophan strings), AP2/ERF transcription factors, etc. (Chen et al., 2002; Tang et al., 2005); and 3) proteases that play an important role in signal transcription, such as acid phosphatase and phosphatase C (Luan, 2002;

7

Mayrose et al., 2004).

Under water deficiency stress, two major regulation routes exist: the ABA-independent pathway and the ABA-dependent pathway (Yang et al., 2011). The ABA-independent pathway is mainly regulated by the transcription factor family containing APETALA1 DNA structure domains and dehydration response element binding (DREB) (Barrero et al., 2006). In contrast, NAC, AREB/ABF, and MYB transcription factors mainly participate in the ABA-dependent signal transduction pathway (Fujita et al., 2004).

(1) ABA-dependent Pathway

ABA-responsive gene expression is regulated by transcription factors (TFs) which bind to cis-elements in the promoter regions upstream of their target genes (Shinozaki et al., 2003). Most ABA-regulated genes contain ABA-responsive elements (ABREs; PyACGTGG/TC) as the determinant cis-elements in their promoters (Busk and Pag ès, 1998; Hattori et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2005; Gómez-Porras et al., 2007). In the ABA-dependent pathway, bZIP-type ABFs/AREBs (ABRE-binding or responsive factors) (Choi et al., 2000; Yoshida et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2013), AP2/ERF (Mizoi et al., 2012), MYB, MYC, NAC, and bHLH were identified as positive regulators (Abe et al., 2003; Ding et al., 2014; Nakashima et al., 2007). As an ABA-independent regulator, DREB2 protein, a member of the AP2/ERF family (Sakuma et al., 2006; Yoshida et al., 2014), is able to activate the expression of target genes encoding proteins involved in osmoprotection and metabolism (Abe et al., 2003; Ding et al., 2007). In addition, SNAC1-regulated protein phosphatase gene OsPP18 also mediates osmotic and oxidative stress response through the ABA-independent pathway (You et al., 2014; You et al., 2012).

Through regulating the activity of the protein kinases bZIP (basic region-leucine zipper) TFs, and target gene promoters with contents of ABRE cis-acting elements,

regulation of expressions of the ABA-dependent downstream genes is achieved (Choi et al., 2000; Seki et al., 2007). For instance, drought can induce expressions of transcription factors, such as bZIP, MYB, and MYV, augmenting the combination with downstream recognition sites, and induce expressions of target genes (Wada and Shinozaki, 1997; Abe et al., 2003). In the ABA's endogenous deficient mutant *los5*, the expressions of drought response genes, such as P5CS, COR15A, RD29A, and RD22, are inhibited greatly (Xiong et al., 2001). Extant literature also reported that activation of ABA-dependent signals necessitates ABFs/AREBs transcription factors, and such two cis-acting elements of DRE and ABRF-like are critical during the regulation process of the induction and expression of the RD29A gene (Narusaka et al., 2003). In rice, the ABI5-like1 (ABL1) protein is a bZIP family transcription factor, and expression of ABI1 can be induced by abiotic adversity conditions, including ABA, drought, and high salinity. Moreover, ABI1 can combine directly with ABA response elements G-box and ABREs, and mutant *abi1* exhibits a phenotype that is insensitive to ABA (Fig. 1.1) (Yang et al., 2011).



Figure 1.1. Model of ABA-mediated transcriptional regulation in response to osmotic stress. PYR/PYL/RCAR ABA receptor-PP2C complexes regulate SnRK2-AREB/ABF pathways to control major ABA-mediated ABRE-dependent gene expression. TFs control ABA-mediated gene expression through interacting with cis-elements in promoter regions upstream of the target genes as a reaction to water stress during vegetative growth in *Arabidopsis*. Broken lines indicate conceivable, but not definitive, routes. TF, transcription factor; PP2C, protein phosphatase 2C (Fujita et al. 2011).

(2) ABA-independent Pathway

The expression of ABA-independent pathway induction genes during drought stress is mainly regulated through the cis-acting elements of drought response element (DRE); under a drought condition, AP2-like transcription factors DREB2B and DREB2A regulate drought response genes, which contain DRE cis-acting elements (Sakuma et al., 200). DREB1/CBF4 can be induced by drought and ABA. The excessive expression of CBF4 gene in Arabidopsis thaliana can induce rapid up-regulation expressions of the stress response genes with contents of CRT/DRE elements, thus augmenting the resistance of transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana to drought and low temperature (Haake et al., 2002). Current research indicates that there are actually no strict boundaries in the ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways, and these two pathways have numerous crossings in the processes of signal transduction (Wathugala et al., 2011). Previous study has revealed that the domains of these gene protein promoters mostly contain DRE cis-acting elements, and induce the expressions of DREB1/CBF under low temperatures (Narusaka et al., 2003). In the endogenous ABA-deficient mutant, DREB1/CBF is still subject to the strong induction of low temperature stress (Narusaka et al., 2003). Under the inductions of temperatures and drought, DREB2A exhibits an ABA-independent expression model (Fig. 1.2). The excessive expressions of the DREB1 and DREB2 genes in Arabidopsis thaliana, and rice enable the plants to exhibit resistance to low temperatures and drought (Dubouzet et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2008).

10



Figure 1.2. Transcriptional regulatory networks of abiotic stress signals and gene expression. A minimum of six signal transduction pathways exist in high salinity, drought, and cold-stress responses. Three are ABA-independent, and three are ABA-dependent. In the ABA-dependent pathway, ABRE serves as an ABA-responsive element. AREB/ABFs are AP2 transcription factors that participate in this process. MYC2 and MYB2 function in ABA-inducible gene expression of the RD22 gene. MYC2 also participates in JA-inducible gene expression. The RD26 NAC transcription factor is involved in JA- and ABA-responsive gene expression in stress response. These NAC and MYC2 transcription factors may function in cross-talk during abiotic-stress and wound-stress responses. In one of the ABA-independent pathways, DRE is mainly involved in the regulation of genes, not only by salt and drought, but also through cold stress. DREB1/CBFs participate in cold-responsive gene expression. DREB2s are essential transcription factors in dehydration and high salinity stress-responsive gene expression. Another ABA-independent pathway is controlled by drought and salt, but not by cold. The HD-ZIP and NAC transcription factors participate in ERD1 gene expression (Shinozaki et al 2007).

1.4 Osmatic Stress

Osmotic stress has been conceived as mere water scarcity; in fact, however, it

represents a complex syndrome comprising at least three components that can occur individually or in different combinations: ionic stress (salinity), water scarcity stress (drought), and nutrient-depletion stress (alkalinity) (Riemann et al. 2015). In nature, osmotic stress always appears independently, and the closest stress is drought stress. However, drought stress is more than osmotic stress. For example, when the soil lacks water, it will become harder and the soil temperature will be higher. Therefore, although osmotic stress is similar to drought stress, osmotic stress should not be equated with drought stress.

1.4.1 How Do Plants Respond to Osmotic Stress

Plants have evolved a complete sensory perceptual system to cope with osmotic stress, and reduce the harms of osmotic stress to the lowest level by different measures (Verma et al., 2016). In early osmotic stress, it mainly comprises activation of the Ca^{2+} signal channel and the production of secondary signal molecules (Denis and Cyert, 2002; Lee et al., 2004). These secondary signal molecules include inositol phosphate, reactive oxygen species (ROS), activation of kinase cascades, etc. (Verma et al., 2016). Osmotic stress can limit the growing rate of plants, which constitutes the main factor leading to yield reduction for crops (Rangel et al., 2008; Rahnama et al., 2010).

When plants suffer from osmotic stress, the main way of losing moisture is through gas exchanges by stomas on the blade surface (Sarwat and Tuteja, 2017). The opening and closing of stomas are controlled by outside environmental factors, such as CO₂ level, illumination, and biotic and abiotic stresses (Araújo et al., 2011). In fact, the opening and closing of stomas are mainly regulated by changes of guard cells' turgor pressure (Luan, 2002). Moreover, the opening and closing of stomas influence plant photosynthesis and transpiration, thus adjusting moisture in plants (Hetherington and Woodward, 2003). While stomata adjustment is one of the mechanisms of plant defense against osmotic stress (Rahnama et al., 2010), under osmotic stress, most

stomas on the lower epidermis of plant leaves deform and sink under nearby epidermal cells (Skirycz et al., 2011). CO_2 and H_2O to be stuck in leaves may provide some benefits. When the outside environment changes, CO_2 that was stuck in folds could make the concentration of CO_2 around stomas increase and provide sufficient resources for photosynthesis, and could also prevent moisture inside of cells from dissipating (Lawson et al., 2003).

1.4.2 Adjustments of Osmotic Balance by Soluble Substances

When subject to osmotic stress threat (caused by drought, salinity, etc.), plants maintain osmotic pressure by the synthesis of a variety of osmotic adjustment substances (Burg et al., 1996). These substances are mainly some non-toxic molecules, such as amino acids, glycine betaine, soluble sugars and alcohols, and some poly compounds (Bartels and Sunkar, 2005). When plants are subject to drought (Choudhary et al., 2005) and/or high salinity (Yoshiba et al., 1995), the contents of proline will be obviously accumulated. The proline in plants is mainly obtained by glutamate from the three-step reaction from glutamate-semialdehyde (GSA), pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS), and P5C reductase (P5CR) (Szabados and Savoure, 2010). The metabolic enzyme of proline includes proline dehydrogenase/ early response to dehydration (PDH1/ERD5), PDH2, P5C dehydrogenase (P5CDH), and ornithine-delta-aminotransferase (OAT) (Szabados and Savoure, 2010). In most plants, P5SC has two genes, while P5CR only has one gene (Verbruggen et al., 1993; Strizhov et al., 1997). In Arabidopsis thaliana, the expression modes of the two P5CS genes differ. P5CS2 is a constitutive expression (Verbruggen et al., 1993; Strizhov et al., 1997); whereas, the expression of P5CS1 is induced by osmotic stress, and it is induced by oxidative stress mediated by ABA-insensitive 1 (ABI1) (Yoshiba et al., 1995; Strizhov et al., 1997). Proline can not only serve as a kind of raw material for protein synthesis, but it can also regulate expressions of genes related to proline metabolism (Satoh et al., 200). In addition, it can eliminate single oxygen and maintain **ROS**-eliminating enzymes, such peroxide enzyme and as

glutathion-S-transferase (Sz & kely et al., 2008; Islam et al., 2009). In addition, it can also maintain the electronic balance of electronic transmission chains (Chaves et al., 2009). Proline can elevate the plants tolerance to osmotic stress, such as some halophilic plants, including *Thellungiella halophila* and *Lepidium crassifolium* (Murakeözy et al., 2003; Taji et al., 2004). However, some plants, such as *Camphorosma annua* and *Limonium spp*, resist osmotic stress not by relying on proline, but on sugar-like osmotic substances (Taji et al., 2004; Gagneul et al., 2007).

When different plants are under stress condition (including, but not limited to, osmotic stress), many non-constitutive carbohydrates, such as glucose, sucrose, trehalose, and some sugar alcohols will accumulate, and these sugars provide the plant cells with 50% of the osmotic pressure (Ashraf and Harris, 2004). These sugars may, as osmotic adjustment substances, protect the activity of some macromolecules and the structures of the cell membranes (Mansour, 2000; Ashraf and Harris, 2004; Manchanda and Garg 2008). Trehalos can be synthesized in insects and many lower plants; however, in higher plants, besides some resurrection plants, the content of trehalose is very low (Yang et al., 2010). The trehalose-6-phosphate synthesize (TPS) and trehalose-6- phosphate phosphatase (TPP), which represent the trehalose synthetic genes in rice, can augment trehalose content and elevate tolerance to osmotic stress (Jang et al., 2003).

Formed in photosynthesis, mannitol is a substance which has the features of the functions of osmotic adjustments (Loescher et al., 1992). Some research has indicated that mannitol can protect Thioredoxin, Ferredoxin, and Glutathione (Mikołajczyk et al., 2000). Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (M1PDH) genes, which are expressed in tobacco and rice, enhance tolerance to osmotic stress in plants (Tarczynski et al., 1993; Abebe et al., 2003). In *Coffea Arabica*, there are three key enzymes: Mannose-6-phosphate reductase (Ca M6PR), Phosphomannose-isomerase enzyme (Ca PMI), and Mannitoldehydrogenase (Ca MTD), which control the synthesis of mannitol (Carvalho et al., 2014). These three genes can respond to 14

drought, high salinity, and high temperatures (Carvalho et al., 2014).

1.5 Jasmonate Signaling System in Plant Defense System

Plant hormones are active substances that are generated by plant cells after they receive inductions of the specific environmental signals, and can regulate the plants' physiological responses at low concentrations (Bari and Jones, 2009). Plant hormones participate in the regulation of various aspects and stages of plant growth, including the determination of the stem cell niche during the process of embryo development, organ development and growth during the process of postembryonic development, seedling germination, and fruit ripening (Wolters and Jürgens, 2009; Santner et al., 2009). Until now, 10 kinds of hormones or analogues have been reported, which are, respectively: auxin, gibberellin (GA), cytokinin, brassinolide (BR), abscisic acid (ABA), ethylene, jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA), nitric oxide (NO), and strigolactone (Santner and Estelle, 2009). In recent years, an in-depth understanding has been obtained of the processes of synthesis, decomposition, transportation, and signal transductions of most plant hormones (Leveau and Lindow, 2005). In the following, we will briefly introduce jasmonic acid, which is one of the most critical defense hormones.

1.5.1 History of Jasmonate

As a kind of new plant endogenous hormone, jasmonic acid (JA) broadly exists in organisms (Rao et al., 2000). JA, along with a series of compounds with similar biological activities as the volatile methyjasmonic acid (MeJA) and amino acid derivatives, are known as jasmonates (JAs). Free JA was first separated from the culture liquid of *Lasiodiplodia thebromae* in 1971 as a kind of plant growth inhibitor (Aldridge et al., 1971). MeJA was first refined from the essential oil of *Jasminum grandiflorum* L. (Demole et al., 1962), and it is the main aromatic substance of flowers. Therefore, as an essential composition of perfumes, it is used in quantity in the production of perfumes (Pichersky and Gershenzon, 2002). Usually, there are high 15

contents of JA in the top of stems, leaves, immature fruit, and root tips (Hause et al., 2002). In addition, its contents in reproductive organs, especially fruits, are higher than those in such nutritional organs, such as leaves, stems, and buds (Creelman and Mullet, 1995).

1.5.2 JA Biosynthesis

Oxylipins constitute a large family of oxygenated fatty acids. Biotic and abiotic stresses activate lipases that release unsaturated fatty acids, inducing oxylipins biosynthesis. One of the most commonly known oxylipins is jasmonic acid. A reaction catalyzed by lipoxygenase (LOX) enzymes participates in the formation of fatty acid hydroperoxides, which is a critical step in oxylipin biosynthesis. In Arabidopsis, six LOX genes have been identified, four of which encode 13-LOX enzymes. 13-LOX enzymes catalyze the initial step in the biosynthesis of jasmonic acid (Bertoni 2012). Linolenic acid is mostly present in the form of esterified glycerolipid, and not in the form of free fatty acid. Jasmonic acid is biosynthesized from α-linolenic acid (a-LeA/18:3) in the octadecanoid pathway (Wasternack, 2007; Wasternack and Hause, 2013; Huang et al., 2017). a-LeA is synthesized from dienoic fatty acid by the coordinated actions of FATTY ACID DESATURASE (FAD) and PHOSPHOLIPASE A1 (PLA) in plastids. Then, α -LeA is oxygenated by a 13- lipoxygenase (13-LOX) to a 13-hydroperoxyoctadecatrienoic acid (13-HPOT). 13-HPOT is sequentially converted to 12,13(S)-epoxyoctadecatrienoic acid (12,13-EOT), and the naturally occurring enantiomer (9S,13S)-12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (OPDA) by the catalysis of ALLENE OXIDE SYNTHASE (AOS) (Park et al., 2002; von Malek et al., 2002) and ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE (AOC) (Ziegler et al., 2000), respectively. OPDA is further transported to peroxisomes via transporter COMATOSE (CTS1) (Theodoulou al., 2005; Sharma and Laxmi, 2016), and subsequently reduced to et 3-oxo-2-(cis-2'-pentenyl)-cyclopentane-1-octanoic acid (OPC-8:0) in a reaction catalyzed by OPDA REDUCTASE (OPR). OPC-8 is then activated to OPC-8 CoA by ACYL-COENZYME A SYNTHETASES (Huang et al., 2017). The carboxylic acid side chains of CoA esters are then shortened to jasmonoyl-CoA by three rounds of 16

β-oxidation catalyzed by three enzymes: ACYL-CoA OXIDASE (ACX), multifunctional protein (MFP), and L-3-KETOACYL-CoA THIOLASE (KAT) (Schneider et al., 2005). Jasmonoyl-CoA is subsequently cleaved by THIOESTERASE (TE) to form cis-7-iso-jasmonicacid [(+)-7-iso-JA] (Sharma and Laxmi, 2016) (Fig. 1.3).

1.5.3 JA Metabolism

(1) JAR1

JA can conjugate to amino acids catalyzed by JASMONATE RESISTANT1 (JAR1), and this reaction may be critical in the metabolism of JA. JAR1 is a member of the GRETCHEN HAGEN3 (GH3) gene family, and this gene family is involved in auxin conjugation (Staswick and Tiryaki 2004). The role of JAR1 was determined to be significant upon identification of (+)- 7-iso -JA-Ile, as JAR1 is the most bioactive compound among more than 40 JA compounds (Fonseca et al. 2009). JAR1 is a jasmonoyl amino acid conjugate synthase, which creates an acyl-adenylate/thioester intermediate through the use of (+)-7-iso -JA as a substrate. Most structure-activity relationships, which have been studied for numbers of JA-dependent responses over the previous three decades (for review cf. Wasternack 2007), can be now be elucidated. JA-Ile and JA accumulate in a nearly 10:1 ratio in numerous high plants. (+)-7-iso-JA, which is the initial product of JA biosynthesis, has long been thought to epimerize to the more stable (-)-JA. Moreover, (-)-JA was considered to be the indicator of endogenous increase of JAs resulting from environmental stimuli. Levels of JA-Ile and JA, however, are normally recorded without individual enantiomorph detection.

(2) Methyl Jasmonate

JA can be metabolized to many derivatives, several of which are involved in the defense-signaling system in plants. Among them, methyl jasmonate (MeJA) plays a critical role in signaling systems (Wasternack 2007). MeJA functions as a volatile in the air in interplant communication, and constitutes a strong signal (Farmer and Ryan

17

1990). Jasmonic acid carboxyl methyltransferase (JMT) participates in the conversion from JA to MeJA (Seo et al. 2001). Enhanced pathogen resistance has been reported in *Arabidopsis*. Augmented stress resistance has also been found when overexpressing JMT, suggesting that MeJA plays a defense-signaling role (Seo et al. 2001). However, it has been shown that the biological activity of MeJA was apparent only when MeJA was converted to JA followed by its conjugation to JA-Ile (Stitz et al. 2011).

(3) Jasmonoyl-Isoleucine

The JA amino acid conjugate (+)-7-iso -JA-Ile (jasmonoyl-isoleucine, JA-Ile) is involved in defense signaling (Staswick et al. 1998; Staswick and Tiryaki 2004; Kang et al. 2006; Katsir et al. 2008; Gfeller et al. 2010 ; Kombrink 2012 ; Wasternack and Hause 2013). In the above, we introduced JAR1, and this enzyme might be involved in JA-Ile biosynthesis (Hause et al. 2000; M éndez-Bravo et al. 2011; Westfall et al. 2012). JA-Ile can be hydrolyzed to release JA and Ile (Kazan and Manners 2008). The ethylene precursor 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) conjugated to JA gas also been reported in plant tissue. An unidentified conjugating enzyme is suggested to participate in this process (Staswick and Tiryaki 2004). Synthesis of JA-ACC constitutes a regulatory mechanism for the availability of ACC and JA for conversion to active ethylene and JA-Ile, respectively (Staswick and Tiryaki 2004), indicating interconvertibility of the different forms of JA.

1.5.4 Jasmonate Receptor Complex in JA Signal Perception

The identification of COI1 (*CORONATINE INSENSITVE1*) was found in coronatine-insensitive mutants in *Arabidopsis*, and it is a key factor in jasmonate perception and signal transduction pathway. The *Arabidopsis* invalid mutant for COI1 (*coronatine insensitive 1*) is very insensitive to jasmonates (Feys et al. 1994; Xie et al. 1998). COI1 has been considered to play an essential role in JA signal recognition (Yan et al. 2009). Moreover, it was demonstrated to be a receptor of jasmonates (Gfeller et al. 2010). The gene COI1 is requisite for almost all JA-mediated responses

(Devoto et al. 2005; Balbi and Devoto 2008). In addition, the *Arabidopsis* coi1 mutant exhibited defects in nearly all JA-dependent functions (Kazan and Manners 2008). The COI1 encodes an F-box protein which is part of an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, which is involved in ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation (Balbi and Devoto 2008; Wager and Browse 2012). COI1 protein associates with RBX1 (*RING-BOX* PROTEIN1), CUL1 (*CUL*LIN1), and Skp1-like proteins ASK1 (ARABIDOPSIS S-PHASE KINASE-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 1) and ASK2 to form SCF^{COI1} (SKP1, F-box COI1, CDC53p/CUL1) ubiquitin ligase complex in *A. thaliana* (Devoto et al.

2002; Xu et al. 2002; Pauwels and Goossens 2011; Zhang et al. 2012c).

1.5.5 JA Signaling Pathway

JA receptor JAZ proteins have been determined as an inhibitory factor of jasmonate signaling (Chini et al. 2007; Thines et al. 2007). JAZ proteins inhibit JA-responsive gene expression (Chini et al. 2007; Howe 2010; Wasternack and Hause 2013). Moreover, the transcriptional repressor, JAZ, has been reported as an essential component in the receptor complex participating in JA signal (Sheard et al. 2010). Twelve (12) JAZ proteins have been found in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Chung and Howe 2009; Pauwels and Goossens 2011; Wager and Browse 2012).

The *COI1* gene is required for JA-mediated defense response against pathogens (Xie et al. 1998). SCF^{COI1} is the key regulator in the JA signaling pathway for ubiquitination, and subsequently it will be degraded by 26S proteasome (Kawamura et al. 2009). The ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated proteolysis is involved in the jasmonate signaling system (Xu et al. 2002; Feng et al. 2003) (Fig. 1.3).


Figure 1.3. An illustration of jasmonate (JA) signaling and biosynthesis. JA-Ile, which is biosynthesized by JA biosynthetic enzymes in plastids, the cytoplasm, and peroxisomes, can be inactivated by CYP94B3. JA-Ile causes the interaction of CORONATINE INSENSITIVE1 (COI1) with JA ZIM-domain (JAZ) family proteins, leading to the degradation and ubiquitination of JAZ proteins through the 26S proteasome. Consequently, downstream transcription factors (TFs) are de-repressed, enabling their activation of JA-responsive early genes and JA responses. ACX, acyl-CoA oxidase; AOC, allene oxide cyclase; AOS, allene oxide synthase; 12,13-EOT, 12,13(S)-epoxyoctadecatrienoic acid; FAD, fatty acid desaturase; 13-HPOT, 13-hydroperoxyoctadecatrienoic acid; JA-Ile, jasmonoyl-L-isoleucine; 12OH-JA-Ile, 12-hydroxy-JA-Ile; JAR1, JASMONATERESISTANT 1/jasmonate-amido synthetase; KAT, 3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase; LOX, 13-lipoxygenase; MFP, multifunctional protein; PLA, phospholipaseA1; OPC-8:0, 3-oxo-2(cis-2'-pentenyl)-cyclopentane-1-octanoic acid; OPCL, OPC-8:0 CoA ligase; OPDA, (9S,13S)-12-oxo-phytodienoic acid; OPR, OPDA reductase (Huang et al., 2017).

1.5.6 Function of Jasmonate

JA can help plants' defense against such biological stresses as pests (Chehab et al., 2012), fungi (Lee et al., 2001) and plant viruses (Shang et al., 2011), and abiotic stresses, including high temperature (Lin-Wang et al., 2011), low temperature (Kondo et al., 2005), high salinity (Yoon et al., 2009), and high illumination (Wierstra and Kloppstech, 2000). In addition, JA also plays an important role in the process of plants' normal growth and development, such as a series of physiological activities, including embryo differentiation (Ruduś et al., 2006), stomatal movements (Suhita et al., 2004), pigment synthesis (Rudell and Mattheis, 2008), seed germination (Linkies and Leubner-Metzger, 2012), growth of shoots and roots (Kang et al., 2005), seedling growth (Heijari et al., 2005), pollen development of trichome (Traw and Bergelson, 2003), vine curing (Larronde et al., 2003), and senescence process (Tamogami and Kodama, 2000) (Fig. 1.5).

Among such functions of jasmonic acid, the most noticeable are its capabilities in the defense against diseases and pests (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011). Under the adversity of pests, plants activate expressions of defense genes inside of the bodies through JA signals and induce the plant to generate various kinds defense chemicals, such as alkaloids, polyphenol oxidase (ppo) and protease inhibitor, in order to elevate the plant's defense abilities to damage caused by pests (Turner et al., 2002). Therefore, jasmonic acid is also considered to be a defense hormone that has resistance to pests and diseases (Farmer and Ryan, 1992; Kramell et al., 1995). JA can not only regulate bacterial infections of plants resulting in the expressions of many adversity genes (Zhao et al., 2003), but it can also engage in crosstalk with other plant hormone signals, for instance, jasmonic acid signal pathways in the processes of plant adversity response and development interact with ethylene signal pathways (Lorenzo et al., 2003; Charlton et al., 2005). As indicated by microarray analysis, the 41 JA response genes also participate in the signal pathways of ethylene, auxin and salicylic acid,

which suggests that the JA signal pathways and other hormone signal pathways have some crosstalk (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011).

development biotic and abiotic stress pollen development ovule pathogens development glandular trichome formation herbivory leaf senescence 30 20 10 seed germination desiccation / osmotic stress root elongation salt stress pathogens tuber fungi formation root growth mycorrhiza

Figure 1.5. Illustration of jasmonates in plant development (*right*) and plant responses to biotic and abiotic stress (*left*). Stress responses are determined by a hypersensitive response upon pathogen attack, by arbuscular mycorrhiza, and by herbivory on *Arabidopsis*. The function of jasmonates in development is indicated by a cross-section of anthers of *Arabidopsis* revealing the release of pollen, through immunocytochemical detection of allene oxide cyclase in a cross-section of tomato ovules, by seedling growth and root elongation of a tomato seedling showing allene oxide cyclase promoter activity via GUS staining, by senescing barley leaf

segments upon treatment with jasmonate, through root growth revealing immunocytochemical detection of the allene oxide cyclase protein in the root tip, and by trichomes. In addition, jasmonates are also involved in adventitious root formation, lateral root formation, attack by nematodes, light signaling, freezing tolerance, and growth inhibition (Wasternack 2014).

1.6 Rice

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is one of the major staple food crops globally. It plays a vital role in economics and food security, and provides food for more than half of the world's population, especially in Asia (Dorosh, 2001). The latest research has indicated that the world's population will continue to grow. By 2050, it is predicted to reach 9 billion (Godfray et al., 2010) and, at that time, our world will need to have a 70%-100% increase in grain to meet the demands of this population increase (Baulcombe et al., 2009). Over the past half a century, the grain output has more than doubled, with the ratio of the global starving population substantially decreasing (Shomura et al., 2008). Nevertheless, since the world population has nearly tripled, in 2009, the world's undernourished population surpassed 1 billion for the first time (Godfray et al., 2010).

As the world's main grain crop, rice, accounts for 1/3 of the farming areas of grain crops (Fageria et al., 2010), contributing 40% of overall calories for human beings (Cheng et al., 2007). Indeed, approximately 50% of the population relies on rice as its staple food (Meharg et al., 2009). From 1960 to 1989, the world's total rice output has been increasing at an annual rate of 3.3%; after 2000, it has been increasing at an annual rate of 0.8% (Peng et al., 2000). The annual growth rate of total rice yield has obviously declined, failing to meet the demands of population growth (Kushibuchi, 1997; Normile, 2008). Many scholars, based on the demands of the world's population for grain, estimated that only when the annual growth rate of global rice total yield is at 1.2% (during 2001-2030) will the constantly increasing demands of the population be satisfied (Yuan, 2004; Van Nguyen and Ferrero, 2006).

1.7 Scope of this study

In rice, jasmonates can mediate many developmental processes and stress responses (Syatyna and Riemann, 2012; Liu et al., 2015; Dhakarey et al., 2016). Our previous investigation showed that in OPDA- and JA-deficient rice *allene oxide cyclase (aoc)* mutants, salt stress tolerance was increased (Hazman et al., 2015). Kurotani et al. (2015) also demonstrated a similar phenotype in plants overexpressing a jasmonate-inactivating enzyme. Similarly, the AOC mutant coleoptile photomorphogenesis 2 (cpm2) exhibited more tolerance for drought stress (Dhakarey et al., 2017). It has been shown that lack of jasmonate leads to differential accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS; Hazman et al., 2015; Dhakarey et al., 2017) and altered cell wall architecture (Dhakarey et al., 2017). Does this mean that jasmonate deficiency causes higher abiotic stress tolerance?

As salt stress is composed of multiple factors (e.g., ionic, osmotic stress), and drought is often accompanied by other stresses (e.g., hard soil, heat), it is worth determining how rice plants would respond to a single stress factor, such as osmotic stress. We therefore employed the AOC mutant *cpm2* (Riemann et al., 2013) to study polyethylene glycol (PEG) 6000 induced osmotic stress in rice. These insights can assist us to know more about the function of JA in defense against osmotic stress. It may also help us to improve drought tolerance of rice cultivars which are otherwise osmotic-sensitive in humid climates.

Central questions are:

1. What are the functions of JAs in the response to osmotic stress?

In our laboratory, *Oryza sativa* L. ssp. japonica cv. Nihonmasari (WT) and jasmonate-deficient genotype *cpm2* were employed. Different concentrations of PEG 6000 were applied to induce osmotic stress on these two types of rice. It was found that normal rice showed more tolerance to osmotic stress. When exposed to strong osmotic stress (25% PEG), WT retains more water in rice leaves and exhibits a

relative healthy condition compared to *cpm2*. Under a low osmotic stress condition (5%-20% PEG), *cpm2* showed more mass and length loss compared with rice under a normal condition. This means that, when treated with PEG, the growth rate in *cpm2* decreased more compared with WT. All of the experiments showed that osmotic stress has more of a negative impact on rice with low endogenous jasmonic acid. The result indicated that, as a stress defense hormone, JA contributes to defense in biotic and abiotic stress in most cases, and thus JA generally functions as a positive regulator of stress tolerance.

2. As a signal, how does JAs contribute to defense against osmotic stress? What are JAs' different roles in rice shoots and roots?

In many studies, JA was regarded as a stress defense hormone, which is a signal that can induce further physiological response to abiotic and biotic stress. In our present work, we artificially induced osmotic stress on WT and cpm2, and then measured the content of several jasmonic acid related hormones, as well as the expression of some JA-dependent genes in different time points and in rice shoots and roots. When treated with 25% PEG, jasmonates were strongly and rapidly accumulated in rice shoots and roots. However, jasmonate accumulation in roots preceded that in shoots. Moreover, this increase in roots was transient, while jasmonates accumulated in shoots over time. The result of gene expression in rice roots was also slightly earlier than in shoots. In both rice shoots and roots, both hormone and gene expression appeared several hours after PEG treatment, which indicated that jasmonates constituted a short-time signal. We propose that, in roots, jasmonates are utilized in order to induce certain morphological and molecular changes towards adaption and more efficient water usage. On the other hand, in the shoots, jasmonates probably help the plant to adapt to harsh environments, as they are constantly increasing, which correlates with the phenotype of larger tolerance to osmotic stress.

Taken together, regulation of hormonal content and expression of related genes correlated well. It is found that roots probably use jasmonate signals for immediate adaption, while shoots utilize hormone for sustained signalling during continuous

25

stress, culminating in a hyper-accumulation as an indication of damage under prolonged severe stress conditions.

3. How does JAs contribute to defense against osmotic stress through morphological and physiological changes? What is the possible mechanism for JA to contribute to defense against osmotic stress?

As previously discussed, JAs generally function as a positive regulator of osmotic stress tolerance. It is also known that jasmonates probably assist the plant to adapt to harsh environments as a short-time signal. However, how does this signal work in subsequent steps and what is the potential mechanism of the stress defense? To answer this, we measured some physiological indicators after PEG treatment in our later experiment. In the result, we found that cpm2 accumulated less ABA in the shoot and, as a consequence, the decrease of stomatal conductance in *cpm2* was less than in WT. So, one of the functions of JA in defense against osmotic stress is to regulate stomatal conductance. The stomatal conductance might be directly regulated by JA itself and indirectly regulated by JA through accumulation of ABA. In addition, most measured amino acids accumulated less in *cpm2* compared with WT, and several amino acids related to secondary metabolite synthesis. Thus, JA may correlate with the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and help plants to adjust to osmotic pressure and better adapt to osmotic stress. Furthermore, JA promotes the growth of crown root, which further results in the increase of the surface area of roots, and could also be one mechanism for why JA augmented resistance to osmotic stress in rice, as the increased crown root is very likely to assist plants to absorb more water.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Plant materials, growth, and stress conditions

In this study, Oryza sativa L. ssp. japonica cv. Nihonmasari was used as a WT, and the AOC mutant cpm2 (Riemann et al., 2013) was employed as a jasmonate-deficient genotype. The rice seeds were dehusked and surface sterilized by incubation in 70% ethanol for 1 min followed by brief washes with double-distilled water. Ethanol incubation and washing were repeated three times. Subsequently, the seeds were incubated in a sodium hypochlorite solution containing ~5% of active chlorine for 20 min followed by three washing steps in sterilized double-distilled water. The seeds were sown on 0.4% phytoagar medium (Duchefa, The Netherlands), which contained 0.344 g/L murashige and skoog basal salt mixture (MS). The seeds were germinated in a culture room (at 25 °C, continuous light of 120 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) for 6-7 d, and then transferred to custom-made sterilized floating racks and moved to a glass container containing double-distilled water and 0.344 g/L MS for 1-2 d adaptation. Subsequently, half of the seedlings was transferred to a 25% solution of PEG 6000 to induce osmotic stress, and the other half was transferred to water as a control. Shoots and roots were harvested separately, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80 $\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ until use for phytohormone or gene expression analyses.

2.2 Analysis of morphology parameters

Samples used for morphology parameters were cultured in phytoagar medium for 7 d, then transferred to double-distilled water, and cultured for an additional day. Seedlings were treated with different concentrations of PEG 6000 (0, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%) for 3 d. Both shoot and root length were measured using a scale with precision of 1 mm. A balance with the precision of 0.0001 g was used for the measurement of shoot and root biomass.

2.3 Measurement of stomatal conductance (Gs)

Plants were cultured in 0.4% phytoagar medium which contains 0.344 g/L MS for 7 d, and subsequently cultured in 0.344 g/L MS solution for 21 d. Leaves of rice samples were used for the measurement of stomatal conductance using a leaf porometer (SC-1, Decagon Devices, Pullman, Washington, U.S.A.).

2.4 Measurement of relative water content (RWC) of shoots

Shoots of plants of all treatments were used for the determination of RWC. First, fresh mass (FM) was determined. The leaves were then placed in distilled water inside of a closed 50 ml Cellstar® polypropylene tube. After 12 h, samples were gently wiped with tissue paper to remove water from the leaf surface, and turgid mass (TM) was measured. In the last step, samples were placed in a drying oven at 70 $^{\circ}$ C for 72 h followed by determination of dry mass (DM). RWC was calculated according to the equation: (RWC,%)=[(FM - DM)/(TM - DM)] * 100. Five biological replicates were used for each treatment.

2.5 Endogenous levels of ABA, OPDA, JA, and JA-Ile

OPDA, JA, JA-Ile, and ABA were quantified simultaneously from approximately 50 mg of tissue using a standardized ultraperformance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS)-based method according to Balcke et al. (2012). $[^{2}H_{5}]OPDA$, $[^{2}H_{6}]JA$, $[^{2}H_{2}]JA$ -Ile, and $[_{2}H_{6}]ABA$ (50 ng each) were added as internal standards.

2.6 RNA extraction and quantitative real-time PCR

We used the InnuPrep plant RNA kit (Analytika Jena RNA kit) to isolate total RNA from the shoots of control and osmotic stressed plants (25% PEG 6000, 1 h and 3 h) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The Spectrum Plant Total RNA kit (Sigma-Aldrich RNA kit) was used to isolate total RNA from the roots of control and osmotic stressed plants (25% PEG 6000, 1 h and 3 h) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The mRNA was transcribed into cDNA using the M-MuLV cDNA 28

Synthesis Kit (New England Biolabs; Frankfurt am Main, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The RNase inhibitor (New England Biolabs; Frankfurt am Main, Germany) was used to protect the RNA from degradation. The amount of RNA template was 1 µg. cDNA synthesis was performed with a M-MuLV cDNA Synthesis Kit (New England Biolabs; Frankfurt am Main, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

Real-time PCR analysis was carried out in 20 μ L reaction tubes containing a final concentration of 200 nm of each primer, 1X GoTaq colourless buffer, 200 nm of each dNTP, 2.5 mm MgCl₂, 0.5 U GoTaq polymerase (Promega, Mannheim, Germany), 1x SYBR green I (Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany), and 1 μ L of a 1:10 cDNA dilution according to Svyatyna et al. (2014). The primer sequences for the genes of interest are listed in Table 1.

Gene	Accession no.	Forward (5'-3' prime)	Reverse (5'-3' prime)
name			
OsUBQ	AK061988	ACCACTTCGACCGCCACTACT	ACGCCTAAGCCTGCTGGTT
5			
OsJAZ	Os04g065300	CAGCAGGTTGGTGAGCAAAG	TCCATCCCTGATGCTTCCAT
1	0		
OsJAZ	Os09g040130	GAGTGCCAATGACAACAAGT	TGATTCGTCGCGGTTGCT
4	0	CATC	
OsJAZ	Os03g018090	CAGCCTTGCCTACCAGACATG	GACGATCCTGTTCTTCCTCT
11	0		TCTC
OsAOS	OS03G07669	GCCCGGTCATCTTATTTTCC	TGCAACTCCGTATCCGTACA
1	00		
OsAOS	OS03G02259	GGAGGAAGCTGCTGCAATAC	GGAGGTTGAAGCTTTGGTG
2	00		А

Table 1. Sequences of forward and reverse primers for the genes of interest and the housekeeping gene used for normalization.

OsAOC	OS03G04381	TGCCTCAACAACTTCACCAA	CACATGCCGCAATTAACACT
	00	СТА	ААА
OsOPR	Os08g045960	CTCAACCACCGGTTTCCTCA	TCCATGCATCAGTCTGCTCT
7	0		
OsJAR	Os05g058620	AGGAGGCATCAAAGTTCCTG	CTCAGCTCCCAGAAGATCA
1	0	G	CG
OsLEA	Os05g46480	TCACTTCAAATTCGGTGCAA	CACACCCGTCAGAAATCCT
3			С
OsP5C	Os05g045550	GAAGTGGTAATGGTCTTCTC	AGCAAATCTGCGATCTCATC
S	0		
OsPAL	Os02g41680	CTT CAC AAC AGC TAA TCG	CGC ACT CCA TTT CAG TAC
4		AG	СА
OsTDC	Os08g04540	GCG AGG GTG AAA CCT TCC	GCG AGC CGG TGG AGT CC
1		А	
OsTDC	Os07g25590	GTG CTG CCT TTA ACA TTG G	CAT GTC ATT GGA CTT TGC
2			TAT CTG T

2.7 Measurement of malondialdehyde (MDA)

Levels of malone dialdehyde (MDA) in shoots and roots were determined using the thiobarbituric acid (TBA) method as described by Hodgson and Raison (1991) with minor modifications. Briefly, shoots and roots were collected in 2 ml reaction tubes, their frews masses determined, and then shock-frozen in liquid nitrogen. After addition of a sterilized steel bead (5 mm) to the tube, the frozen tissue was ground twice by a Tissuelyser (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) at 23 Hz for 45 s. 1 ml 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) was then added to the tube, followed by centrifugation at 8000 \times g for 10 min. 200 µl of the supernatant was then transferred to a mixture containing 750 µl of 20% (v/v) acetic acid, 750 µl of 0.8% (w/v) TBA, 200 µl of Milli-Q water, and 100 µl of 8.1% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS). As a blank, 200 µl of supernatant was replaced by 200 µl volume of 0.1 M phosphate buffer.

Subsequently, reaction mixtures were incubated at 98 °C for 1 h. After cooling down to room temperature, the absorbance at 535 nm was measured in a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Uvikon XS, Goebel Instrumentelle Analytik GmbH, Germany) and corrected against the absorbance at 600 nm monitoring an unspecific background. Lipid peroxidation could then be calculated as μ M·g FW⁻¹ MDA from A535 to A600 using an extinction coefficient of 155 mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹. Data represent mean values and standard errors from four independent experimental series.

2.8 Measurement of superoxide

Rice shoots and roots used for superoxide measurements were 10-d old and treated with 25% PEG 6000 for 24 h. O₂⁻ in rice shoots and roots was estimated using the nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) method as described by Vacca et al. (2004) with minor modification. Samples were collected in 2 ml reaction tubes, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and homogenized as described above. After adding 100 mM sodium-phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) containing 1 mM diethyl dithiocarbamate to the reaction tubes for inhibiting SOD activity, samples were centrifuged at $12,000 \times g$ for 20 min, and amounts of superoxide anion (O₂⁻) were determined in the supernatant. Change of A530 in the supernatant was measured over the 1st min in the spectrophotometer. Calculation of specific activity was calculated by the formula C=A_(change)/12.8, assuming an absorption coefficient of 12.8 mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹ (Murphy et al., 1998). C is the concentration of solution, A_(change) is the change of A530, and 12.8 mM⁻¹ is the coefficient.

2.9 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis

Samples used for gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) parameters were cultured in phytoagar medium for 7 d, then transferred to double-distilled water, and cultured for an additional 3 d. Young plants were treated with 25% of 6 h and 12 h. Samples were analyzed according to the method used to create FiehnLib (Kind et al. 2009).

2.10 Data analysis

The significance of the difference of most data between the control and PEG 6000 treatment was analyzed by a student's t-test using PASW Statistics 18.0 software (Macintosh, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, U.S.A.). Some of the data (ABA, OsLEA3, Gs) had to be analyzed regarding the difference between control and treatment, and WT and *cpm2* were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Once a significant difference was detected, *post-hoc* LSD multiple range tests at p < 0.05 were used to identify statistically significant differences. The results shown in the graphs are presented as the mean value ± standard error.

3. Results

3.1 Compared with *cpm2*, WT adapted to osmotic stress of different concentrations better. JA plays a positive role in defending against osmotic stress.

To investigate the effect of JA in rice osmotic stress, we used Oryza sativa L. ssp. *japonica* cv. Nihonmasari (WT) and jasmonate-deficient genotype mutant *cpm2* in our experiments. Through treating both genotypes of rice with polyethylene glycol 6000 (for convenience, all polyethylene glycol 6000 will hereafter be abbreviated as PEG), we observed the reactions of WT and *cpm2* towards osmotic stress, respectively. To determine whether JA plays a positive or negative role in osmotic stress, the optimal method is to observe the degree of water loss of rice after PEG treatment. The most intuitive way is to determine the degree of wilting and curling of rice leaves. Therefore, we firstly performed PEG pretreatment to WT and cpm2, and the concentration of PEG was divided into six gradients from 5% to 30% (5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%). In the initial experiment, we found that when the concentration of PEG was less than 20% (including 20%), we could hardly observe the phenomenon of water loss of the leaves whether on WT or on cpm2. Even if we extended the treatment to 3 d, it was still difficult to discern the obvious change of moisture of the leaves of the plant. When treated with 25% PEG, however, both genotypes of rice showed the phenotype that they could not adjust to high-intensity osmotic stress in a short period of time. In 24 or 18 h after treatment, we found that both genotypes of rice (WT and cpm2) leaves lost a substantial amount of water. Even 6 h after treatment, a certain degree of curling of leaves was observed. When the PEG concentration reached 30%, the effects on both rice conditions were similar to that on 25%. Considering that 30% PEG is hard to dissolve completely, we used 25% PEG in most of the following experiments.

3.1.1 cpm2 is more sensitive to high-intensity (25% PEG) osmotic

stress

After culturing WT and *cpm2* in phytoagar medium for 7 d, we cultured them in water for 3 d. We then treated the 10-d rice with 25% PEG. After 18-h treatment, WT was almost still in a fairly healthy condition, except that there was a slight curling on the top of the third leaf (Fig. 3.1A). In contrast, we could see that for cpm2, either the second or the third left showed severe water loss (Fig. 3.1A). When we extended the treatment to 24 h, WT also exhibited a certain degree of water loss, but the wilting was obviously more severe on cpm2 (Fig. 3.1B). Then, we observed the changes of the second and the third leaves, respectively; the third leaf of *cpm2* was totally wilted, while WT wilted a half degree. The second left of *cpm2* also wilted to a great degree, while the second of WT only had a certain degree of wilt on the tip. From this, we could find that, compared with cpm2, WT obviously had a strong ability to defend against osmotic stress, especially high-intensity osmotic stress. Therefore, it can be concluded that JA plays a positive role in rice defense against osmotic stress. Meanwhile, in the same plant, it was more difficult for younger leaf tissue to defend against osmotic stress than riper and older ones in most cases. This phenomenon exists in both WT and cpm2, and may have to do with the distribution of secondary metabolites of plants in different plant tissue. This issue will be discussed in detail in the following.

Apparent images can only provide a qualitative judgment. To determine the reactions of two kinds of rice after being treated with osmotic stress quantitatively, we measured changes in water content of rice leaves. Concerning the 10-d plant of rice, after treating it with 25% PEG for 24 h, we measured changes in relative water content (RWC) of the biggest leaf and the third leaf. It was found that, under normal circumstances, the water content of rice leaf is approximately 95%. When being treated with osmotic stress for 24 h, the relative water content of WT leaves hardly decreased, while it reduced to nearly 30% in *cpm2*, and the water loss rate reached more than 60%. This is close to the circumstance of 18 h in Fig. 3.1A. By measuring

the water content of leaves, WT is further demonstrated to have greater resistance to osmotic stress.

From the qualitative result of images and the quantitative result of relative water content, it is obvious that under a strong osmotic stress condition (25% PEG), WT showed more tolerance to stress.



Figure 3.1. Effects of osmotic stress on morphology, RWC, and stomatal conductance of wild 35

type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). (A) Ten-day-old rice was subjected to osmotic stress at a high concentration (25% PEG) for 18 h. (B) Ten-day-old rice (including whole plant, second leaf, and third leaf) was subjected to a 25% PEG solution for 24 h. (C) Relative water content (RWC) of 10-day-old rice that was subjected to a 25% PEG solution for 24 h. Values are means \pm SE of eight plants. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the control and 25% PEG treatment in two genotypes (WT and *cpm2*) (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.1.2 *cpm2* is more sensitive to low-intensity (≤20% PEG) osmotic stress in morphology

Through the experiments above, it was proven that WT can show much greater resistance than cpm2 when suffering from strong (25%) osmotic stress. As stated previously, it is difficult to judge resistance in two genotypes through the degree of water loss, when WT and *cpm2* are suffering from low-concentrations of osmotic stress (PEG <20%). However, in order to compare the different reactions of WT and cpm2 under a low degree of osmotic stress, we performed another experiment. We divided 10-d-old rice (WT and *cpm2*) into five groups. Each group was treated with 0% (only H₂O), 5%, 10%, 15%, 20% of PEG, respectively. After 3-d treatment, some main morphological indexes of rice were measured, including root and shoot length, root and shoot mass, and the quantity of crown roots. As shown in Fig. 3.2A, the sizes of the two genotypes of rice (WT and cpm2) reduced with the increase of PEG concentration. Shoot length and root length of WT also decreased basically with the increase of PEG concentration. Moreover, shoot and root mass increased slightly under 5% PEG, and then reduced greatly with the increase of PEG concentration (Fig. 3.2B-E). Shoot length and root length of cpm2 increased slightly under 5% PEG condition, and then reduced with the increase of PEG concentration. Shoot mass had few changes before PEG concentration reached 10%, and it started to reduce obviously from 15% (PEG). Root mass also showed few changes before 5% PEG, and started to reduce obviously from 10% to 20% (PEG concentration) (Fig. 3.2B-E).

Overall, in both WT and *cpm2*, the length and mass of rice root and shoot all exhibited a downward trend with PEG concentration increasing. This kind of trend became apparent as the PEG concentration reached 10%. In addition, we could also find that, in the case of normal growth (0% PEG), these morphological indexes of *cpm2* were always more than those of WT. In other words, in the case of normal growth, *cpm2* always grew more rapidly than WT. This may have to do with hormone balance in plants, which will be discussed in the following. This phenomenon could also be seen visually in our images (Fig. 3.2A). Although all of the morphological indexes (shoot and root length, shoot and root mass) in *cpm2* were always higher than in WT in the normal condition (0% PEG), the gap became closer (smaller) with the increase of PEG concentration. Until it reached 20%, the gap of these indexes between WT and *cpm2* was no longer significant (p>0.05). This indicated that, even when the osmotic stress was not that strong, it still had a greater influence on *cpm2* than on WT. Overall, it was found that WT could better adapt to low-concentration osmotic stress (PEG≤20%).

Besides the length and mass of roots and shoots, the quantity of crown roots after being treated by different concentrations of PEG (0-20%) was measured. It was found that the quantity of crown roots was not very sensitive to PEG in *cpm2*, and it increased slowly with the increase of PEG concentration. In contrast, the quantity of crown roots of WT changed greatly. Under the 10% PEG condition, the quantity of crown roots in WT was more than in *cpm2* (p<0.05), and in other concentrations no major differences were observed (p>0.05) (Fig. 3.2F). The changes of crown roots in different PEG concentrations indicated that JA might help plants better adapt to osmotic stress through an increase of crown roots. This is because, normally, the increase in the quantity of roots always coincides with the extension of roots' surface area and the increase of water absorption ability. In addition, WT is indeed more resistant than *cpm2* under the osmotic stress may be a consequence of its effect of promoting crown root growth. So, when exposed to different concentrations of PEG, especially under the relatively low osmotic stress condition ($\leq 20\%$ PEG), *cpm2* always loses more growth rate (shoot and root length, shoot and root mass) compared with WT, which indicates that WT exhibited more resistance to weak osmotic stress. Moreover, the greater increase of crown roots in WT suggests that the positive effect of JA in defending against osmotic stress might be correlated with its effect of promoting the growth of crown roots.



Figure 3.2. Morphology change of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) when 38

exposed to different concentrations of PEG 6000 for 3 d. (A) Effects of different concentrations (0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20%) of PEG 6000 on the phenotype of the WT and *cpm2*. (B) Shoot length, (C) root length, (D) shoot mass, (E) root mass, and (F) root number change of WT and *cpm2* after different concentrations (0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20%) of PEG 6000 for 3 d. Here, root number means crown root. Values are means \pm SE obtained from six plants. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the WT and *cpm2* in each concentration (0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20%) of PEG treatment (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.2 The effect of osmotic stress on hormones of rice shoot and root

As one of the most important signal molecules, hormones play a crucial role in defending against osmotic stress (Fujita et al., 2011). This study aims to elucidate the effect of JA on rice responding to osmotic stress. Therefore, the study of hormones (JA and ABA) constitutes a primary task of the current study. Drought stress usually starts with soil. Specifically, when exposed to drought stress, plant roots may be affected earlier and more directly than shoots, and thus it is necessary to investigate the change of plant hormone in both rice shoots and roots. In our study, we utilized PEG to induce osmotic stress in order to imitate drought stress. Similarly, rice roots contacted with PEG directly. Therefore, in our experiments, plant roots received osmotic stress signals more directly than those of plant shoots. Consequently, in rice roots and shoots, changes of plant hormones would be dissimilar. To thoroughly investigate the responses of multiple plant issue and organs to osmotic stress, we measured changes of hormone content of rice roots and shoots under osmotic stress, respectively. Among them, the intermediate OPDA, JA, and its active material JA-isoleucine (JA-ile) were chosen for the synthesis process. Furthermore, because ABA plays an essential role in plant osmotic stress, changes of ABA content were also measured.

3.2.1 Time course of JAs in response to osmotic stress

In nature, the environment for plants is complex. The challenges that need to be faced and stresses from which they may suffer are also various. In contrast, however, there are few kinds of plant hormones and other signals. Then, how do plants use limited signals to adjust in order to adapt to multiple stresses and complex living environments? Evidence exists suggesting that plants' destiny (survival vs. death) probably depends on the time and spatial location of the appearance and disappearance of signals in cells (Ismail et al., 2014). In other words, even for the same hormone, the time of its appearance and disappearance may determine whether the plant can adapt to stress or die. So, in our experiments, we firstly measured changes of hormone content at six different time points (after PEG treatment). The six time points are untreated (0 h), 0.5 h, 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, and 24 h after PEG treatment. Considering that OPDA and JA can hardly be compounded in *cpm2*, the content will be continually low. Consequently, we only used WT as our material in this experiment.

After PEG treatment to rice, the OPDA content of plant shoots began to increase after 3 h. When it reached 24 h, it still remained at a high level without any indication of decrease (Fig. 3.3A). In roots, however, OPDA only had an apparent increase at 0.5 h, and then started to reduce. At following time points, OPDA content in rice root that was treated by PEG had no changes (compared with control) (Fig. 3.3B). In shoots, JA content increased in 0.5 h after PEG treatment, reached the peak at 1 h, and then began to reduce. Until 24 h after treatment, JA content in PEG treatment was always higher than that in the control (Fig. 3.3C). In roots, JA content only rose apparently 0.5 h after PEG treatment was lower than that in the control (Fig. 3.3D). From 3 h, JA content in PEG treatment was lower than that in the control (Fig. 3.3D). Similarly, JA-Ile in shoots also rose in 0.5 h after PEG treatment, and reached its peak after 1 h. At following time points, although JA-Ile began to reduce, JA-Ile in PEG treatment at 0.5 h and 1 h was obviously higher than that in the control, among which 0.5 h was the peak (Fig. 3.3F). From 3 h to 24 h, JA-Ile in PEG

40

treatment was lower than that in the control treatment. JA-related hormones in roots changed apparently faster than those in shoots. In addition, the existing time of JA-related hormones in roots was obviously shorter than that in shoots. Usually, 1 h after treatment, JA-related hormones in roots finished the whole process of accumulating, and then decreased to a normal level and even down-regulated compared with the control; whereas, in shoots, the accumulation of JA-related hormones could last for at least 24 h.

According to the results of the time course of JAs, the feature of JA-related hormones in roots was "appear early and also disappear early"; whereas in shoots, JA-related hormones tended to "appear late and disappear late" in response to osmotic stress.



Figure 3.3. Time course of phytohormone levels in rice (WT) shoots and roots in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000). (A) Shoot 12-cis-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), (B) root 12-cis-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), (C) shoot jasmonic acid (JA), (D) root jasmonic acid (JA), (E) shoot JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile), and (F) root JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile) in response to osmotic stress at different time points (0, 0.5, 1, 3, 6, and 24 h). Control plants were incubated in H₂O for the

times indicated, respectively. Values represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Means followed by asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the control and PEG 6000 treatment in each time point (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.2.2 Time course of ABA in response to osmotic stress

Compared with JA, the accumulation speed of ABA in rice is apparently slower, both in rice shoots and roots (Fig. 3.4A). In rice shoots, ABA rose 1 h after treatment, reached its peak after 6 h, and then decreased after 24 h of PEG treatment. However, until the end of the experiment, ABA content of rice shoots being treated with PEG was still higher than that without treatment (control) (Fig. 3.4A). In shoots, ABA content after 3-h- and 6-h-treatment could almost reach 3000 pmol/g, which is much higher than that in the control. In roots, ABA content could only reach approximately 700 pmol/g after PEG treatment (Fig. 3.4A-B). In rice roots, ABA content began to increase 1 h after PEG treatment, reached the peak after 3 h (Fig. 3.4B), and then began to decrease. Until 24 h after treatment, ABA content of rice roots in PEG was still higher than that in the control (Fig. 3.4B), which is different from JAs.

According to the results of the time course of ABA, the feature of ABA in roots was also "appear early and also disappear early"; and in shoot, ABA the trend was also "appear late and disappear late" in response to osmotic stress, which is somewhat similar to JAs. However, we also found that, compared with JA, the change (increase and decrease) of ABA was always slightly later than JAs. In addition, the accumulation of ABA in shoots was much higher than that in roots (3000p mol/g vs. 700 pmol/g), which may suggest that the function of ABA in shoots was more critical in response to osmotic stress.



Figure 3.4. Time course of ABA levels in rice (WT) shoots and roots in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000). (A) Shoot abscisic acid (ABA) and (B) root abscisic acid (ABA) in response to

osmotic stress at different time points (0, 0.5, 1, 3, 6, and 24 h). Control plants were incubated in H_2O for the times indicated, respectively. Values represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Means followed by asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the control and PEG 6000 treatment in each time point (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.2.3 JA was required for physiological adaption to osmotic stress

Hormones responding to abiotic stresses is usually a rapid process. So, when plants suffer from abiotic stresses, changes of hormones will appear in a short period of time. JA-related hormones can hardly accumulate in *cpm2*. Therefore, in the time course experiment which requires a substantial amount of experimental materials, we did not use cpm2. Since the synthesis of ABA is unaffected by AOC deletion, it is still necessary to study changes of plant hormones in *cpm2* in response to osmotic stress. From the experiments above, ABA accumulated greatly in 3 h after being treated with PEG. Consequently, we chose 3 h after PEG treatment as the time point for the measurement. Changes of hormones were fairly similar to what we anticipated. We could observe that either in cpm2 roots or shoots, OPDA, JA, and JA-ile content was extremely low. Indeed, they were hardly effected by osmotic stress (Fig. 3.5A-F). However in WT shoots, compared with the control, either OPDA, JA, or JA-ile content rose apparently after plants suffered strong osmotic stress (25% PEG), and the difference between the control reached an extremely significant level (p < 0.01) (Fig. 3.5A, C, E). In roots, however, no difference was found between OPDA, JA, and JA-ile (Fig. 3.5B, D, F). It is not clear why these hormones had such a large difference in shoots, but not in roots. It is most likely that, when it was at the 3-h time point, hormones in WT roots had already reduced from a peak to a lower level, and at this time point there were no large differences (compared with the control).

The result of the present work suggested that JA was required for adaption to osmotic stress, as the increase of JA in WT helped rice to better adapt to osmotic stress.



Figure 3.5. Level of phytohormones in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) under control conditions and 3 h of osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000). (A) Shoot 12-cis-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), (B) root 12-cis-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA), (C) shoot jasmonic acid (JA), (D) root jasmonic acid (JA), (E) shoot JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile), and (F) root JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile) in response to osmotic stress at different time points. Values represent the mean of at least four independent experiments \pm SE. Results for the control and treatment are indicated by black and white bars, respectively. Significant differences among different treatments or genotypes are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.2.4 ABA was increased in response to osmotic stress

Different from JA, ABA content increases to a certain degree under osmotic stress in any genotype (Fig. 3.6). Since the synthesis pathways of ABA are not damaged in *cpm2*, its synthesis is also not blocked. Under the normal condition, ABA content in rice shoot and roots is approximately 40 pmol g⁻¹. Under osmotic stress, however, ABA content in shoots can reach 2000 \sim 5000 pmol g⁻¹. In roots, it can only rise to $500 \sim 600 \text{ pmol g}^{-1}$ generally. In other words, the changes of ABA content in shoots are much more than those in roots. Contrary to our expectations, the accumulation of ABA content in WT shoots is much higher than that of *cpm2* under the osmotic stress condition (Fig 3.6 A); whereas, in roots, the accumulation of ABA content in WT is lower than that in *cpm2* (Fig 3.6 A) when it experienced osmotic stress.

The strong increase of ABA under the osmotic stress condition (in both WT and *cpm2*) indicated that ABA might be required for adaption to osmotic stresses. In addition, ABA was induced significantly in the absence of JA, which suggested that ABA and JA pathways respond to osmotic stress in parallel. However, in rice, both hormonal pathways seem to be induced by osmotic stress more or less independently, as jasmonates were induced earlier than ABA and we found that *cpm2* mutants accumulated less ABA in shoots than the WT. Thus, JAs might support plants to accumulate higher levels of ABA in shoots.



Figure 3.6. The level of ABA in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) under control conditions and 3 h of osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000). (A) Shoot abscisic acid (ABA) and (B) root abscisic acid (ABA) in response to osmotic stress at different time points. Values represent the mean of at least four independent experiments \pm SE. Results for the control and treatment are indicated by black and white bars, respectively. Significant differences amongst different treatments or genotypes are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly 47

Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.3 Gene response to osmotic stress

Under drought conditions, the content of endogenous hormones (e.g., ABA) rises and activates encoded transcription factors, metabolism enzymes, and target genes for other substances located at downstream positions (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). By transcription and translation of coding genes downstream, hormones finally become proteins that have effects on plants' defense against adversity stress. So, besides changes of hormones, the study of gene expression also constitutes a key point of the current study. In our study, the expression level of gene in WT at 1 h (control treatment) is used as a reference system (relative expression = 1).

3.3.1 Osmotic stress can induce the expression of JA synthetic genes upstream of AOC. This phenomenon is more obvious in WT.

Synthesis of JA originates from α -linolenic acid, in which OPDA is firstly formed through a series of reactions. Among them, AOS and AOC are the necessary enzymes in this synthesis process, which are located upstream of our mutant (AOC). In the present study, we chose two time points after PEG treatment, 1 h and 3 h, as we determined that gene expression in the first 3 h (after PEG treatment) was obvious. The expression level of the gene of *cpm2* almost remained the same after PEG treatment. Except in the 1 h time point, *OsAOS1* gene in *cpm2* roots was slightly increased after PEG treatment (Fig. 3.7B). However, in WT, these genes all seemed to change greatly. In WT shoots, 1 h and 3 h after PEG treatment, *OsAOS1*, *OsAOS2*, and *OsAOC* upregulated significantly (Fig. 3.7A, C, E). The upregulation amplitude in 1 h seemed to be higher than that in 3 h, which indicated that these three genes might be short-time genes in response to strong osmotic stress. In roots, we found the upregulation of gene (*OsAOS1*, *OsAOS2*, *OsAOC*) in only 1 h after PEG treatment, which was not found at the 3 h time point (Fig. 3.7B, D, F). This suggested that the

speed of gene expression in roots was faster than that in shoots, which is in accordance with the result of hormone accumulation (Fig. 3.3A-F).

The result of the study suggested that JA synthetic genes (*OsAOS1*, *OsAOS2*, and *OsAOC*), which located upstream of AOC, were upregulated in WT, but not in *cpm2*. Moreover, all of these genes are short-time response genes.



Figure 3.7. Transcriptional regulation of selected JA biosynthesis genes in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). WT and *cpm2* have been exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmosis stress (25% PEG 6000) for 1 h and 3 h. The transcription levels of the genes (A) shoot *OsAOS1*, (B) root *OsAOS1*, (C) shoot *OsAOS2*, (D) root *OsAOS2*, (E) shoot *OsAOC*, and (F) root *OsAOC* were quantified relative to control plants after normalization with housekeeping gene *OsUBQ5*. Values represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Significant differences among different treatments or genotypes at two time points (1 h and 3 h) are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.3.2 Osmotic stress can only slightly induce the gene expression of

49

JA synthetic genes downstream of AOC

OPDA is first formed from α -linolenic acid by a series of reactions. Then, JA is finally formed also by a series of reactions. Among them, the expression of AOC and JAR plays an important role in the synthesis of JA. OPR7 and JAR1 are also JA synthetic genes. Since they are located downstream of our mutant AOC, we term them *synthetic genes downstream of AOC*. Different from the genes upstream of AOC, the upregulation of these two genes is not obvious. *OsJAR1* has no changes in any genotype (Fig. 3.8C, D) in response to osmotic stress. The same as the genes upstream of AOC, the expression level of genes is extremely low in *cpm2*, regardless of whether or not it was treated with PEG. In WT, however, 1 h after PEG treatment, there is still slight upregulation of *OsOPR7* gene.

Compared with the JA synthetic genes that are located upstream of AOC, the genes downstream of AOC exhibited a much lower upregulation. Only *OsOPR7* was slightly upregulated after 1 h of PEG treatment.



Figure 3.8. Transcriptional regulation of selected JA biosynthesis genes in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). WT and *cpm2* have been exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmosis stress (25% PEG 6000) for 1 h and 3 h. The transcription levels of the genes (A) shoot *OsOPR7*, (B) root *OsOPR7*, (C) shoot *OsJAR1*, and (D) root *OsJAR1* were quantified relative to control plants after normalization with housekeeping gene *OsUBQ5*. Values represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Significant differences among different treatments or genotypes at two time points (1 h and 3 h) are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.3.3 JA response gene (JAZ) is upregulated in WT, but not in *cpm2*

after PEG treatment.

In the present study, the expression of JAZ gene (*OsJAZ1*, *OsJAZ4*, *OsJAZ11*) in *cpm2* was found to be extremely low whether or not it was treated with PEG. In other words, JAZ genes did not respond to osmotic stress in *cpm2*. However, in WT, there was an obvious upregulation after PEG treatment in both roots and shoots (Fig. 3.9 A-D). In shoots, 1 h after WT suffering from osmotic stress, *OsJAZ4* gene upregulated approximately 2.5 times (Fig. 3.9 A); whereas, in roots, *OsJAZ1* gene upregulated approximately 3.5 times after PEG treatment (Fig. 3.9 B), and there was no upregulation 3 h after PEG treatment (Fig. 3.9 A-B). This could also suggest that *OsJAZ1* and *OsJAZ4* genes were probably two short-time genes, as well. In 1 h and 3 h after PEG treatment, *OsJAZ11* gene in WT shoots upregulated approximately 7.5 times and 9 times, respectively (Fig. 3.9 D).

The result of the present study indicated that JA response genes (mainly JAZ genes) are upregulated in WT, but not in JA deficiency mutant (*cpm2*). This result agrees well with the change of JAs.



Figure 3.9. Transcriptional regulation of selected JA signaling genes in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). WT and *cpm2* have been exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmosis stress (25% PEG 6000) for 1 h and 3 h. The transcription levels of the genes (A) shoot *OsJAZ4*, (B) root *OsJAZ1*, (C) shoot *OsJAZ11*, and (D) root *OsJAZ11* were quantified relative to control plants after normalization with housekeeping gene *OsUBQ5*. Values represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Significant differences among different treatments or genotypes at two time points (1 h and 3 h) are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.3.4 ABA-related genes upregulated more in WT shoots compared with *cpm2* shoots. In roots, *OsLEA3* expressed more in *cpm2*.

LEA protein was first characterized in cottonseed during the maturation phase of embryogenesis approximately 30 years ago (Liu et al., 2010). After this, many LEA proteins were found to accumulate in plant vegetative organs when facing various stresses, such as cold, drought, and salt stress (Battaglia et al., 2008; Bies-Etheve et al., 2008). According to its expression pattern and sequence, LEA proteins can be divided into 5-9 groups (Liu et al., 2010). One group is characterized by a repeated 11-mer amino acid motif (TAQAAKEKAGE) (Dure III, 1993). Although LEA3 gene is not the response gene of ABA, numerous recent studies demonstrated that LEA3 gene usually upregulated greatly when ABA accumulated (Lu et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2014). So, in our study, we used LEA3 as the marker gene of ABA. Different from the JA-related genes above, OsLEA3 gene was upregulated in both WT and *cpm2* when exposed to osmotic stress. In shoots, 1 h after PEG treatment, OsLEA3 gene of WT upregulated approximately 25 times, while cpm2 upregulated approximately 10 times (Fig. 3.10 A). After 3 h, it upregulated approximately 250 times in WT, while approximately 180 times in cpm2 (Fig. 3.10A). In roots, 1 h after PEG treatment, OsLEA3 upregulated approximately 30 times in both WT and cpm2; whereas, 3 h after treatment, OsLEA3 gene upregulated approximately 300 times in WT and approximately 500 times in *cpm2* (Fig. 3.10B). In shoots, the upregulation amplitude of OsLEA3 in WT was significantly higher than that of cpm2. In roots, the upregulation amplitude of OsLEA3 in cpm2 was higher than that of WT, which we cannot yet precisely explain. In addition, expression of OsLEA3 gene was still very high after 3 h of PEG treatment. This indicated that, compared with the JA-related genes that we checked above, upregulation of OsLEA3 gene was longer (1 h vs. 3 h), which was in accordance with the result of ABA in rice having longer accumulation time than JA.

The result revealed that *OsLEA3* was strongly induced under the osmotic stress condition. Moreover, in shoots, *OsLEA3* expressed more in WT; whereas, in roots, the opposite was the case. The upregulation of *OsLEA3* gene sustained for a longer time compared to JA-related genes. This provided further evidence that, in rice, both hormonal (JA and ABA) pathways seem to be induced by osmotic stress more or less independently. It is also found that JAs might support plants to accumulate higher levels of ABA in shoots.



Figure 3.10. Transcriptional regulation of *OsLEA3* in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). WT and *cpm2* have been exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmosis stress (25% PEG 6000) for 1 h and 3 h. The transcription levels of the genes (A) shoot *OsLEA3* and (B) root *OsLEA3* were quantified relative to control plants after normalization with housekeeping gene *OsUBQ5*. Values represent

the mean of three independent experiments \pm SE. Significant differences among different treatments or genotypes at two time points (1 h and 3 h) are indicated by asterisks, according to Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.4 Osmotic stress can induce the decline of stomatal conductance in rice. WT showed more downregulation compared to *cpm2*.

From the experiments above, ABA and JA content would increase greatly when rice suffered from osmotic stress. We also know that ABA has a close relation with stomatal conductance (Gs). Usually, the increase of ABA can directly lead to stomatal closure and the decline of Gs (Huntingford et al., 2015; Negin and Moshelion, 2016). Of course, previous studies also suggested that the increase of JA can directly result in stomatal closure and the decline of Gs (Suhita et al., 2004). In addition, opening and closing of stomata is critical to plant water exchange between leaves and the atmosphere (Xu and Zhou, 2008), especially under drought stress (Resco de Dios et al., 2016). In our study, 3 h after suffering from osmotic stress, Gs of rice had an obvious decrease in two genotypes (Fig. 3.11). In WT, Gs reduced from approximately 250 mmol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$ to 75 mmol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$; whereas, in *cpm2*, Gs reduced just from approximately 250 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ to 150 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Fig. 3.11). So, the decrease degree of Gs in WT was much more obvious than that in *cpm2*. This result is in accordance with our results that ABA and JA increased more in WT compared to cpm2 when treated with PEG. According to our result, it can be concluded that, compared with cpm2, stomatal conductance in WT was more sensitive to osmotic stress.


Figure 3.11. Effect of osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) on stomatal conductance (Gs) in wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). Three-week-old rice WT and *cpm2* were used for the measurement of Gs in control (water) and osmotic stress condition (25% PEG 6000) for 3 h. Values are means \pm SE of eight plants. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the control and 25% PEG 6000 treatment in two genotyped (WT and *cpm2*) (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.5 JA biosynthesis mutant (*cpm2*) accumulated more ROS compared to WT.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a kind of by-product of aerobic cells in aerobic metabolism processes, including O_2^- , peroxide, and oxygen free radicals (Turrens, 2003; Apel and Hirt, 2004). ROS is also an essential index. On the one hand, plants will produce many ROS under adversity stress, which usually has a great effect on damaging plant cells, especially membrane lipids and genes, and has a severe influence on different kinds of chemical reactions in plant cells (Yamamoto et al., 2002). On the other hand, ROS (especially in low concentrations) can affect a series

of signal transduction pathways (Mittler et al., 2011). In our study, we chose O_2^- and MDA as our research index. Because MAD is normally the product of cell membrane lipid peroxidation, and its accumulation in plants is always resultant from the accumulation of peroxide, we also treated MAD as ROS in our study (Hazman et al., 2015). In the present study, there were a few changes of O_2^- in WT shoots 24 h after PEG treatment. However, there was a large quantity of accumulation of O_2^- in *cpm2* (Fig. 3.12A). In roots, we could not find any obvious change of O_2^- in WT or *cpm2* after PEG treatment (Fig. 3.12B). In addition, *cpm2* accumulated more MDA compared with WT in both rice shoots and roots (Fig. 3.12C-D). As the content of O_2^- and MDA was somewhat high after PEG treatment, in all probability, the ROS in our study is a toxic substance that can induce damage. This result is also in accordance with the result that *cpm2* exhibited more sensitivity to osmotic stress.

The result of the present study indicated that, compared with WT, *cpm2* accumulated more ROS when exposed to osmotic stress. Thus, JA may be correlated with the accumulation of ROS in response to osmotic stress, and this correlation is negative. However, precisely how JA inhibits ROS accumulation remains unclear. It may be due to that JA correlated with ROS synthesis (negative correlation) or the ROS elimination system (positive correlation).



Figure 3.12. Lipid peroxidation and superoxide levels in wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) shoots and roots under osmotic stress condition (25% PEG 6000) for 24 h. (A) Levels of superoxide in the WT and *cpm2* in shoots of control and osmotic-stressed plants. (B) Levels of superoxide in the WT and *cpm2* in roots of control and osmotic-stressed plants. (C) The level of malondialdehyde (MDA) was estimated in the WT and *cpm2* in shoots of control and osmotic-stressed plants. (D) The level of malondialdehyde (MDA) was estimated in the WT and *cpm2* in roots of control and osmotic-stressed plants. (D) The level of malondialdehyde (MDA) was estimated in the WT and *cpm2* in roots of control and osmotic-stressed plants. Values represent the mean of at least three independent experiments \pm SE. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between the control and 25% PEG 6000 treatment in two genotypes (WT and *cpm2*) (student's t test; *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01).

3.6 Changes of metabolites accumulation in rice shoots and leaves under osmotic stress

Amino acids are one of numerous bioactive macromolecules of biological organisms, and the basic material that constructs the cell and restores organization (Maeda and Dudareva, 2012). The functions of many amino acids have yet not been totally confirmed (Li et al., 2007). In our study, we used gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GCMS) to measure more than 100 kinds of amino acids and compared their relative changes 6 h and 12 h after PEG treatment. We chose WT and *cpm2* content before treatment as the reference system. Since the amount of rice samples that is needed in this experiment is huge, we only measured amino acids in rice shoots, and not in rice roots. We obtained many results, and only chose six representative amino acids in the results part. Other results are found in the Appendix. The experiment set three biological replicates. Their data were combined due to calculation reasons, and the final results showed no error bars.

Of the currently known amino acids, proline (Pro) seems to be most related to osmotic stress defense (Watanabe et al., 2000). As a small molecular substance, Pro plays an important role in controlling plant osmotic pressure, and maintaining the balance of osmotic pressure between cells and the outside environment (Molinari et al., 2004). In our studies, Pro was accumulated both in WT and in *cpm2* after PEG treatment, while the degree of accumulation in WT was much greater than that in *cpm2* (Fig. 3.13A). Even in the control, the proline content of WT was higher than that of *cpm2* (Fig. 3.13A). On the one hand, this partially explained why WT had stronger resistance compared with cpm2. On the other hand, it also suggested that JA might be correlated with proline accumulation in rice. Consequently, in order to further understand the relationship between JA and Pro under osmotic stress, we also chose OsP5CS, which is one of the most critical marker genes of Pro for molecular biology work. In our study, we found that the expression level of OsP5CS gene greatly increased 12 h after treatment, and the expression in WT was much more than that in cpm2 (Fig. S6). Since we already confirmed that the upregulation of proline was much greater in WT, the expression levels of *OsP5CS* gene met our expectations.

According to the results, the amino acids can be divided into four groups. The first and most important group is those that can both accumulate in WT and *cpm2* after 59 PEG treatment. Obviously, WT accumulated much more compared with *cpm2*, which indicated that JA may be correlated with the synthesis of amino acids under the osmotic stress condition. Among them, Pro may be the most typical example. Many other amino acids belong to this group: pyroglutamic acid (Fig. 3.13B), serotonin (Fig. 3.13D), asparagine, allantoin, β -cyanoalanine and coumaroylquinic acid (Fig. S1A, B, D, E), gallic acid, γ-tocopherol, glutamine (Fig. S2B-D), glyceric acid, glycine, isoleucine, homoglutamic acid, lysine (Fig. S3A-C, E-F), methionine, phosphorylethanolamine, phenylalanine (Fig. S4A, D, F), tryptophan, tyramine, tyrosine, valine, and xylose (Fig. S5A-E).

Besides *OsP5CS*, we also chose tryptophan decarboxylase (TDC) gene, which is strongly related with tryptophan and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), and related with phenylalanine as marker genes. We treated rice with PEG, and performed semi-qPCR experiments on *OsPAL4*, *OsTDC1*, and *OsTDC2* at the time point of 6 h and 12 h to ensure the expression level at these times. We observed that the expression level of *OsPAL4* gene showed an obvious difference at 12 h, and the upregulation of *OsPAL4* under PEG treatment was obvious in WT. In *cpm2*, whether or not the rice was treated with PEG, the expression level of *OsPAL4* was very low (Fig. S6). In addition, for *OsTDC1* gene, 6 h after PEG treatment, there was an obvious upregulation not only in WT, but also in *cpm2*. Of course, the expression level in WT was also much higher than that in *cpm2* (Fig. S6). Changes of *OsTDC2* appeared at 12 h after PEG treatment. The expression level in WT was again much higher than that in *cpm2* (Fig. S6). Since we already determined that the upregulation of phenylalanine and tryptophan in WT was much greater than that in *cpm2*, the expression levels of these genes met our expectations.

The second group is those that can accumulate both in WT and *cpm2* after PEG treatment. The increasing degree seems equal in both WT and *cpm2*, which indicated that these amino acids might be involved in osmotic stress adaptation in rice. JA, however, seems to have nothing to do with this pathway. This group includes several

amino acids: sorbitol (Fig. 3.13C), β -Alanine, feruloylquinic acid (Fig. S1C, F), and ferulic acid (Fig. S2A).

The third group is those that can accumulate both in WT and *cpm2* after PEG treatment. However, it seems that *cpm2* accumulated more compared with WT. So far, we still cannot explain why these amino acids accumulated more in *cpm2* than in WT. It is possible that they are just the product of damage, as *cpm2* showed more damage compared with WT. Several amino acids belong to this group: sucrose, quinic acid (Fig. 3.13E-F), gallic acid, galactinol (Fig. S2B, E), malic acid, and phosphate (Fig. S3B-C).

The fourth group is those that cannot accumulate in both WT and *cpm2* after PEG treatment, or sometimes even exhibit a decline after PEG treatment. These amino acids have nothing to do with resistance to osmotic stress. Only very few amino acids belong to this group: galacturonic acid (Fig. S2F) and 3-phosphoglyceric acid (Fig. S4E).

According to our results, most amino acids accumulated more in WT than in *cpm2*. This may indicate that the accumulation of these amino acids was correlated with JA, and they may assist plants to have more resistance in response to osmotic stress.



Figure 3.13. Proline, pyroglutamic acid, sorbitol, serotonin, sucrose, and quinic acid in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and *cpm2* were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) proline, (B) pyroglutamic acid, (C) serotonin, (D) serotonin, (E) sucrose, and (F) quinic acid were quantified relative to control plants (WT and *cpm2* at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.

3.7 The function of JA is age-dependent

Previous researches of our laboratory suggested that *cpm2* showed stronger salt resistance than WT (Hazman et al., 2015; Kurotani et al., 2015). Furthermore, *cpm2* also had stronger drought resistance compared with WT (Dhakarey et al., 2017). Both results are contrary to those of the present study, especially the study of drought stress. However, Dhakarey's study investigates rice with at least 3-mo. maturity, which could already fruit. Our rice, on the other hand, was just 7- to 10-d-old. We studied whether JA had different effects in different growing periods in rice. To achieve this, we took a simple treatment. Specific experimental steps were as follows: first, rice was cultured

in a normal method for 7 d. Then, the 7-d-old rice was transformed into water (+ 0.344g/L MS) to culture for 1, 3, 5, and 7 d, respectively. After 1, 3, 5, and 7 d culture, rice with different ages were treated with 25% PEG, respectively. In the image, it can be seen that when rice cultured for 1, 3, and 7 d, WT had more tolerance to osmotic stress compared with *cpm2* (Fig. S7A, B, D), which indicated that JA contributed to defense against osmotic stress. However, when rice cultured for 5 d, *cpm2* showed more tolerance to osmotic stress (Fig. S7C), which indicated that JA may have a negative effect on defense to osmotic stress. This result proved our hypothesis that JA has different effects on rice in different age periods in rice. However, we are still unable to determine why the function of JA in defense against osmotic stress can change in such a short time (2 d). Further work on rice age and functions of JA in drought resistance may be requisite.

4. Discussion

The results demonstrated that JA can not only regulate plant growth and development, including germination, senescence, fruit ripening, growth of roots, development of pollen, formation of corm and tendril curling, but also participate in plant defense responses towards mechanical wounding, diseases, pests, temperature stress, salt stress, and other stress environments (Stintzi et al., 2001; Spoel et al., 2003; Schilmiller et al., 2007; Stein et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008). It was found that when plants suffered from cold stress, the synthesis of endogenous JA is soon activated (Pedranzani et al., 2007). JA may accomplish the goal of improving plant resistance for cold by adjusting the transcription way of CBF (C-REPEAT BINDING FACTOR) and then upregulating cold-responsive genes downstream (Hu et al., 2013). In rice, it has been determined that the use of exogenous JA can improve the living condition of rice seedlings under salt stress, such as leaf water potential, photosynthetic rate, and maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (PSII). This function is also particularly obvious in salt-sensitive cultivar (Kang et al., 2005).

Although numerous studies identified the function of JA on cold and salt stress, very few reports seem to exist on the effects of JA in plant osmotic stress. Thus, in our present work, the objective was to elucidate the function of JA on defense against osmotic stress. Specifically, we intended to determine if JA contributes to resistance to osmotic stress and identify the potential mechanism.

4.1 Hormones are necessary in the process of resistance to osmotic stress

Plant hormones can greatly assist plants to improve adaptation to adversity stresses (Argueso et al., 2009; Santner and Estelle, 2009; Wang et al., 2009; Messing et al., 2010). Among these, one hormone that has been most studied is ABA. Of course, it is strongly associated with plant resistance. One of the regulation mechanisms is critical

in helping plants to better cope deal with osmotic stress. Specifically, the synthesis of ABA under osmotic stress is usually rapid, and will soon activate the expressions of ABA-related genes (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). This then leads to the closing of stomas, reduces plant water loss caused by transpiration, and finally achieves and maintains a better condition of moisture for plants (Wilkinson and Davies, 2010).

Seo et al. (2011) found that the transcription level of helix-loop-helix domain gene (OsbHLH148) would increase rapidly after treatment of MeJA and ABA. It would also increase under some abiotic stresses, such as drought, high salinity, low temperature, and wounding. Expressions of OsbHLH148 gene will give plants a strong ability for defending against drought stress. In this process, OsbHLH148, *OsJAZ*, and *OsCOI1* constitute a signalling module (Seo et al., 2011). Although there have recently been fewer related researches of JA and drought stress than those of ABA and drought stress, most reports still asserted that JA could improve plant resistance to drought stress (Alam et al., 2014).

4.1.1 JA mitigates osmotic stress symptoms

In the present work, we employed the AOC mutant *cpm2* and the corresponding WT plant Nihonmasari, and observed the response of these two genotypes to osmotic stress imposed by a chemical compound in a hydroponic system. We found that JA mitigates symptoms imposed by osmotic stress in rice, since *cpm2* seedlings were more strongly affected by the treatment. In addition, when both genotypes were subjected to strong osmotic stress, WT showed much more osmotic stress tolerance compared to *cpm2* (Fig. 3.1A-C). This phenomenon suggested that, on the one hand, young leaves were vulnerable to osmotic stress; on the other hand, the function of JA in defence against osmotic stress might be more relevant in young, developing tissues than in older ones where such difference became weaker (Fig. 3.1).

Since 25% PEG is a kind of very strong osmotic stress to both WT and *cpm2*, even WT shows stronger resistance than *cpm2*. However, either genotype of rice can hardly survive ultimately. For this, we studied the adaptations of two genotypes under weaker osmotic stress. We found that, under normal conditions (0%) or under 5% PEG treatment, cpm2 grew bigger than WT (Fig. 3.2A). This result suggested that plants grow faster with the absence of JA. Considering the close connections between auxin and plant growth, we concluded that the fast growth of cpm2 might be associated with auxin or GA. Previous experiments also found that some crosstalk existed between JA and auxin (Tiryaki and Staswick, 2002; Riemann et al., 2015). When rice was exposed to 5%-20% PEG, both WT and *cpm2* survived, or were at least healthy 3 d after treatment. However, the two genotypes seemed to become smaller under the stress condition. In other words, under low-concentration of osmotic stress, rice may decrease its growing speed to distribute resources into defending against osmotic stress to survive, in which JA might play a part. Moreover, similar to high-concentration PEG treatment, cpm2 seemed to be more sensitive to osmotic stress than WT. WT also exhibited stronger resistance, since the decrease of WT was obviously less than that of cpm2 (Fig. 3.2). The result of the present work indicated that JA mitigates osmotic stress symptoms irrespective of whether it was weak stress or lethal strong osmotic stress.

4.1.2 Differential increase of jasmonates in roots and shoots

When WT seedlings were treated with 25% PEG, jasmonates were strongly induced and accumulated very quickly in both shoots and roots (Fig. 3.3). Moreover, the jasmonate accumulation in roots preceded that in shoots. This increase in roots was transient; whereas, jasmonates accumulated in shoots over time. This indicates that there must be a basic difference of JA signalling in these two organs. After decreasing slightly at 3 and 6 h of stress treatment, JA and JA-Ile levels clearly rose at 24 h, indicating that the plant was suffering severely at this time point. Particularly in roots, the amount of OPDA increased approximately three-fold as compared to at 3 h of stress. As an intermediate product of JA biosynthesis, OPDA can also be regarded as a signal, because OPDA itself can regulate gene expression (Stintzi et al., 2001; Taki et al., 2005). In roots, such late accumulation of jasmonates was not observed (Fig. 3.3B). We propose that, in roots, jasmonates are utilized in order to induce certain morphological and molecular changes towards adaption and more efficient water usage. Under persistent stress conditions, jasmonate levels did not change in the root, and thus are mainly used during a first reaction to this type of stress. In contrast, in the shoot, they probably assist the plant to adapt to the harsh environment, as they constantly increase, which correlates with the phenotype of larger tolerance to osmotic stress. During prolonged exposure to stress, the very high levels of jasmonates might also be indicative of damage.

Similarly to the hormonal changes, JA response gene expression was subsequently upregulated presumably to support defence and adaptation to osmotic stress. OsJAZ4 and OsJAZ11 genes were upregulated in WT shoots (Fig. 3.9A, B) at 1 h and 3 h of PEG treatment, respectively. In roots, OsJAZ1 and OsJAZ11 were found to be induced by osmotic stress at 1 h and 3 h, respectively (Fig. 3.9 A, B). Besides the JA response genes, several JA-biosynthesis genes were also induced in response to abiotic and biotic stress (Wasternack, 2014; Pratiwi et al., 2017). Our study revealed that most of the JA-biosynthesis genes that we examined were upregulated under osmotic stress. OsAOS1, OsAOS2, OsAOC, and OsOPR7 were induced by osmotic stress in both WT shoots and roots (Fig. 3.8 A, B). Here, we noticed that these genes were upregulated longer in shoots than in roots, similarly to the pattern of hormonal content. At 3 h of the PEG treatment, these JA-biosynthesis genes were still upregulated in shoots, but not in roots, correlating well with hormonal content. Most of the JA-biosynthesis genes did not show any difference between the treatment and control in the cpm2, pointing to a JA-dependent transcriptional regulation of these genes under the conditions applied. However, it is noteworthy that OsAOS1 was also upregulated obviously in cpm2 after osmotic stress (Fig. 3.7D), which indicates that the transcript is partially regulated by a factor different from JA. OsAOS2 was only upregulated 1 h

67

after the osmotic stress in WT shoots and roots, and not as strongly as *OsAOS1* (Fig. 3.7A-B). Surprisingly *OsJAR1* did not respond strongly to osmotic stress on the transcriptional level, indicating that, for this enzyme, posttranscriptional regulation might occur (Fig. 3.8C-D).

Taken together, regulation of hormonal content and expression of related genes correlated well and indicated that roots probably use jasmonate signals for immediate adaption, while shoots utilize the hormone for sustained signalling during continuous stress, culminating in hyper-accumulation as an indication for damage under prolonged severe stress conditions.

4.1.3 ABA and JA pathways respond to osmotic stress in parallel

ABA is the central signal which controls stomatal aperture and transcriptional activity in response to osmotic stress in plants (Fujita et al., 2011). In the present study, we also observed the time course of ABA in WT when exposed to osmotic stress. Similar to jasmonates, ABA increased and decreased earlier (1 h) in roots than in shoots when seedlings were subjected to osmotic stress (Fig. 3.4). Different from jasmonates, which levels were approximately equal in roots and shoots, levels of ABA were much lower in roots than in shoots (Fig. 3.3).

We found that levels of both jasmonates and ABA were induced earlier in roots than in shoots. This may be due to the fact that the roots were submerged in the PEG solution and therefore sensed the osmotic pressure first. In addition, the increased levels remained for a short time in roots; whereas, in shoots, levels increased later, but persisted for a longer time. Previous study suggested that root apices may act as a controlling unit, and vascular tissues may be responsible for the rapid information exchange between belowground (roots) and aboveground (shoots and leaves) organs (Baluška et al., 2004). This scenario requires rapid signalling between roots and shoots, and it was proposed that hormonal mediators could be involved (Urano et al., 2014). The present study could support the viewpoint that roots may play such a role, as they remained comparatively unperturbed in terms of induction of stress hormones and switched them off quickly, even when exposed to a strong prolonged osmotic stress. Hence, the roots would remain less affected under stress and therefore fulfil an essential criterion for a controlling unit.

In both organs, the peak of ABA content was observed approximately 2 h later than that of JA/JA-Ile (Fig. 3.3). This suggested that the first hormonal signal to osmotic stress might be an increase in jasmonates, and raised the question of whether the accumulation of JAs in the early stage of osmotic stress might control a subsequent increase of ABA. Our study provides evidence that JAs might support plants to accumulate higher levels of ABA in shoots, as we found that cpm2 mutants accumulated less ABA in shoots than the WT (Fig. 3.6 A). However, the content of ABA was higher in cpm2 roots after 3 h of stress (Fig. 3.6 B). As LEA genes are generally induced in response to the accumulation of ABA (Lu et al., 2009; Fukao et al., 2011), we used OsLEA3 as a marker gene for ABA. The expression pattern of this marker gene correlated well with the changes in hormonal contents in WT and cpm2 (Fig. 3.10). Thus, both the hormone data and gene expression data demonstrated that JA interacted synergistically with ABA in rice shoots (Fig. 4.1). Previous studies also found that transient accumulation of JA was needed for ABA accumulation in Arabidopsis (Ollas et al., 2015) and citrus (Ollas et al., 2013) roots when exposed to drought stress. However, in rice, both hormonal pathways seem to be induced by osmotic stress more or less independently, as jasmonates were induced earlier than ABA, and ABA was induced even in the absence of JA. Moreover, in roots, ABA levels were higher in *cpm2*, indicating that JA represses ABA accumulation, although certainly not entirely. One of the possible mechanisms for this has been discussed above. Overall, the level of both hormones was much lower compared to the shoots, and the response was only transient. Hence, the roots, although directly exposed to osmotic stress, remain more or less unaffected on the level of accumulation of these stress hormones. This would enable them to act as a control unit of the plant which 69

can initiate effective countermeasures against the stress, as they are less harmed. In the future, it will be worthwhile to investigate whether such signalling occurs between roots and shoots during osmotic stress.



Figure 4.1. Proposed working model representing some possible mechanisms for how jasmonates contribute to osmotic stress adaptation. The observed phenotype of increased osmotic stress tolerance in wild type could be linked to the following possible mechanisms: when suffering from osmotic stress, rice roots received stress first, and then stress arrived in rice shoots. In rice roots, JA and ABA not only transport to shoots, respectively, but JA may also contribute to ABA transport from roots to shoots. In rice shoots, JAs were quickly synthesized, which induced upregulation of several JAZ (e.g., JAZ1, JAZ4, JAZ11) genes. Accumulation of JAs may further induce ABA synthesis at the later time point. The accumulation of ABA also induced PYL6 to bind to MYC2, which further upregulated the expression of several JAZ genes. Increased JA and ABA synthesis, which subsequently resulted in stomatal closure, may also help rice conserve more water in shoots and better adapt to osmotic stress.

4.2 Mechanism of JA-induced osmotic stress defense in rice

From previous studies, we first found that WT performed better in coping with PEG of different concentrations compared with *cpm2*. As a stress defense hormone, JA contributes to defense against osmotic stress in most cases, and it generally functions

as a positive regulator of stress tolerance. Then, by observing JA and ABA content in two genotypes (WT vs. *cpm2*) and expressions of related genes, the effects of JA in defending against osmotic stress in shoots and roots could be determined, as well as how JA and ABA work together in the process of defending against osmotic stress. Consequently, we aimed to elucidate about how JA assists plants to obtain a more effective mechanism of stress resistance. We investigated the third objective of our study: How does JAs contribute to defending against osmotic stress through morphological and physiological changes? In the following, we discuss several kinds of stress resistance mechanisms induced by JA.

Stomatal conductance

Leaf is the main organ of plant anabolism and transpiration, and stomas on leaf are an important pathway of plant gas exchange and water transpiration (Yao et al., 2006). Stomas originated from the activation of leaf epidermal cell (Nadeau and Sack, 2002). Then, cells nearby obtained the ability to divide, and most stomas were produced (Geisler et al., 2000; Serna and Fenoll, 2002). The size, quantity, and adjusting function of stomas have close connections with leaf photosynthesis, transpiration, and other physiological processes (Hetherington and Woodward, 2003; Casson and Gray, 2008).

ABA is a well-known plant hormone that can influence stomatal movement (Bright et al., 2006). Plants produce and accumulate excess ABA in guard cells under drought stress, which leads to the closing of stomas and thus retention of moisture (Thomashow, 2010; Hu et al., 2013; Miura and Tada, 2014). Usually, stresses can be transformed into ABA signals and further lead to activation of plant physiological and development processes (Soar et al., 2004). These physiological processes can help plants to better adapt to stress environments (Gibbs et al., 2010; Bailey-Serres et al., 2012). Of the different kinds of abiotic stresses, drought stress is the most common. Moreover, after suffering drought stress, ABA synthesis is one of the most rapid

responses of plants (Peleg and Blumwald, 2011). Plants then activate the expressions of ABA-related genes (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006) and cause stomas to close, thus reducing water loss by decreasing transpiration (Wilkinson and Davies, 2010).

Considering that the degree of stomatal conductance is the main factor relating to the quantity of water loss, we found that stomas might constitute the key factors that caused WT and *cpm2* to adapt to water stress. Obviously, osmotic stress can rapidly reduce stomatal conductance of plant leaves, but the degree of reduction in WT is much greater than that in *cpm2* (Fig. 3.11). Since stomatal conductance of WT is much less than *cpm2*, it is easy to understand that WT can conserve more water compared with *cpm2* due to the low transpiration. Therefore, WT has stronger resistance against osmotic stress than *cpm2*. Because of the close relations between ABA content and stomatal conductance, we assert that the greater accumulation of ABA in WT might be a reason why WT can better adapt to osmotic stress.

Apart from ABA, JA is also found to greatly accumulate during drought stress, and plays a positive role in the processes of opening and closing stomas (Sarwat and Tuteja, 2017). Therefore, JA has been thought to have a very important function in drought stress response (Suhita et al., 2003; Suhita et al., 2004). In other words, besides low concentration of ABA content, a lack of sufficient JA might be another reason why *cpm2* cannot close stomas in time and thus cannot adapt to osmotic stress well. Other studies have shown cytoplasmic alkalinization in guard cells, activation of K-efflux and production of ROS (via AtRboHD/F) and NO (Evans, 2003), as well as slow anion channels (Suhita et al., 2003; Suhita et al., 2004; Munemasa et al., 2007) in conjugation with MeJA-mediated stomatal closure. Hossain et al. (2011) found reduced stomatal conductance in MeJA-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations in the guard cells of leaves where ABA biosynthesis is decreased (Hossain et al., 2011). Thus, MeJA and ABA are demonstrated to have a synergistic effect in inducing stomas opening and closing, and they cannot work alone, especially in the field of plant adaptation to 72

drought (Munemasa et al., 2007; Sarwat and Tuteja, 2017). So, in our study, we also assert that JA and ABA are likely to work together on stomas opening and closing in a synergistic manner.

ABA accumulates more in WT shoots than that in *cpm2*, and the biggest difference between the two genotypes is the ability to produce JA. Thus, ABA synthesis may be partially correlated with JA, which has been previously discussed. Since ABA could be produced greatly even in *cpm2*, JA might just be involved in one or some synthesis pathways, but not all pathways. Overall, the mechanism of JA adjusting stomatal conductance is somewhat complex. Specifically, on the one hand, JA might promote ABA synthesis and subsequently regulate stomatal conductance; on the other hand, JA or MeJA itself has the ability to regulate stomatal conductance. Of course, we recognize a greater synergistic effect than that of working alone. The decrease of stomatal conductance can assist plants to conserve more water in leaves and adapt well to osmotic stress.

ROS

Under low concentration, as a kind of second messenger signal molecule, ROS plays an essential part in controlling plant cell life activities. When plants suffer from osmotic stress, ROS content rises and is delivered to activate different signal pathways, promoting plant issues to produce a series of defense responses (Neil et al., 2002; Vranova et al., 2002). Under high concentration, however, ROS is extremely deleterious to plants. When the ROS level is beyond that which the defense mechanism can handle, cells will be under oxidative stress, which results in lipid peroxidation, protein oxidation, nuclear acid damage, enzyme inactivation, and activation of the death of programmed cells (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Møller et al., 2007). In plants, the elimination of ROS is made of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems together (Ali et al., 2006). Previous studies suggested that exogenous application of JA and MeJA could protect plants from damage induced by drought stress by improving plant oxidation resistance (Bandurska et al., 2003). When plants suffer drought stress, the metabolism of antioxidant ascorbate would be influenced by JA, as well (Ai et al., 2008). Other studies also indicated that exogenous JA could improve plant resistance for drought stress, since JA increased the activity of antioxidant enzymes, thus decreasing plant oxidative damage (Nafie et al., 2011).

In our study, we found that O_2^- and MDA content were higher in *cpm2* than that in WT. In other words, cpm2 would accumulate more ROS than WT (Fig. 3.12) when facing osmotic stress. We also determined that O_2^- or MDA content was very high, so it was likely that ROS was a kind of poisonous substance instead of a signal molecule. Consequently, we assert that JA might adapt to osmotic stress by regulating the accumulation of ROS content under osmotic stress. The reasons why JA could decrease ROS content in response to osmotic stress were various, but mainly comprise two mechanisms: less come and more go. Specifically, JA may inhibit the synthesis of ROS or JA may induce the expression of anti-oxidative enzymes. Previous studies indicated that JA increased the activity of antioxidant enzymes, thus decreasing plant oxidative damage and improving plant resistance for drought stress (Nafie et al., 2011). In our study, we supposed that JA might realize the goal of eliminating oxygen radical and reducing plant oxidative damage by activating antioxidant enzymes. However, as we do not possess further data of anti-oxidative enzymes (e.g., SOD, catalase, or peroxidase), the mechanism of JA-mediate decline of ROS production remains undetermined. Further study could focus on this specific issue.

Trade-offs and amino acid synthesis

Jasmonates may also influence trade-offs (Gould et al., 2008), which refers to the increase of one trait that coincides with a decrease of another (Machado et al., 2017).

JAs participate in most of the biosynthetic pathways of secondary metabolites (Wasternack and Strnad, 2017). Amino acids are not only the necessary substrate of protein synthesis, but also play an important role in plant primary and secondary metabolism (Oren and Gunde-Cimerman, 2007). Some amino acids are precursors of secondary metabolite (e.g., hormones, plant defense-related substances, etc.) synthesis (Croteau et al., 2000). Amino acids improve plant adaptive responses mainly by participating in changing some physiological metabolism in plants or adjusting the expression of related genes and key enzymes activities (Szabados and Savoure, 2010). At present, studies on amino acids' participation in plant stress adaptation mainly include reducing heavy metal toxicity, improving drought, salt stress resistance, regulating osmotic potential and cationic transport, and eliminating reactive oxygen injury (Rai, 2002; Sharma and Dietz, 2006; Szabados and Savoure, 2010; El-Samad et al., 2011). From the discussions above, there are many kinds of amino acids, and the functions of amino acids in plants are varied.

In our study, many amino acids also accumulate more in WT than that in *cpm2*. Since most amino acids accumulate more in WT, we also believe that the synthesis or decomposition of these amino acids is related to JA. Considering that JA is involved in the biosynthesis of almost all secondary metabolites (Wasternack and Strnad, 2017), we also tend to conclude that JA is involved in the synthesis of many amino acids, which play a role in plant resistance to osmotic stress. Of all amino acids, proline is regarded as an osmotic regulator under stress (Maggio et al., 2000), and it can also act as protection against oxidative stress (Sorkheh et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2014). Thus, the accumulation of proline may help plants adjust osmotic pressure and inhibit oxidative stress, which subsequently enables better adaption to osmotic stress. Our study also demonstrated that WT can accumulate more proline and can be rapidly induced by osmotic stress. The accumulated proline can reduce the water potential of plants and maintain low osmotic pressure, so that plants can absorb more water from the surrounding environment instead of losing water. Expressions of OsP5CS in two genotypes exhibit good consistency with the results of proline when rice was exposed 75

to osmotic stress.

Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) related gene expressions are closely connected with phenylalanine. The results showed that WT accumulated phenylalanine more easily compared with cpm2, while phenylalanine was very sensitive to osmotic stress and could rapidly accumulate under stress. In order to study the role of phenylalanine in plant osmotic stress, we also investigated the related PAL gene. PAL is a conserved homotetrameric protein which is a key enzyme in the phenylpropanoid pathway in higher plants (Bowles, 1990; Bate et al., 1994; Reichert et al., 2009; Rawal et al., 2013). Products of this biosynthesis pathway include soluble phenolics, flavonoids, and lignin, which may contribute to stress defense (La Camera et al., 2004; Vogt, 2010; Tonnessen et al., 2015). Since lignin is an essential component of plant cell walls, the amount of lignin can affect the strength of cell walls. In our study, we also found that cpm2 grows more rapidly than WT under normal conditions, but it does not seem as robust as WT (Fig. 3.1). Therefore, the reduction of PLA and lignin caused by JA deficiency may a reason why cpm2 appears "fragile". L-tryptophan decarboxylase (TDC) has been investigated widely because it plays a critical role in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites in plants (Kang et al., 2007). Besides OsP5CS and OsPAL4, OsTDC1 and OsTDC2 were also found to be higher in WT than in cpm2. Therefore, compared with cpm2, WT is more likely to synthesize secondary metabolites. It is known that most secondary metabolites have positive effects on plant resistance to stress. Therefore, more secondary metabolites in WT may also be one of the key factors leading to its superior adaptation to osmotic stress.

The measurement of amino acid content showed that most amino acids were easier to synthesize in WT, and it seems that most of these amino acids are active in plant defense. So, the rapid growth of *cpm2* might be at the expense of its resistance to stress. Therefore, we assert that one of the functions of JA is to balance the allocation of plant resources. JA can promote synthesis of a large number of amino acids and secondary metabolites, while these substances, in turn, greatly increase plant resources.

resistance to stress, rather than allowing plants to grow indefinitely.

Morphology adaptation

From the above discussions, we have shown that JA can help plants to reduce stomatal conductance in order to conserve more water in the short-term under osmotic stress. However, when plants are exposed to persistent osmotic stress, they need to make some more physiological and morphological adjustments in order to adapt. Previously, we have stated that plants may be able to adapt to stress through synthetic amino acids and secondary metabolites. Here, we discuss changes in morphology. The root system is the main organ that absorbs water (Patten and Glick, 2002). Under osmotic stress, in addition to reducing water loss through decreasing stomatal conductance, plants also need to increase their ability to absorb water to maintain normal growth. In drought environments, because plants need to absorb water only through the absorption of groundwater, most desert plants are more apt to grow deeper than to put root construction on the surface of the soil (Benjamin and Nielsen, 2006). Our study found that, under weak osmotic stress, the increasing speed of crown roots of WT was faster than that of *cpm2* (Fig. 3.2F). In other words, JA is more able to help plants grow more roots rather than make the roots grow longer. In our study, this is because rice only needs to grow more roots to absorb more water, and longer roots would not benefit survival. Therefore, we think that JA may assist plants to adapt to long-term osmotic stress by adjusting the morphological features of plants, especially those of roots.

4.3 Age-dependent JA induced defense against osmotic stress in rice

The results of the current study clearly demonstrate that JA can assist plants to better adapt to osmotic stress, and many possible mechanisms have been discussed. In fact, however, the relationship of JA to osmotic stress may not be as simple as we assumed. In our study, it was also observed that JA had different effects on the resistance to osmotic stress of rice when the growth time of rice differed. We found that when WT and cpm2 were cultured in water for 5 d, cpm2 possessed stronger resistance to osmotic stress than WT (Fig. S7). In other words, when the rice grows to a certain stage, JA may play a negative role in the defense of osmotic stress. We were also surprised by this result, and are not certain concerning the reasons why the effects of JA on rice resistance to osmotic stress were so different in only 2 d. It is also speculated that the plant faces different tasks at different stages of growth. We divide the growth of plants into three parts: vegetative growth, reproductive growth, and defense. When rice grows to about 3 mo., plants need to devote most of their resources to reproductive growth, and *cpm2*, which lacks JA, cannot form seeds. Therefore, cpm2 at this stage does not need to allocate resources to reproductive growth, but has a stronger ability to resist drought stress, which was also found in our previous study (Dhakarey et al. 2017). In the early stage of rice growth, reproductive growth is not the main factor of resource consumption, because JA helps plants to invest more resources into defense. Thus, JA plays a positive role in defense against osmotic stress in young rice plants. Therefore, we suspect that JA may be a key to maintain the balance of resource allocation. Since the allocation of resources may differ at each stage of plant growth, the adjustment function of JA to osmotic stress may also be varied over time.

In summary, our study clearly shows that JA can help plants better adapt to various intensities of osmotic stress. Moreover, this function varied among different stages of growth, and sometimes even the opposite result will occur. In the early stages of plant growth, when reproductive growth does not need to be considered, vegetative growth and defense occupy the most important aspects of plant life. At this time, JA inhibits the rapid growth of plants, thereby investing the remaining resources into the plant's defense system to achieve better adaptation to osmotic stress. This ability of JA might be achieved through interaction (crosstalk) with other growth hormones, such as auxin, cytokinin, and GA. We also conclude that JA can promote the synthesis of many amino acids and secondary metabolites that are related to osmotic stress, thus are related to osmotic stress.

assisting the plants to have a greater ability to defend against osmotic stress. When plants are subjected to osmotic stress, JA and ABA can accumulate in a short time as a hormone, and induce the expression of related genes, produce proteins that are related to osmotic stress resistance, eliminate adverse conditions, and ultimately adapt well to osmotic stress. Although ABA can be synthesized separately under stress conditions in the absence of JA, the presence of JA can significantly promote the accumulation of ABA in rice shoots, which indicates that JA may be involved in one or part of the biosynthetic pathway of ABA, but not all of the pathways. Since we found that JAs' increase in roots was transient, whereas JAs accumulated in shoots over time, we propose that, in roots, jasmonates are utilized in order to induce molecular signals to arouse the defense system in plants. In contrast, in the shoot, jasmonates probably help the plant to adapt to harsh environments through certain morphological and physiological changes towards adaption and more efficient water usage. Both ABA and JA synthesis under osmotic stress can promote the reduction of stomatal conductance in rice. It is likely that JA and ABA work together on stomas opening and closing in a synergistic manner. In addition, the accumulation of JA and ROS is related; specifically, the increase of JA may correlate with the increase of ROS content, which is at a high level and most likely a toxic substance. It is also not clear whether the decrease in ROS is caused by the blocked synthesis that is related to JA, or the mechanism of elimination of ROS is augmented in the presence of JA. Finally, from a morphological perspective, JA promotes an increase in the amount of root system, which resulted in the increase of root surface area, which subsequently may lead to the increase of water absorption ability and more resistance to osmotic stress. Finally, JA-mediated defense against osmotic stress in plants is quite complicated. What makes the situation even more complex is that JA-mediated adaptation to osmotic in rice varies among different stages.

5. Outlook

As our study demonstrated, JA has different osmotic stress resistance to rice at different growth stages. However, we only described this phenomenon in our study. In following studies, we feel that it is necessary to further study the relationship between age and JA. We are particularly interested in the conditions under which JA has a negative effect on rice resistance (when and why). Moreover, changes in the content of many amino acids under osmotic stress were measured in our study. Most of these amino acids accumulated more in WT and some more in *cpm2*. Apart from the fact that the functions of amino acids, such as proline, have been studied thoroughly, it is not yet clear what role a large proportion of amino acids plays in the process of osmotic stress. So, much work can be done to determine the role of these amino acids in osmotic stress. In addition, one of the synthetic pathways of ABA in our study may be related to JA, but there is no indication of JA's involvement in ABA synthesis and how JA affects ABA synthesis.



6. Appendix

Figure S1. Asparagine, allantoin, β -Alanine, β -Cyanoalanine, coumaroylquinic acid, and feruloylquinic acid in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and cpm2 were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) asparagine, (B) allantoin, (C) β -Alanine, (D) β -Cyanoalanine, (E) coumaroylquinic acid, and (F) feruloylquinic acid were quantified relative to control plants (WT and cpm2 at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.



Figure S2. Ferulic acid, gallic acid, γ -tocopherol, glutamine, galactinol, and galacturonic acid in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (cpm2) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and cpm2 were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) ferulic acid, (B) gallic acid, (C) γ -tocopherol, (D) glutamine, (E) galactinol, and (F) galacturonic acid were quantified relative to control plants (WT and cpm2 at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.



Figure S3. Glyceric acid, glycine, homoglutamic acid, 2-hydroxybenzoic acid, isoleucine, and lysine in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (cpm2) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and cpm2 were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) glyceric acid, (B) glycine, (C) homoglutamic acid, (D) 2-Hydroxybenzoic acid, (E) isoleucine, and (F) lysine were quantified relative to control plants (WT and cpm2 at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.



Figure S4. Methionine, malic acid, phosphate, phosphorylethanolamine, 3-phosphoglyceric acid, and phenylalanine in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (cpm2) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and cpm2 were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) methionine, (B) malic acid, (C) phosphate, (D) phosphorylethanolamine, (E) 3-phosphoglyceric acid, and (F) phenylalanine were quantified relative to control plants (WT and cpm2 at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.





Figure S5. Tryptophan, tyramine, tyrosine, valine, and xylose in shoots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (cpm2) in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) after 6 h and 12 h. WT and cpm2 were exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000, red bars) treatment. The levels of (A) tryptophan, (B) tyramine, (C) tyrosine, (D) valine, and (E) xylose were quantified relative to control plants (WT and cpm2 at 0 time point, without any treatment). Values represent the mean of three independent experiments without error bar.



Figure S6. Transcriptional regulation of selected secondary metabolites related genes in response to osmotic stress (25% PEG 6000) in shoots and roots of wild type (WT) and JA biosynthesis mutants (*cpm2*). WT and *cpm2* have been exposed to control (water, black bars) and osmosis stress (25% PEG 6000) for 6 h and 12 h.



Figure S7. Different ages of rice (WT and *cpm2*) in response to osmotic stress. The rice was first incubated in 0.4% phytoagar medium (+ 0.344 g/L MS) for 7 d. Then, rice was transferred to water (+ 0.344 g/L MS) for (A) 1 d, (B), 3 d, (C) 5 d, (7) 7 d. Later, rice plants were treated with ⁸⁶

25% of PEG6000 for 24 h. In our study, when rice was cultured in water (+ 0.344 g/L MS) for 5 d, *cpm2* showed more tolerance to osmotic stress; whereas; in other time points, WT showed more tolerance to osmotic stress. The experiment was repeated four times.

7. References

- Abe, H., Urao, T., Ito, T., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2003)
 Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. The plant cell, 15(1), 63-78.
- Abebe, T., Guenzi, A.C., Martin, B., Cushman, J.C. (2003) Tolerance of mannitol-accumulating transgenic wheat to water stress and salinity. Plant Physiology, 131(4), 1748-1755.
- Ai, L., Li, Z., Xie, Z., Tian, X., Eneji, A., Duan, L. (2008) Coronatine alleviates polyethylene glycol-induced water stress in two rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, **194**(5), 360-368.
- Alam, M.M., Nahar, K., Hasanuzzaman, M., Fujita, M. (2014) Exogenous jasmonic acid modulates the physiology, antioxidant defense and glyoxalase systems in imparting drought stress tolerance in different Brassica species. Plant Biotechnology Reports, 8(3), 279-293.
- Aldridge, D., Galt, S., Giles, D., Turner, W. (1971) Metabolites of Lasiodiplodia theobromae. Journal of the Chemical Society C: Organic, 1623-1627.
- Ali, M.B., Yu, K.-W., Hahn, E.-J., Paek, K.-Y. (2006) Methyl jasmonate and salicylic acid elicitation induces ginsenosides accumulation, enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant in suspension culture Panax ginseng roots in bioreactors. Plant Cell Reports, 25(6), 613-620.
- Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D.D., Hogg, E.T. (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. Forest ecology and management, 259(4), 660-684.
- Alvarez, S., Marsh, E.L., Schroeder, S.G., Schachtman, D.P. (2008) Metabolomic and proteomic changes in the xylem sap of maize under drought. Plant, Cell & Environment, **31**(3), 325-340.

Anyia, A. and Herzog, H. (2004) Water-use efficiency, leaf area and leaf gas exchange

of cowpeas under mid-season drought. European Journal of Agronomy, **20**(4), 327-339.

- Apel, K. and Hirt, H. (2004) Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., **55**, 373-399.
- Araújo, W.L., Fernie, A.R., Nunes-Nesi, A. (2011) Control of stomatal aperture: a renaissance of the old guard. Plant signaling & behavior, **6**(9), 1305-1311.
- Argueso, C.T., Ferreira, F.J., Kieber, J.J. (2009) Environmental perception avenues: the interaction of cytokinin and environmental response pathways. Plant, Cell & Environment, **32**(9), 1147-1160.
- Ashraf, M. and Harris, P. (2004) Potential biochemical indicators of salinity tolerance in plants. Plant science, **166**(1), 3-16.
- Bailey-Serres, J., Fukao, T., Gibbs, D.J., Holdsworth, M.J., Lee, S.C., Licausi, F., Perata, P., Voesenek, L.A., van Dongen, J.T. (2012) Making sense of low oxygen sensing. Trends in plant science, 17(3), 129-138.
- Balbi, V. and Devoto, A. (2008) Jasmonate signalling network in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: crucial regulatory nodes and new physiological scenarios. New Phytologist, 177(2), 301-318.
- Balcke, G.U., Handrick, V., Bergau, N., Fichtner, M., Henning, A., Stellmach, H., Tissier, A., Hause, B., Frolov, A. (2012) An UPLC-MS/MS method for highly sensitive high-throughput analysis of phytohormones in plant tissues. Plant methods, 8(1), 47.
- Baluška, F., Mancuso, S., Volkmann, D., Barlow, P. (2004) Root apices as plant command centres: the unique 'brain-like'status of the root apex transition zone. Biologia, 59(Suppl 13), 7-19.
- Bandurska, H., Stroiński, A., Kubiś, J. (2003) The effect of jasmonic acid on the accumulation of ABA, proline and spermidine and its influence on membrane injury under water deficit in two barley genotypes. Acta physiologiae plantarum, 25(3), 279-285.
- Bari, R. and Jones, J.D. (2009) Role of plant hormones in plant defence responses.Plant molecular biology, 69(4), 473-488.

- Barrero, J.M., Rodr Éuez, P.L., Quesada, V., Piqueras, P., Ponce, M.R., Micol, J.L. (2006) Both abscisic acid (ABA)-dependent and ABA-independent pathways govern the induction of NCED3, AAO3 and ABA1 in response to salt stress. Plant, Cell & Environment, **29**(10), 2000-2008.
- Bartels, D. and Sunkar, R. (2005) Drought and salt tolerance in plants. Critical reviews in plant sciences, **24**(1), 23-58.
- Battaglia, M., Olvera-Carrillo, Y., Garciarrubio, A., Campos, F., Covarrubias, A.A. (2008) The enigmatic LEA proteins and other hydrophilins. Plant physiology, 148(1), 6-24.
- Baud, S., Vaultier, M.N., Rochat, C. (2004) Structure and expression profile of the sucrose synthase multigene family in *Arabidopsis*. Journal of experimental botany, 55(396), 397-409.
- Baulcombe, D., Crute, I., Davies, B., Dunwell, J., Gale, M., Jones, J., Pretty, J., Sutherland, W., Toulmin, C. (2009) Reaping the benefits: science and the sustainable intensification of global agriculture. London, UK: The Royal Society.
- Becraft, P.W. (2002) Receptor kinase signaling in plant development. Annual review of cell and developmental biology, **18**(1), 163-192.
- Benjamin, J. and Nielsen, D. (2006) Water deficit effects on root distribution of soybean, field pea and chickpea. Field crops research, 97(2-3), 248-253.
- Bertoni, G. (2012) Oxylipins and plant palatability, Plant Cell 24, 1305–1305.
- Bies-Etheve, N., Gaubier-Comella, P., Debures, A., Lasserre, E., Jobet, E., Raynal, M., Cooke, R., Delseny, M. (2008) Inventory, evolution and expression profiling diversity of the LEA (late embryogenesis abundant) protein gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant molecular biology, **67**(1-2), 107-124.
- Bohnert, H.J., Nelson, D.E., Jensen, R.G. (1995) Adaptations to environmental stresses. The plant cell, **7**(7), 1099.
- Bowles, D.J. (1990) Defense-related proteins in higher plants. Annual review of biochemistry, **59**(1), 873-907.
- Boyer, J.S. (2009) Evans Review: Cell wall biosynthesis and the molecular 90

mechanism of plant enlargement. Functional Plant Biology, 36(5), 383-394.

- Bradford, K. and Hsiao, T. (1982) Physiological responses to moderate water stress. In Physiological plant ecology II, Springer: pp 263-324.
- Bright, J., Desikan, R., Hancock, J.T., Weir, I.S., Neill, S.J. (2006) ABA-induced NO generation and stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis* are dependent on H₂O₂ synthesis. The Plant Journal, **45**(1), 113-122.
- Burg, M.B., Kwon, E.D., Kültz, D. (1996) Osmotic regulation of gene expression. The FASEB Journal, 10(14), 1598-1606.
- Busk, P.K. and Pagès, M. (1998) Regulation of abscisic acid-induced transcription. Plant molecular biology, **37**(3), 425-435.
- Carvalho, K., Petkowicz, C.L., Nagashima, G.T., Bespalhok Filho, J.C., Vieira, L.G., Pereira, L.F., Domingues, D.S. (2014) Homeologous genes involved in mannitol synthesis reveal unequal contributions in response to abiotic stress in *Coffea arabica*. Molecular genetics and genomics, **289**(5), 951-963.
- Casson, S. and Gray, J.E. (2008) Influence of environmental factors on stomatal development. New Phytologist, **178**(1), 9-23.
- Charlton, W.L., Matsui, K., Johnson, B., Graham, I.A., OHME-TAKAGI, M., Baker,
 A. (2005) Salt-induced expression of peroxisome-associated genes requires components of the ethylene, jasmonate and abscisic acid signalling pathways.
 Plant, Cell & Environment, 28(4), 513-524.
- Chaves, M. and Oliveira, M. (2004) Mechanisms underlying plant resilience to water deficits: prospects for water-saving agriculture. Journal of experimental botany, 55(407), 2365-2384.
- Chaves, M.M., Flexas, J., Pinheiro, C. (2009) Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. Annals of botany, 103(4), 551-560.
- Chaves, M.M., Maroco, J.P., Pereira, J.S. (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought-from genes to the whole plant. Functional Plant Biology, **30**(3), 239-264.
- Cheeseman, J.M. (2007) Hydrogen peroxide and plant stress: a challenging 91
relationship. Plant stress, 1(1), 4-15.

- Chehab, E.W., Yao, C., Henderson, Z., Kim, S., Braam, J. (2012) Arabidopsis touch-induced morphogenesis is jasmonate mediated and protects against pests. Current Biology, 22(8), 701-706.
- Chen, W., Provart, N.J., Glazebrook, J., Katagiri, F., Chang, H.-S., Eulgem, T., Mauch, F., Luan, S., Zou, G., Whitham, S.A. (2002) Expression profile matrix of *Arabidopsis* transcription factor genes suggests their putative functions in response to environmental stresses. The plant cell, **14**(3), 559-574.
- Chen, W., Yao, X., Cai, K., Chen, J. (2011) Silicon alleviates drought stress of rice plants by improving plant water status, photosynthesis and mineral nutrient absorption. Biological trace element research, 142(1), 67-76.
- Chen, W.J. and Zhu, T. (2004) Networks of transcription factors with roles in environmental stress response. Trends in plant science, **9**(12), 591-596.
- Cheng, S.-H., Zhuang, J.-Y., Fan, Y.-Y., Du, J.-H., Cao, L.-Y. (2007) Progress in research and development on hybrid rice: a super-domesticate in China. Annals of botany, **100**(5), 959-966.
- Chini, A., Fonseca, S., Fernandez, G., Adie, B., Chico, J., Lorenzo, O., Garcia-Casado,G., Lopez-Vidriero, I., Lozano, F., Ponce, M. (2007) The JAZ family ofrepressors is the missing link in jasmonate signalling. Nature, 448(7154), 666.
- Choi, H.-i., Hong, J.-h., Ha, J.-o., Kang, J.-y., Kim, S.Y. (2000) ABFs, a family of ABA-responsive element binding factors. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275(3), 1723-1730.
- Choudhary, N., Sairam, R., Tyagi, A. (2005) Expression of ∆¹-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase gene during drought in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Indian J Biochem Biophys, **42** (6): 366-370.
- Chung, H.S., Niu, Y., Browse, J., Howe, G.A. (2009) Top hits in contemporary JAZ: an update on jasmonate signaling. Phytochemistry, **70**(13-14), 1547-1559.
- Cornic, G. (2000) Drought stress inhibits photosynthesis by decreasing stomatal aperture-not by affecting ATP synthesis. Trends in plant science, **5**(5), 187-188.

- Croteau, R., Kutchan, T.M., Lewis, N.G. (2000) Natural products (secondary metabolites). Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants, **24**, 1250-1319.
- Cruz de Carvalho, M.H. (2008) Drought stress and reactive oxygen species: production, scavenging and signaling. Plant signaling & behavior, **3**(3), 156-165.
- Demole, E., Lederer, E., Mercier, D. (1962) Isolement et d'érmination de la structure du jasmonate de m'éhyle, constituant odorant caract éristique de l'essence de jasmin. Helvetica Chimica Acta, **45**(2), 675-685.
- Denis, V. and Cyert, M.S. (2002) Internal Ca²⁺ release in yeast is triggered by hypertonic shock and mediated by a TRP channel homologue. J Cell Biol, 156(1), 29-34.
- Devoto, A., Ellis, C., Magusin, A., Chang, H.-S., Chilcott, C., Zhu, T., Turner, J.G. (2005) Expression profiling reveals COI1 to be a key regulator of genes involved in wound-and methyl jasmonate-induced secondary metabolism, defence, and hormone interactions. Plant molecular biology, 58(4), 497-513.
- Devoto, A., Nieto-Rostro, M., Xie, D., Ellis, C., Harmston, R., Patrick, E., Davis, J., Sherratt, L., Coleman, M., Turner, J.G. (2002) COI1 links jasmonate signalling and fertility to the SCF ubiquitin-ligase complex in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Journal, **32**(4), 457-466.
- Dhakarey, R., Raorane, M.L., Treumann, A., Peethambaran, P.K., Schendel, R.R., Sahi, V.P., Hause, B., Bunzel, M., Henry, A., Kohli, A. (2017) Physiological and proteomic analysis of the rice mutant *cpm2* suggests a negative regulatory role of jasmonic acid in drought tolerance. Frontiers in plant science, 8, 1903.
- Di évart, A. and Clark, S.E. (2003) Using mutant alleles to determine the structure and function of leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinases. Current opinion in plant biology, **6**(5), 507-516.
- Ding, H., Gao, J., Qin, C., Ma, H., Huang, H., Song, P., Luo, X., Lin, H., Shen, Y.o., Pan, G. (2014) The dynamics of DNA methylation in maize roots under Pb stress. International journal of molecular sciences, 15(12), 23537-23554.
- Dobson, H. and Smith, R. (2000) What is stress, and how does it affect reproduction? 93

Animal reproduction science, **60**, 743-752.

- Dorosh, P.A. (2001) Trade liberalization and national food security: Rice trade between Bangladesh and India. World Development, **29**(4), 673-689.
- Dubouzet, J.G., Sakuma, Y., Ito, Y., Kasuga, M., Dubouzet, E.G., Miura, S., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2003) OsDREB genes in rice, *Oryza* sativa L., encode transcription activators that function in drought-, high-saltand cold-responsive gene expression. The Plant Journal, **33**(4), 751-763.
- Dure III, L. (1993) A repeating 11-mer amino acid motif and plant desiccation. The Plant Journal, **3**(3), 363-369.
- El-Samad, H.A., Shaddad, M., Barakat, N. (2011) Improvement of plants salt tolerance by exogenous application of amino acids. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research, 5(24), 5692-5699.
- Escalona, J.M., Flexas, J., Medrano, H. (2000) Stomatal and non-stomatal limitations of photosynthesis under water stress in field-grown grapevines. Functional Plant Biology, 27(1), 87-87.
- Evans, N.H. (2003) Modulation of guard cell plasma membrane potassium currents by methyl jasmonate. Plant physiology, **131**(1), 8-11.
- Fageria, N.K., Baligar, V.C., Jones, C.A. (1997) Growth and mineral nutrition of field crops. 2nd edition Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, NY.
- Farmer, E.E. and Ryan, C.A. (1992) Octadecanoid precursors of jasmonic acid activate the synthesis of wound-inducible proteinase inhibitors. The Plant Cell, 4(2), 129-134.
- Feng, L., Gao, Z., Xiao, G., Huang, R., Zhang, H. (2014) Leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinase FON1 regulates drought stress and seed germination by activating the expression of ABA-responsive genes in rice. Plant molecular biology reporter, **32**(6), 1158-1168.
- Feng, S., Ma, L., Wang, X., Xie, D., Dinesh-Kumar, S., Wei, N., Deng, X.W. (2003) The COP9 signalosome interacts physically with SCF^{COI1} and modulates jasmonate responses. The Plant Cell, 15(5), 1083-1094.
- Feys, B.J., Benedetti, C.E., Penfold, C.N., Turner, J.G. (1994) Arabidopsis mutants 94

selected for resistance to the phytotoxin coronatine are male sterile, insensitive to methyl jasmonate, and resistant to a bacterial pathogen. The plant cell, 6(5), 751-759.

- Flexas, J., Bota, J., Loreto, F., Cornic, G., Sharkey, T. (2004) Diffusive and metabolic limitations to photosynthesis under drought and salinity in C₃ plants. Plant biology, 6(3), 269-279.
- Fonseca, S., Chini, A., Hamberg, M., Adie, B., Porzel, A., Kramell, R., Miersch, O., Wasternack, C., Solano, R. (2009) (+)-7-iso-Jasmonoyl-L-isoleucine is the endogenous bioactive jasmonate. Nature chemical biology, 5(5), 344.
- Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Maruyama, K., Seki, M., Hiratsu, K., Ohme-Takagi, M., Tran, L.S.P., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Shinozaki, K. (2004) A dehydration-induced NAC protein, RD26, is involved in a novel ABA-dependent stress-signaling pathway. The Plant Journal, **39**(6), 863-876.
- Fujita, M., Fujita, Y., Noutoshi, Y., Takahashi, F., Narusaka, Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki,
 K., Shinozaki, K. (2006) Crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress responses:
 a current view from the points of convergence in the stress signaling networks.
 Current opinion in plant biology, 9(4), 436-442.
- Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2011) ABA-mediated transcriptional regulation in response to osmotic stress in plants. Journal of plant research, 124(4), 509-525.
- Fukao, T., Yeung, E., Bailey-Serres, J. (2011) The submergence tolerance regulator SUB1A mediates crosstalk between submergence and drought tolerance in rice. The Plant Cell, tpc. 110.080325.
- G ámez-Porras, J.L., Ria ño-Pach án, D.M., Dreyer, I., Mayer, J.E., Mueller-Roeber, B.
 (2007) Genome-wide analysis of ABA-responsive elements ABRE and CE3 reveals divergent patterns in *Arabidopsis* and rice. BMC genomics, 8(1), 260.
- Gagneul, D., A nouche, A., Duhaz é, C., Lugan, R., Larher, F.R., Bouchereau, A. (2007) A reassessment of the function of the so-called compatible solutes in the halophytic Plumbaginaceae *Limonium latifolium*. Plant Physiology, **144**(3), 1598-1611.

- Galli, U., Schüepp, H., Brunold, C. (1994) Heavy metal binding by mycorrhizal fungi. Physiologia plantarum, **92**(2), 364-368.
- García-Mata, C. and Lamattina, L. (2001) Nitric oxide induces stomatal closure and enhances the adaptive plant responses against drought stress. Plant Physiology, 126(3), 1196-1204.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L., Fink, G.R.
 (2001) Drought-and salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the
 AVP1 H+-pump. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(20), 11444-11449.
- Geisler, M., Nadeau, J., Sack, F.D. (2000) Oriented asymmetric divisions that generate the stomatal spacing pattern in *Arabidopsis* are disrupted by the too many mouths mutation. The Plant Cell, **12**(11), 2075-2086.
- Gfeller, A., Liechti, R., Farmer, E.E. (2010) Arabidopsis jasmonate signaling pathway. Sci. Signal., 3(109), cm4-cm4.
- Ghoulam, C., Foursy, A., Fares, K. (2002) Effects of salt stress on growth, inorganic ions and proline accumulation in relation to osmotic adjustment in five sugar beet cultivars. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 47(1), 39-50.
- Gibbs, H.K., Ruesch, A.S., Achard, F., Clayton, M.K., Holmgren, P., Ramankutty, N., Foley, J.A. (2010) Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, **107**(38), 16732-16737.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M., Toulmin, C. (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science, 1185383.
- Gould, N., Reglinski, T., Spiers, M., Taylor, J.T. (2008) Physiological trade-offs associated with methyl jasmonate-induced resistance in *Pinus radiata*. Canadian journal of forest research, **38**(4), 677-684.
- Haake, V., Cook, D., Riechmann, J., Pineda, O., Thomashow, M.F., Zhang, J.Z. (2002)
 Transcription factor CBF4 is a regulator of drought adaptation in *Arabidopsis*.
 Plant Physiology, **130**(2), 639-648.

- Haffani, Y.Z., Silva, N.F., Goring, D.R. (2004) Receptor kinase signalling in plants. Canadian journal of botany, **82**(1), 1-15.
- Harris, M.K. (1975) Allopatric resistance: searching for sources of insect resistance for use in agriculture. Environmental Entomology, 4(5), 661-669.
- Hattori, K., Heissig, B., Wu, Y., Dias, S., Tejada, R., Ferris, B., Hicklin, D.J., Zhu, Z.,
 Bohlen, P., Witte, L. (2002) Placental growth factor reconstitutes hematopoiesis by recruiting VEGFR1⁺ stem cells from bone-marrow microenvironment. Nature medicine, 8(8), 841.
- Hause, B., Maier, W., Miersch, O., Kramell, R., Strack, D. (2002) Induction of jasmonate biosynthesis in arbuscular mycorrhizal barley roots. Plant Physiology, 130(3), 1213-1220.
- Hause, B., Stenzel, I., Miersch, O., Maucher, H., Kramell, R., Ziegler, J., Wasternack,
 C. (2000) Tissue-specific oxylipin signature of tomato flowers: allene oxide
 cyclase is highly expressed in distinct flower organs and vascular bundles. The
 Plant Journal, 24(1), 113-126.
- Hazman, M., Hause, B., Eiche, E., Nick, P., Riemann, M. (2015) Increased tolerance to salt stress in OPDA-deficient rice ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE mutants is linked to an increased ROS-scavenging activity. Journal of experimental botany, 66(11), 3339-3352.
- Heijari, J., Nerg, A.M., Kainulainen, P., Viiri, H., Vuorinen, M., Holopainen, J.K. (2005) Application of methyl jasmonate reduces growth but increases chemical defence and resistance against *Hylobius abietis* in Scots pine seedlings. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, **115**(1), 117-124.
- Herrero, A. and Zamora, R. (2014) Plant responses to extreme climatic events: a field test of resilience capacity at the southern range edge. Plos one, **9**(1), e87842.
- Hetherington, A.M. and Woodward, F.I. (2003) The role of stomata in sensing and driving environmental change. Nature, **424**(6951), 901.
- Hoekstra, F.A., Golovina, E.A., Buitink, J. (2001) Mechanisms of plant desiccation tolerance. Trends in plant science, **6**(9), 431-438.
- Hossain, M.A., Munemasa, S., Uraji, M., Nakamura, Y., Mori, I.C., Murata, Y. (2011) 97

Involvement of endogenous abscisic acid in methyl jasmonate-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis*. Plant physiology, pp. 111.172254.

- Howe, G.A. (2010) Ubiquitin ligase-coupled receptors extend their reach to jasmonate. Plant physiology, **154**(2), 471-474.
- Hu, B., Hong, L., Liu, X., Xiao, S., Lv, Y., Li, L. (2013a) Identification of different ABA biosynthesis sites at seedling and fruiting stages in *Arachis hypogaea* L. following water stress. Plant growth regulation, **70**(2), 131-140.
- Hu, Y., Jiang, L., Wang, F., Yu, D. (2013b) Jasmonate regulates the inducer of CBF expression–c-repeat binding factor/DRE binding factor1 cascade and freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Cell, tpc. 113.112631.
- Huang, B. and Fry, J.D. (1998) Root anatomical, physiological, and morphological responses to drought stress for tall fescue cultivars. Crop Science, **38**(4), 1017-1022.
- Huang, H., Liu, B., Liu, L., Song, S. (2017) Jasmonate action in plant growth and development. Journal of experimental botany, 68(6), 1349-1359.
- Huntingford, C., Smith, D.M., Davies, W.J., Falk, R., Sitch, S., Mercado, L.M. (2015) Combining the [ABA] and net photosynthesis-based model equations of stomatal conductance. Ecological modelling, **300**, 81-88.
- Ingram, J. and Bartels, D. (1996) The molecular basis of dehydration tolerance in plants. Annual review of plant biology, **47**(1), 377-403.
- Irigoyen, J., Einerich, D., Sánchez-Díaz, M. (1992) Water stress induced changes in concentrations of proline and total soluble sugars in nodulated alfalfa (*Medicago sativd*) plants. Physiologia plantarum, 84(1), 55-60.
- Islam, M.M., Hoque, M.A., Okuma, E., Banu, M.N.A., Shimoishi, Y., Nakamura, Y., Murata, Y. (2009) Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase antioxidant enzyme activities and confer tolerance to cadmium stress in cultured tobacco cells. Journal of plant physiology, **166**(15), 1587-1597.
- Ismail, A., Takeda, S., Nick, P. (2014) Life and death under salt stress: same players, different timing? Journal of experimental botany, **65**(12), 2963-2979.

Jang, I.-C., Oh, S.-J., Seo, J.-S., Choi, W.-B., Song, S.I., Kim, C.H., Kim, Y.S., Seo, 98

H.-S., Do Choi, Y., Nahm, B.H. (2003) Expression of a bifunctional fusion of the *Escherichia coli* genes for trehalose-6-phosphate synthase and trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase in transgenic rice plants increases trehalose accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance without stunting growth. Plant Physiology, **131**(2), 516-524.

- Kang, D.J., Seo, Y.J., Lee, J.D., Ishii, R., Kim, K., Shin, D., Park, S., Jang, S., Lee, I.J. (2005) Jasmonic acid differentially affects growth, ion uptake and abscisic acid concentration in salt-tolerant and salt-sensitive rice cultivars. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, **191**(4), 273-282.
- Kang, S., Kang, K., Lee, K., Back, K. (2007) Characterization of rice tryptophan decarboxylases and their direct involvement in serotonin biosynthesis in transgenic rice. Planta, 227(1), 263-272.
- Kasuga, M., Liu, Q., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Shinozaki, K. (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. Nature biotechnology, **17**(3), 287.
- Katsir, L., Chung, H.S., Koo, A.J., Howe, G.A. (2008) Jasmonate signaling: a conserved mechanism of hormone sensing. Current opinion in plant biology, 11(4), 428-435.
- Kawamura, Y., Takenaka, S., Hase, S., Kubota, M., Ichinose, Y., Kanayama, Y., Nakaho, K., Klessig, D.F., Takahashi, H. (2009) Enhanced defense responses in *Arabidopsis* induced by the cell wall protein fractions from Pythium oligandrum require SGT1, RAR1, NPR1 and JAR1. Plant and cell physiology, 50(5), 924-934.
- Kazan, K. and Manners, J.M. (2008) Jasmonate signaling: toward an integrated view. Plant Physiology, **146**(4), 1459-1468.
- Kim, H., Hwang, H., Hong, J.-W., Lee, Y.-N., Ahn, I.P., Yoon, I.S., Yoo, S.-D., Lee, S., Lee, S.C., Kim, B.-G. (2011) A rice orthologue of the ABA receptor, OsPYL/RCAR5, is a positive regulator of the ABA signal transduction pathway in seed germination and early seedling growth. Journal of experimental botany, 63(2), 1013-1024.

- Kim, J. (2007) Perception, transduction, and networks in cold signaling. Journal of Plant Biology, 50(2), 139-147.
- Kind, T., Wohlgemuth, G., Lee, D.Y., Lu, Y., Palazoglu, M., Shahbaz, S., Fiehn, O. (2009) FiehnLib: mass spectral and retention index libraries for metabolomics based on quadrupole and time-of-flight gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Analytical chemistry, 81(24), 10038-10048.
- Kombrink, E. (2012) Chemical and genetic exploration of jasmonate biosynthesis and signaling paths. Planta, **236**(5), 1351-1366.
- Kondo, S., Kittikorn, M., Kanlayanarat, S. (2005) Preharvest antioxidant activities of tropical fruit and the effect of low temperature storage on antioxidants and jasmonates. Postharvest Biology and Technology, 36(3), 309-318.
- Kondo, S., Tomiyama, A., Seto, H. (2000) Changes of endogenous jasmonic acid and methyl jasmonate in apples and sweet cherries during fruit development. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 125(3), 282-287.
- Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W.-L., Tena, G., Sheen, J. (2000) Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(6), 2940-2945.
- Kramell, R., Atzorn, R., Schneider, G., Miersch, O., Brückner, C., Schmidt, J., Sembdner, G., Parthier, B. (1995) Occurrence and identification of jasmonic acid and its amino acid conjugates induced by osmotic stress in barley leaf tissue. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, 14(1), 29.
- Kranner, I., Minibayeva, F.V., Beckett, R.P., Seal, C.E. (2010) What is stress? Concepts, definitions and applications in seed science. New Phytologist, 188(3), 655-673.
- Kurotani, K.-i., Hayashi, K., Hatanaka, S., Toda, Y., Ogawa, D., Ichikawa, H., Ishimaru, Y., Tashita, R., Suzuki, T., Ueda, M. (2015) Elevated levels of CYP94 family gene expression alleviate the jasmonate response and enhance salt tolerance in rice. Plant and cell physiology, 56(4), 779-789.
- Kushibuchi, K. (1997) Historical changes in rice cultivars. Science of the Rice Plant.3. Genetics.

- La Camera, S., Gouzerh, G., Dhondt, S., Hoffmann, L., Fritig, B., Legrand, M., Heitz, T. (2004) Metabolic reprogramming in plant innate immunity: the contributions of phenylpropanoid and oxylipin pathways. Immunological reviews, **198**(1), 267-284.
- Larronde, F., Gaudillère, J.P., Krisa, S., Decendit, A., Deffieux, G., Mérillon, J.M. (2003) Airborne methyl jasmonate induces stilbene accumulation in leaves and berries of grapevine plants. American Journal of Enology and Viticulture, 54(1), 63-66.
- Lawson, T., Oxborough, K., Morison, J.I., Baker, N.R. (2003) The responses of guard and mesophyll cell photosynthesis to CO₂, O₂, light, and water stress in a range of species are similar. Journal of experimental botany, **54**(388), 1743-1752.
- Lee, K.H., Singh, A.P., Kim, Y.S. (2007) Cellular characteristics of a traumatic frost ring in the secondary xylem of Pinus radiata. Trees, **21**(4), 403-410.
- Lee, M.-W., Qi, M., Yang, Y. (2001) A novel jasmonic acid-inducible rice myb gene associates with fungal infection and host cell death. Molecular plant-microbe interactions, **14**(4), 527-535.
- Lee, S., Lee, E.J., Yang, E.J., Lee, J.E., Park, A.R., Song, W.H., Park, O.K. (2004) Proteomic identification of annexins, calcium-dependent membrane binding proteins that mediate osmotic stress and abscisic acid signal transduction in *Arabidopsis*. The plant cell, **16**(6), 1378-1391.
- Leveau, J.H. and Lindow, S.E. (2005) Utilization of the plant hormone indole-3-acetic acid for growth by *Pseudomonas putida* strain 1290. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, **71**(5), 2365-2371.
- Li, P., Yin, Y.-L., Li, D., Kim, S.W., Wu, G. (2007) Amino acids and immune function. British Journal of Nutrition, **98**(2), 237-252.
- Lin-Wang, K., Micheletti, D., Palmer, J., Volz, R., Lozano, L., Espley, R., Hellens, R.P., Chagne, D., Rowan, D.D., Troggio, M. (2011) High temperature reduces apple fruit colour via modulation of the anthocyanin regulatory complex. Plant, Cell & Environment, **34**(7), 1176-1190.

- Linkies, A. and Leubner-Metzger, G. (2012) Beyond gibberellins and abscisic acid: how ethylene and jasmonates control seed germination. Plant cell reports, 31(2), 253-270.
- Liu, J., Kadiiska, M.B., Liu, Y., Lu, T., Qu, W., Waalkes, M.P. (2001) Stress-related gene expression in mice treated with inorganic arsenicals. Toxicological Sciences, 61(2), 314-320.
- Liu, L., Li, H., Zeng, H., Cai, Q., Zhou, X., Yin, C. (2016) Exogenous jasmonic acid and cytokinin antagonistically regulate rice flag leaf senescence by mediating chlorophyll degradation, membrane deterioration, and senescence-associated genes expression. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, **35**(2), 366-376.
- Liu, Y., Zheng, Y., Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Li, R. (2010) Soybean PM2 protein (LEA3) confers the tolerance of *Escherichia coli* and stabilization of enzyme activity under diverse stresses. Current microbiology, **60**(5), 373-378.
- Loescher, W.H., Tyson, R.H., Everard, J.D., Redgwell, R.J., Bieleski, R.L. (1992) Mannitol synthesis in higher plants: evidence for the role and characterization of a NADPH-dependent mannose 6-phosphate reductase. Plant Physiology, 98(4), 1396-1402.
- Lorenzo, O., Piqueras, R., Sánchez-Serrano, J.J., Solano, R. (2003) ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR1 integrates signals from ethylene and jasmonate pathways in plant defense. The Plant Cell, **15**(1), 165-178.
- Loveys, B., Stoll, M., Davies, W. (2004) Physiological approaches to enhance water use efficiency in agriculture: exploiting plant signalling in novel irrigation practice. Water use efficiency in plant biology, 113-141.
- Lu, G., Gao, C., Zheng, X., Han, B. (2009) Identification of OsbZIP₇₂ as a positive regulator of ABA response and drought tolerance in rice. Planta, 229(3), 605-615.
- Luan, S. (2002a) Signalling drought in guard cells. Plant, Cell & Environment, **25**(2), 229-237.
- Luan, S. (2002b) Tyrosine phosphorylation in plant cell signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(18), 11567-11569.

- Møller, I.M., Jensen, P.E., Hansson, A. (2007) Oxidative modifications to cellular components in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., **58**, 459-481.
- Méndez-Bravo, A., Calder ón-Vázquez, C., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Raya-Gonz ález, J., Ram fez-Chávez, E., Molina-Torres, J., Guevara-Garc á, A.A., López-Bucio, J., Herrera-Estrella, L. (2011) Alkamides activate jasmonic acid biosynthesis and signaling pathways and confer resistance to Botrytis cinerea in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plos one, 6(11), e27251.
- Machado, R.A., Baldwin, I.T., Erb, M. (2017) Herbivory-induced jasmonates constrain plant sugar accumulation and growth by antagonizing gibberellin signaling and not by promoting secondary metabolite production. New Phytologist, 215(2), 803-812.
- Maeda, H. and Dudareva, N. (2012) The shikimate pathway and aromatic amino acid biosynthesis in plants. Annual review of plant biology, **63**, 73-105.
- Maggio, A., Reddy, M.P., Joly, R.J. (2000) Leaf gas exchange and solute accumulation in the halophyte *Salvadora persica* grown at moderate salinity. Environmental and Experimental Botany, **44**(1), 31-38.
- Mahajan, S. and Tuteja, N. (2005) Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, **444**(2), 139-158.
- Manchanda, G. and Garg, N. (2008) Salinity and its effects on the functional biology of legumes. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, **30**(5), 595-618.
- Marron, N., Dreyer, E., Boudouresque, E., Delay, D., Petit, J.-M., Delmotte, F.M., Brignolas, F. (2003) Impact of successive drought and re-watering cycles on growth and specific leaf area of two *Populus×canadensis* (Moench) clones, 'Dorskamp'and 'Luisa_Avanzo'. Tree Physiology, 23(18), 1225-1235.
- Mart ńez-Ferri, E., Balaguer, L., Valladares, F., Chico, J., Manrique, E. (2000) Energy dissipation in drought-avoiding and drought-tolerant tree species at midday during the Mediterranean summer. Tree Physiology, **20**(2), 131-138.
- Mayrose, M., Bonshtien, A., Sessa, G. (2004) LeMPK3 is a mitogen-activated protein kinase with dual specificity induced during tomato defense and wounding responses. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(15), 14819-14827.

- Mazel, A., Leshem, Y., Tiwari, B.S., Levine, A. (2004) Induction of salt and osmotic stress tolerance by overexpression of an intracellular vesicle trafficking protein *AtRab7* (*AtRabG3e*). Plant Physiology, **134**(1), 118-128.
- Meharg, A.A., Williams, P.N., Adomako, E., Lawgali, Y.Y., Deacon, C., Villada, A., Cambell, R.C., Sun, G., Zhu, Y.-G., Feldmann, J. (2009) Geographical variation in total and inorganic arsenic content of polished (white) rice. Environmental Science & Technology, 43(5), 1612-1617.
- Messing, S.A., Gabelli, S.B., Echeverria, I., Vogel, J.T., Guan, J.C., Tan, B.C., Klee, H.J., McCarty, D.R., Amzel, L.M. (2010) Structural insights into maize viviparous14, a key enzyme in the biosynthesis of the phytohormone abscisic acid. The Plant Cell, tpc. 110.074815.
- Mikołajczyk, M., Awotunde, O.S., Muszyńska, G., Klessig, D.F., Dobrowolska, G. (2000) Osmotic stress induces rapid activation of a salicylic acid-induced protein kinase and a homolog of protein kinase ASK1 in tobacco cells. The plant cell, **12**(1), 165-178.
- Millar, A.A., Jacobsen, J.V., Ross, J.J., Helliwell, C.A., Poole, A.T., Scofield, G., Reid, J.B., Gubler, F. (2006) Seed dormancy and ABA metabolism in *Arabidopsis* and barley: the role of ABA 8'-hydroxylase. The Plant Journal, 45(6), 942-954.
- Mittler, R. (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends in plant science, **7**(9), 405-410.
- Mittler, R. (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends in plant science, **11**(1), 15-19.
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V.B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., Van Breusegem, F. (2011) ROS signaling: the new wave? Trends in plant science, 16(6), 300-309.
- Miura, K. and Tada, Y. (2014) Regulation of water, salinity, and cold stress responses by salicylic acid. Frontiers in plant science, **5**, 4.
- Miyashita, K., Tanakamaru, S., Maitani, T., Kimura, K. (2005) Recovery responses of photosynthesis, transpiration, and stomatal conductance in kidney bean following drought stress. Environmental and Experimental Botany, **53**(2), 104

205-214.

- Mizoi, J., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2012) AP2/ERF family transcription factors in plant abiotic stress responses. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1819(2), 86-96.
- Mohammadkhani, N. and Heidari, R. (2008) Drought-induced accumulation of soluble sugars and proline in two maize varieties. World Appl. Sci. J, **3**(3), 448-453.
- Molinari, H.B.C., Marur, C.J., Bespalhok Filho, J.C., Kobayashi, A.K., Pileggi, M., Júnior, R.P.L., Pereira, L.F.P., Vieira, L.G.E. (2004) Osmotic adjustment in transgenic citrus rootstock Carrizo citrange (*Citrus sinensis* Osb. x *Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf.) overproducing proline. Plant Science, 167(6), 1375-1381.
- Munemasa, S., Oda, K., Watanabe-Sugimoto, M., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishi, Y., Murata, Y. (2007) The coronatine-insensitive 1 mutation reveals the hormonal signaling interaction between abscisic acid and methyl jasmonate in *Arabidopsis* guard cells. Specific impairment of ion channel activation and second messenger production. Plant physiology, **143**(3), 1398-1407.
- Munn éBosch, S. and Alegre, L. (2004) Die and let live: leaf senescence contributes to plant survival under drought stress. Functional Plant Biology, **31**(3), 203-216.
- Murakeozy, E.P., Nagy, Z., Duhaz é, C., Bouchereau, A., Tuba, Z. (2003) Seasonal changes in the levels of compatible osmolytes in three halophytic species of inland saline vegetation in Hungary. Journal of plant physiology, **160**(4), 395.
- Murphy, T.M., Vu, H., Nguyen, T. (1998) The superoxide synthases of rose cells: comparison of assays. Plant physiology, **117**(4), 1301-1305.
- Nadeau, J.A. and Sack, F.D. (2002) Control of stomatal distribution on the *Arabidopsis* leaf surface. Science, **296**(5573), 1697-1700.
- Nafie, E., Hathout, T., Mokadem, A., Shyma, A. (2011) Jasmonic acid elicits oxidative defense and detoxification systems in Cucumis melo L. cells. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology, 23(2), 161-174.

Nakashima, K., Tran, L.S.P., Van Nguyen, D., Fujita, M., Maruyama, K., Todaka, D., 105

Ito, Y., Hayashi, N., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2007) Functional analysis of a NAC-type transcription factor OsNAC6 involved in abiotic and biotic stress-responsive gene expression in rice. The Plant Journal, **51**(4), 617-630.

- Narusaka, Y., Nakashima, K., Shinwari, Z.K., Sakuma, Y., Furihata, T., Abe, H., Narusaka, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2003) Interaction between two cis-acting elements, ABRE and DRE, in ABA-dependent expression of *Arabidopsis* rd29A gene in response to dehydration and highsalinity stresses. The Plant Journal, **34**(2), 137-148.
- Negin, B. and Moshelion, M. (2016) The evolution of the role of ABA in the regulation of water-use efficiency: From biochemical mechanisms to stomatal conductance. Plant Science, 251, 82-89.
- Ni, B.-R. and Pallardy, S.G. (1992) Stomatal and nonstomatal limitations to net photosynthesis in seedlings of woody angiosperms. Plant Physiology, **99**(4), 1502-1508.
- Nick, P. (2013) Microtubules, signalling and abiotic stress. The Plant Journal, **75**(2), 309-323.
- Noctor, G., Mhamdi, A., Foyer, C.H. (2014) The roles of reactive oxygen metabolism in drought: not so cut and dried. Plant Physiology, pp. 113.233478.
- Normile, D. (2008) Reinventing rice to feed the world. Science, **321**(5887), 330-333.
- Ohno, R., Takumi, S., Nakamura, C. (2003) Kinetics of transcript and protein accumulation of a low-molecular-weight wheat LEA D-11 dehydrin in response to low temperature. Journal of plant physiology, **160**(2), 193-200.
- Ollas, C., Arbona, V., GóMez-Cadenas, A. (2015) Jasmonoyl isoleucine accumulation is needed for abscisic acid build-up in roots of *Arabidopsis* under water stress conditions. Plant, cell & environment, **38**(10), 2157-2170.
- Ollas, C., Hernando, B., Arbona, V., Gómez-Cadenas, A. (2013) Jasmonic acid transient accumulation is needed for abscisic acid increase in *citrus* roots under drought stress conditions. Physiologia plantarum, **147**(3), 296-306.
- Oren, A. and Gunde-Cimerman, N. (2007) Mycosporines and mycosporine-like amino 106

acids: UV protectants or multipurpose secondary metabolites? FEMS microbiology letters, **269**(1), 1-10.

- Pace, P., Cralle, H.T., El-Halawany, S.H., Cothren, J.T., Senseman, S.A. (1999)
 Drought-induced changes in shoot and root growth of young cotton plants. J.
 Cotton Sci, 3(4), 183-187.
- Parent, B., Hachez, C., Redondo, E., Simonneau, T., Chaumont, F., Tardieu, F. (2009)
 Drought and abscisic acid effects on aquaporin content translate into changes in hydraulic conductivity and leaf growth rate: a trans-scale approach. Plant Physiology, 149(4), 2000-2012.
- Park, J.H., Halitschke, R., Kim, H.B., Baldwin, I.T., Feldmann, K.A., Feyereisen, R. (2002) A knock-out mutation in allene oxide synthase results in male sterility and defective wound signal transduction in *Arabidopsis* due to a block in jasmonic acid biosynthesis. The Plant Journal, **31**(1), 1-12.
- Passioura, J. (1981) The role of root system characteristics in drought resistance of crop plants. In Special International *Symposium* on Principles and Methods of Crop Improvement for Drought Resistance: With Emphasis on Rice, College, Laguna (Philippines), 4-8 May 1981.
- Patakas, A., Nikolaou, N., Zioziou, E., Radoglou, K., Noitsakis, B. (2002) The role of organic solute and ion accumulation in osmotic adjustment in drought-stressed grapevines. Plant science, 163(2), 361-367.
- Patten, C.L. and Glick, B.R. (2002) Role of Pseudomonas putida indoleacetic acid in development of the host plant root system. Applied and environmental microbiology, 68(8), 3795-3801.
- Pauwels, L. and Goossens, A. (2011) The JAZ proteins: a crucial interface in the jasmonate signaling cascade. The Plant Cell, tpc. 111.089300.
- Pedranzani, H., Sierra-de-Grado, R., Vigliocco, A., Miersch, O., Abdala, G. (2007) Cold and water stresses produce changes in endogenous jasmonates in two populations of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. Plant growth regulation, **52**(2), 111-116.
- Peleg, Z. and Blumwald, E. (2011) Hormone balance and abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Current opinion in plant biology, **14**(3), 290-295.

- Peng, S., Laza, R., Visperas, R., Sanico, A., Cassman, K.G., Khush, G. (2000) Grain yield of rice cultivars and lines developed in the Philippines since 1966. Crop Science 40: 307-314.
- Pichersky, E. and Gershenzon, J. (2002) The formation and function of plant volatiles: perfumes for pollinator attraction and defense. Current opinion in plant biology, **5**(3), 237-243.
- Pinheiro, C. and Chaves, M. (2010) Photosynthesis and drought: can we make metabolic connections from available data? Journal of experimental botany, 62(3), 869-882.
- Pratiwi, P., Tanaka, G., Takahashi, T., Xie, X., Yoneyama, K., Matsuura, H., Takahashi, K. (2017) Identification of jasmonic acid and jasmonoyl-isoleucine, and characterization of AOS, AOC, OPR and JAR1 in the model lycophyte *Selaginella moellendorffii*. Plant and Cell Physiology, **58**(4), 789-801.
- Quan, R., Shang, M., Zhang, H., Zhao, Y., Zhang, J. (2004) Engineering of enhanced glycine betaine synthesis improves drought tolerance in maize. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 2(6), 477-486.
- Rahnama, A., James, R.A., Poustini, K., Munns, R. (2010) Stomatal conductance as a screen for osmotic stress tolerance in durum wheat growing in saline soil. Functional Plant Biology, 37(3), 255-263.
- Rai, V. (2002) Role of amino acids in plant responses to stresses. Biologia Plantarum, 45(4), 481-487.
- Ramanjulu, S. and Bartels, D. (2002) Drought-and desiccation-induced modulation of gene expression in plants. Plant, Cell & Environment, 25(2), 141-151.
- Rangel, D.E., Alston, D.G., Roberts, D.W. (2008) Effects of physical and nutritional stress conditions during mycelial growth on conidial germination speed, adhesion to host cuticle, and virulence of *Metarhizium anisopliae*, an entomopathogenic fungus. Mycological Research, **112**(11), 1355-1361.
- Rao, M.V., Lee, H.-i., Creelman, R.A., Mullet, J.E., Davis, K.R. (2000) Jasmonic acid signaling modulates ozone-induced hypersensitive cell death. The plant cell, 12(9), 1633-1646.

- Rawal, H., Singh, N., Sharma, T. (2013) Conservation, divergence, and genome-wide distribution of PAL and POX A gene families in plants. International journal of genomics, 2013, 678969.
- Reddy, A.R., Chaitanya, K.V., Vivekanandan, M. (2004) Drought-induced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. Journal of plant physiology, 161(11), 1189-1202.
- Reichert, A.I., He, X.-Z., Dixon, R.A. (2009) Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) from tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*): characterization of the four tobacco PAL genes and active heterotetrameric enzymes. Biochemical Journal, **424**(2), 233-242.
- Resco de Dios, V., Loik, M.E., Smith, R., Aspinwall, M.J., Tissue, D.T. (2016)
 Genetic variation in circadian regulation of nocturnal stomatal conductance enhances carbon assimilation and growth. Plant, Cell & Environment, 39(1), 3-11.
- Riemann, M., Dhakarey, R., Hazman, M., Miro, B., Kohli, A., Nick, P. (2015) Exploring jasmonates in the hormonal network of drought and salinity responses. Frontiers in plant science, 6, 1077.
- Riemann, M., Haga, K., Shimizu, T., Okada, K., Ando, S., Mochizuki, S., Nishizawa,
 Y., Yamanouchi, U., Nick, P., Yano, M. (2013) Identification of rice Allene
 Oxide Cyclase mutants and the function of jasmonate for defence against *Magnaporthe oryzae*. The Plant Journal, 74(2), 226-238.
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M., Jones, J.D. (2011) Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: more than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. Annual review of phytopathology, 49, 317-343.
- Rudell, D. and Mattheis, J. (2008) Synergism exists between ethylene and methyl jasmonate in artificial light-induced pigment enhancement of 'Fuji'apple fruit peel. Postharvest Biology and Technology, 47(1), 136-140.
- Ruduś, I., Kępczyńska, E., Kępczyński, J. (2006) Comparative efficacy of abscisic acid and methyl jasmonate for indirect somatic embryogenesis in *Medicago sativa* L. Plant growth regulation, **48**(1), 1.

- Sakamoto, A. and Murata, A.N. (1998) Metabolic engineering of rice leading to biosynthesis of glycinebetaine and tolerance to salt and cold. Plant molecular biology, 38(6), 1011-1019.
- Sakthivelu, G., Devi, M.A., Giridhar, P., Rajasekaran, T., Ravishankar, G., Nedev, T., Kosturkova, G. (2008) Drought-induced alterations in growth, osmotic potential and in vitro regeneration of soybean cultivars. General and Applied Plant Physiology, 34(1-2), 103-112.
- Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Qin, F., Osakabe, Y., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki,
 K. (2006) Dual function of an *Arabidopsis* transcription factor DREB2A in water-stress-responsive and heat-stress-responsive gene expression.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(49), 18822-18827.
- Santner, A., Calderon-Villalobos, L.I.A., Estelle, M. (2009) Plant hormones are versatile chemical regulators of plant growth. Nature chemical biology, 5(5), 301.
- Santner, A. and Estelle, M. (2009) Recent advances and emerging trends in plant hormone signalling. Nature, **459**(7250), 1071.
- Sarwat, M. and Tuteja, N. (2017) Hormonal signaling to control stomatal movement during drought stress. Plant Gene, **11**, 143-153.
- Satoh, R., Nakashima, K., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2002) ACTCAT, a novel cis-acting element for proline-and hypoosmolarityresponsive expression of the ProDH gene encoding proline dehydrogenase in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiology, **130**(2), 709-719.
- Schilmiller, A.L., Koo, A.J., Howe, G.A. (2007) Functional diversification of acyl-coenzyme A oxidases in jasmonic acid biosynthesis and action. Plant physiology, 143(2), 812-824.
- Schneider, K., Kienow, L., Schmelzer, E., Colby, T., Bartsch, M., Miersch, O., Wasternack, C., Kombrink, E., Stuible, H.-P. (2005) A new type of peroxisomal acyl-coenzyme A synthetase from *Arabidopsis thaliana* has the catalytic capacity to activate biosynthetic precursors of jasmonic acid. Journal of Biological Chemistry, **100**(4), 681-697.

- Schulze, E. (1986) Whole-plant responses to drought. Functional Plant Biology, **13**(1), 127-141.
- Seki, M., Narusaka, M., Ishida, J., Nanjo, T., Fujita, M., Oono, Y., Kamiya, A., Nakajima, M., Enju, A., Sakurai, T. (2002) Monitoring the expression profiles of 7000 *Arabidopsis* genes under drought, cold and high-salinity stresses using a full-length cDNA microarray. The Plant Journal, **31**(3), 279-292.
- Seki, M., Umezawa, T., Urano, K., Shinozaki, K. (2007) Regulatory metabolic networks in drought stress responses. Current opinion in plant biology, 10(3), 296-302.
- Seo, H.S., Song, J.T., Cheong, J.-J., Lee, Y.-H., Lee, Y.-W., Hwang, I., Lee, J.S., Do Choi, Y. (2001) Jasmonic acid carboxyl methyltransferase: a key enzyme for jasmonate-regulated plant responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(8), 4788-4793.
- Seo, J.S., Joo, J., Kim, M.J., Kim, Y.K., Nahm, B.H., Song, S.I., Cheong, J.J., Lee, J.S., Kim, J.K., Do Choi, Y. (2011) OsbHLH148, a basic helix-loop-helix protein, interacts with OsJAZ proteins in a jasmonate signaling pathway leading to drought tolerance in rice. The Plant Journal, 65(6), 907-921.
- Serna, L. and Fenoll, C. (2002) Reinforcing the idea of signalling in the stomatal pathway. Trends in Genetics, **18**(12), 597-600.
- Shang, J., Xi, D.-H., Xu, F., Wang, S.-D., Cao, S., Xu, M.-Y., Zhao, P.-P., Wang, J.-H., Jia, S.-D., Zhang, Z.-W. (2011) A broad-spectrum, efficient and nontransgenic approach to control plant viruses by application of salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. Planta, 233(2), 299-308.
- Sharma, M. and Laxmi, A. (2016) Jasmonates: emerging players in controlling temperature stress tolerance. Frontiers in Plant Science, **6**, 1129.
- Sharma, S.S. and Dietz, K.-J. (2006) The significance of amino acids and amino acid-derived molecules in plant responses and adaptation to heavy metal stress. Journal of experimental botany, 57(4), 711-726.
- Sheard, L.B., Tan, X., Mao, H., Withers, J., Ben-Nissan, G., Hinds, T.R., Kobayashi, Y., Hsu, F.-F., Sharon, M., Browse, J. (2010) Jasmonate perception by 111

inositol-phosphate-potentiated COI1–JAZ co-receptor. Nature, **468**(7322), 400.

- Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (1997) Gene expression and signal transduction in water-stress response. Plant Physiology, **115**(2), 327.
- Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2000) Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. Current opinion in plant biology, **3**(3), 217-223.
- Shinozaki, K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2007) Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. Journal of experimental botany, 58(2), 221-227.
- Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Seki, M. (2003) Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses. Current opinion in plant biology, 6(5), 410-417.
- Shomura, A., Izawa, T., Ebana, K., Ebitani, T., Kanegae, H., Konishi, S., Yano, M. (2008) Deletion in a gene associated with grain size increased yields during rice domestication. Nature genetics, 40(8), 1023.
- Singh, T., Aspinall, D., Paleg, L. (1972) Proline accumulation and varietal adaptability to drought in barley: a potential metabolic measure of drought resistance. Nature New Biology, 236(67), 188.
- Skirycz, A., Claeys, H., De Bodt, S., Oikawa, A., Shinoda, S., Andriankaja, M., Maleux, K., Eloy, N.B., Coppens, F., Yoo, S.-D. (2011) Pause-and-stop: the effects of osmotic stress on cell proliferation during early leaf development in *Arabidopsis* and a role for ethylene signaling in cell cycle arrest. The plant cell, tpc. 111.084160.
- Soar, C.J., Speirs, J., Maffei, S.M., Loveys, B.R. (2004) Gradients in stomatal conductance, xylem sap ABA and bulk leaf ABA along canes of *Vitis vinifera* cv. Shiraz: molecular and physiological studies investigating their source. Functional Plant Biology, **31**(6), 659-669.
- Sorkheh, K., Shiran, B., Khodambashi, M., Rouhi, V., Mosavei, S., Sofo, A. (2012) Exogenous proline alleviates the effects of H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress in

wild almond species. Russian journal of plant physiology, 59(6), 788-798.

- Sperdouli, I. and Moustakas, M. (2012) Interaction of proline, sugars, and anthocyanins during photosynthetic acclimation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to drought stress. Journal of plant physiology, **169**(6), 577-585.
- Spoel, S.H., Koornneef, A., Claessens, S.M., Korzelius, J.P., Van Pelt, J.A., Mueller, M.J., Buchala, A.J., Méraux, J.-P., Brown, R., Kazan, K. (2003) NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylate-and jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. The Plant Cell, 15(3), 760-770.
- Staswick, P.E. and Tiryaki, I. (2004) The oxylipin signal jasmonic acid is activated by an enzyme that conjugates it to isoleucine in *Arabidopsis*. The plant cell, **16**(8), 2117-2127.
- Staswick, P.E., Tiryaki, I., Rowe, M.L. (2002) Jasmonate response locus JAR1 and several related Arabidopsis genes encode enzymes of the firefly luciferase superfamily that show activity on jasmonic, salicylic, and indole-3-acetic acids in an assay for adenylation. The plant cell, 14(6), 1405-1415.
- Staswick, P.E., Yuen, G.Y., Lehman, C.C. (1998) Jasmonate signaling mutants of Arabidopsis are susceptible to the soil fungus *Pythium irregulare*. The Plant Journal, 15(6), 747-754.
- Stein, E., Molitor, A., Kogel, K.-H., Waller, F. (2008) Systemic resistance in Arabidopsis conferred by the mycorrhizal fungus *Piriformospora indica* requires jasmonic acid signaling and the cytoplasmic function of NPR1. Plant and cell physiology, 49(11), 1747-1751.
- Stintzi, A., Weber, H., Reymond, P., Farmer, E.E. (2001) Plant defense in the absence of jasmonic acid: the role of cyclopentenones. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(22), 12837-12842.
- Stitz, M., Baldwin, I.T., Gaquerel, E. (2011) Diverting the flux of the JA pathway in Nicotiana attenuata compromises the plant's defense metabolism and fitness in nature and glasshouse. Plos one, 6(10), e25925.
- Strizhov, N., Ábrah ám, E., Ökr ész, L., Blickling, S., Zilberstein, A., Schell, J., Koncz, ¹¹³

C., Szabados, L. (1997) Differential expression of two P5CS genes controlling proline accumulation during salt-stress requires ABA and is regulated by ABA1, ABI1 and AXR2 in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Journal, **12**(3), 557-569.

- Suhita, D., Kolla, V.A., Vavasseur, A., Raghavendra, A.S. (2003) Different signaling pathways involved during the suppression of stomatal opening by methyl jasmonate or abscisic acid. Plant Science, **164**(4), 481-488.
- Suhita, D., Raghavendra, A.S., Kwak, J.M., Vavasseur, A. (2004) Cytoplasmic alkalization precedes reactive oxygen species production during methyl jasmonate-and abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure. Plant physiology, 134(4), 1536-1545.
- Sultan, S.E. (2000) Phenotypic plasticity for plant development, function and life history. Trends in plant science, **5**(12), 537-542.
- Svyatyna, K., Jikumaru, Y., Brendel, R., Reichelt, M., Mithoefer, A., Takano, M., Kamiya, Y., Nick, P., Riemann, M. (2014) Light induces jasmonate-isoleucine conjugation via OsJAR1-dependent and-independent pathways in rice. Plant, Cell & Environment, 37(4), 827-839.
- Svyatyna, K. and Riemann, M. (2012) Light-dependent regulation of the jasmonate pathway. Protoplasma, **249**(2), 137-145.
- Székely, G., Ábrahám, E., Cséplő, Á., Rigó, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszár, J., Ayaydin, F., Strizhov, N., Jásik, J., Schmelzer, E. (2008) Duplicated P5CS genes of *Arabidopsis* play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. The Plant Journal, **53**(1), 11-28.
- Szabados, L. and Savoure, A. (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends in plant science, **15**(2), 89-97.
- Taji, T., Seki, M., Satou, M., Sakurai, T., Kobayashi, M., Ishiyama, K., Narusaka, Y., Narusaka, M., Zhu, J.-K., Shinozaki, K. (2004) Comparative genomics in salt tolerance between *Arabidopsis* and *Arabidopsis*-related halophyte salt cress using Arabidopsis microarray. Plant Physiology, **135**(3), 1697-1709.
- Taki, N., Sasaki-Sekimoto, Y., Obayashi, T., Kikuta, A., Kobayashi, K., Ainai, T., Yagi,K., Sakurai, N., Suzuki, H., Masuda, T. (2005) 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid

triggers expression of a distinct set of genes and plays a role in wound-induced gene expression in *Arabidopsis*. Plant physiology, **139**(3), 1268-1283.

- Tamogami, S. and Kodama, O. (2000) Coronatine elicits phytoalexin production in rice leaves (*Oryza sativa* L.) in the same manner as jasmonic acid. Phytochemistry, 54(7), 689-694.
- Tang, M., Lü, S., Jing, Y., Zhou, X., Sun, J., Shen, S. (2005) Isolation and identification of a cold-inducible gene encoding a putative DRE-binding transcription factor from *Festuca arundinacea*. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 43(3), 233-239.
- Tarczynski, M.C., Jensen, R.G., Bohnert, H.J. (1993) Stress protection of transgenic tobacco by production of the osmolyte mannitol. Science, 259(5094), 508-510.
- Theodoulou, F.L., Job, K., Slocombe, S.P., Footitt, S., Holdsworth, M., Baker, A., Larson, T.R., Graham, I.A. (2005) Jasmonic acid levels are reduced in COMATOSE ATP-binding cassette transporter mutants. Implications for transport of jasmonate precursors into peroxisomes. Plant Physiology, **137**(3), 835-840.
- Thines, B., Katsir, L., Melotto, M., Niu, Y., Mandaokar, A., Liu, G., Nomura, K., He, S.Y., Howe, G.A., Browse, J. (2007) JAZ repressor proteins are targets of the SCF^{COII} complex during jasmonate signalling. Nature, 448(7154), 661.
- Thomas, S.R., Chen, K., Keaney, J.F. (2002) Hydrogen peroxide activates endothelial nitric-oxide synthase through coordinated phosphorylation and dephosphorylation via a phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent signaling pathway. Journal of Biological Chemistry, **277**(8), 6017-6024.
- Thomashow, M.F. (2010) Molecular basis of plant cold acclimation: insights gained from studying the CBF cold response pathway. Plant physiology, **154**(2), 571-577.
- Tiryaki, I. and Staswick, P.E. (2002) An Arabidopsis mutant defective in jasmonate response is allelic to the auxin-signaling mutant axr1. Plant physiology, **130**(2), 887-894.
- Tonnessen, B.W., Manosalva, P., Lang, J.M., Baraoidan, M., Bordeos, A., Mauleon, 115

R., Oard, J., Hulbert, S., Leung, H., Leach, J.E. (2015) Rice phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene *OsPAL4* is associated with broad spectrum disease resistance. Plant molecular biology, **87**(3), 273-286.

- Torii, K.U. (2000) Receptor kinase activation and signal transduction in plants: an emerging picture. Current opinion in plant biology, **3**(5), 361-367.
- Traw, M.B. and Bergelson, J. (2003) Interactive effects of jasmonic acid, salicylic acid, and gibberellin on induction of trichomes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant physiology, **133**(3), 1367-1375.
- Turner, J.G., Ellis, C., Devoto, A. (2002) The jasmonate signal pathway. The Plant Cell, 14(suppl 1), S153-S164.
- Turner, N.C. (1986) Adaptation to water deficits: a changing perspective. Functional Plant Biology, 13(1), 175-190.
- Turrens, J.F. (2003) Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. The Journal of physiology, **552**(2), 335-344.
- Urano, D., Colaneri, A., Jones, A.M. (2014) Gα modulates salt-induced cellular senescence and cell division in rice and maize. Journal of experimental botany, 65(22), 6553-6561.
- Van Nguyen, N. and Ferrero, A. (2006) Meeting the challenges of global rice production, Springer.
- Verbruggen, N., Villarroel, R., Van Montagu, M. (1993) Osmoregulation of a pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiology, **103**(3), 771-781.
- Verma, V., Ravindran, P., Kumar, P.P. (2016) Plant hormone-mediated regulation of stress responses. BMC plant biology, 16(1), 86.
- Viña, J. (2002) Biochemical adaptation: mechanism and process in physiological evolution. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education, **30**(3), 215-216.
- Vogt, T. (2010) Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. Molecular plant, **3**(1), 2-20.
- von Malek, B., van der Graaff, E., Schneitz, K., Keller, B. (2002) The Arabidopsis male-sterile mutant dde2-2 is defective in the ALLENE OXIDE SYNTHASE gene encoding one of the key enzymes of the jasmonic acid biosynthesis 116

pathway. Planta, **216**(1), 187-192.

- Vranova, E., Inz é, D., Van Breusegem, F. (2002) Signal transduction during oxidative stress. Journal of experimental botany, 53(372), 1227-1236.
- Wada, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1997) Characterization of the gene for deltal-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase and correlation between the expression of the gene and salt tolerance in *Oryza sativa* L. Plant Mol Biol, 33, 857865Khoury.
- Wager, A. (2012) Social network: JAZ protein interactions expand our knowledge of jasmonate signaling. Frontiers in plant science, **3**, 41.
- Wang, L., Allmann, S., Wu, J., Baldwin, I.T. (2008a) Comparisons of LIPOXYGENASE3-and JASMONATE-RESISTANT4/6-silenced plants reveal that jasmonic acid and jasmonic acid-amino acid conjugates play different roles in herbivore resistance of *Nicotiana attenuata*. Plant physiology, 146(3), 904-915.
- Wang, L., Wang, Z., Xu, Y., Joo, S.H., Kim, S.K., Xue, Z., Xu, Z., Wang, Z., Chong,
 K. (2009) OsGSR1 is involved in crosstalk between gibberellins and
 brassinosteroids in rice. The Plant Journal, 57(3), 498-510.
- Wang, Q., Guan, Y., Wu, Y., Chen, H., Chen, F., Chu, C. (2008b) Overexpression of a rice OsDREB1F gene increases salt, drought, and low temperature tolerance in both Arabidopsis and rice. Plant molecular biology, 67(6), 589-602.
- Wang, S., Liang, D., Li, C., Hao, Y., Ma, F., Shu, H. (2012) Influence of drought stress on the cellular ultrastructure and antioxidant system in leaves of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive apple rootstocks. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, **51**, 81-89.
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., Altman, A. (2003) Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. Planta, 218(1), 1-14.
- Wasternack, C. (2007) Jasmonates: an update on biosynthesis, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. Annals of botany, 100(4), 681-697.

- Wasternack, C. (2014) Action of jasmonates in plant stress responses and development-applied aspects. Biotechnology advances, **32**(1), 31-39.
- Wasternack, C. and Hause, B. (2013) Jasmonates: biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. An update to the 2007 review in Annals of Botany. Annals of botany, **111**(6), 1021-1058.
- Wasternack, C. and Strnad, M. (2017) Jasmonates are signals in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites-Pathways, transcription factors and applied aspects-A brief review. New biotechnology.
- Watanabe, S., Kojima, K., Ide, Y., Sasaki, S. (2000) Effects of saline and osmotic stress on proline and sugar accumulation in *Populus euphratica* in vitro. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, **63**(3), 199.
- Wathugala, D.L., Richards, S.A., Knight, H., Knight, M.R. (2011) OsSFR6 is a functional rice orthologue of SENSITIVE TO FREEZING-6 and can act as a regulator of COR gene expression, osmotic stress and freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. New Phytologist, **191**(4), 984-995.
- Westfall, P.J., Pitera, D.J., Lenihan, J.R., Eng, D., Woolard, F.X., Regentin, R., Horning, T., Tsuruta, H., Melis, D.J., Owens, A. (2012) Production of amorphadiene in yeast, and its conversion to dihydroartemisinic acid, precursor to the antimalarial agent artemisinin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, **109**(3), E111-E118.
- Wierstra, I. and Kloppstech, K. (2000) Differential effects of methyl jasmonate on the expression of the early light-inducible proteins and other light-regulated genes in barley. Plant physiology, **124**(2), 833-844.
- Wilkinson, S. and Davies, W.J. (2010) Drought, ozone, ABA and ethylene: new insights from cell to plant to community. Plant, cell & environment, **33**(4), 510-525.
- Wilson, Z.A. and Zhang, D.-B. (2009) From *Arabidopsis* to rice: pathways in pollen development. Journal of experimental botany, **60**(5), 1479-1492.
- Wolters, H. and Jürgens, G. (2009) Survival of the flexible: hormonal growth control 118

and adaptation in plant development. Nature Reviews Genetics, 10(5), 305.

- Xiantao, W., MARTINDALE, J.L., Yusen, L., HOLBROOK, N.J. (1998) The cellular response to oxidative stress: influences of mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathways on cell survival. Biochemical Journal, 333(2), 291-300.
- Xie, D.-X., Feys, B.F., James, S., Nieto-Rostro, M., Turner, J.G. (1998) COI1: an *Arabidopsis* gene required for jasmonate-regulated defense and fertility. Science, 280(5366), 1091-1094.
- Xiong, L., Ishitani, M., Lee, H., Zhu, J.-K. (2001) The Arabidopsis LOS5/ABA3 locus encodes a molybdenum cofactor sulfurase and modulates cold stress-and osmotic stress–responsive gene expression. The plant cell, **13**(9), 2063-2083.
- Xu, L., Liu, F., Lechner, E., Genschik, P., Crosby, W.L., Ma, H., Peng, W., Huang, D.,
 Xie, D. (2002) The SCF^{COII} ubiquitin-ligase complexes are required for jasmonate response in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Cell, 14(8), 1919-1935.
- Xu, Z.-Y., Kim, S.Y., Kim, D.H., Dong, T., Park, Y., Jin, J.B., Joo, S.-H., Kim, S.-K., Hong, J.C., Hwang, D. (2013) The *Arabidopsis* NAC transcription factor ANAC096 cooperates with bZIP-type transcription factors in dehydration and osmotic stress responses. The plant cell, tpc. 113.119099.
- Xu, Z. and Zhou, G. (2008) Responses of leaf stomatal density to water status and its relationship with photosynthesis in a grass. Journal of experimental botany, 59(12), 3317-3325.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (2006) Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 57, 781-803.
- Yamamoto, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Devi, S.R., Rikiishi, S., Matsumoto, H. (2002) Aluminum toxicity is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and the production of reactive oxygen species in plant cells. Plant physiology, **128**(1), 63-72.
- Yan, J., Zhang, C., Gu, M., Bai, Z., Zhang, W., Qi, T., Cheng, Z., Peng, W., Luo, H., Nan, F. (2009) The *Arabidopsis* CORONATINE INSENSITIVE1 protein is a jasmonate receptor. The plant cell, **21**(8), 2220-2236.

- Yang, J., Kloepper, J.W., Ryu, C.-M. (2009) Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. Trends in plant science, 14(1), 1-4.
- Yang, S., Vanderbeld, B., Wan, J., Huang, Y. (2010) Narrowing down the targets: towards successful genetic engineering of drought-tolerant crops. Molecular plant, 3(3), 469-490.
- Yang, W., Liu, X.-D., Chi, X.-J., Wu, C.-A., Li, Y.-Z., Song, L.-L., Liu, X.-M., Wang, Y.-F., Wang, F.-W., Zhang, C. (2011a) Dwarf apple MbDREB1 enhances plant tolerance to low temperature, drought, and salt stress via both ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways. Planta, 233(2), 219-229.
- Yang, X., Yang, Y.-N., Xue, L.-J., Zou, M.-J., Liu, J.-J., Chen, F., Xue, H.-W. (2011b) Rice ABI5-like1 regulates ABA and auxin responses by affecting the expression of ABRE-containing genes. Plant Physiology, pp. 111.173427.
- Yao, Q.-s., Lei, X.-t., Wang, Y.-c., Luo, W.-y., Feng, W.-x. (2006) Effects of different water moisture on photosynthesis, transpiration and stoma conductance of potted mango seedlings. Journal of fruit Science, 2, 019.
- Yin, D., Chen, S., Chen, F., Guan, Z., Fang, W. (2009) Morphological and physiological responses of two chrysanthemum cultivars differing in their tolerance to waterlogging. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 67(1), 87-93.
- Yoon, J.Y., Hamayun, M., Lee, S.-K., Lee, I.-J. (2009) Methyl jasmonate alleviated salinity stress in soybean. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology, 12(2), 63-68.
- Yoshiba, Y., Kiyosue, T., Katagiri, T., Ueda, H., Mizoguchi, T., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Wada, K., Harada, Y., Shinozaki, K. (1995) Correlation between the induction of a gene for Δ1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase and the accumulation of proline in Arabidopsis thaliana under osmotic stress. The Plant Journal, 7(5), 751-760.
- Yoshida, S. and Parniske, M. (2005) Regulation of plant symbiosis receptor kinase through serine and threonine phosphorylation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280(10), 9203-9209.

- Yoshida, T., Fujita, Y., Sayama, H., Kidokoro, S., Maruyama, K., Mizoi, J., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2010) AREB1, AREB2, and ABF3 are master transcription factors that cooperatively regulate ABRE-dependent ABA signaling involved in drought stress tolerance and require ABA for full activation. The Plant Journal, 61(4), 672-685.
- Yoshida, T., Mogami, J., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2014) ABA-dependent and ABA-independent signaling in response to osmotic stress in plants. Current opinion in plant biology, 21, 133-139.
- You, J., Zong, W., Hu, H., Li, X., Xiao, J., Xiong, L. (2014) A SNAC1-regulated protein phosphatase gene *OsPP18* modulates drought and oxidative stress tolerance through ABA-independent reactive oxygen species scavenging in rice. Plant Physiology, pp. 114.251116.
- You, J., Zong, W., Li, X., Ning, J., Hu, H., Li, X., Xiao, J., Xiong, L. (2012) The SNAC1-targeted gene OsSRO1c modulates stomatal closure and oxidative stress tolerance by regulating hydrogen peroxide in rice. Journal of experimental botany, 64(2), 569-583.
- Yu, X., Peng, Y.H., Zhang, M.H., Shao, Y.J., Su, W.A., Tang, Z.C. (2006) Water relations and an expression analysis of plasma membrane intrinsic proteins in sensitive and tolerant rice during chilling and recovery. Cell research, 16(6), 599.
- Yuan, L. (2004) Hybrid rice technology for food security in the world. In the international conference on sustainable rice Systems, FAO, Rome, Italy, 2004.
- Zhang, J., Jia, W., Yang, J., Ismail, A.M. (2006) Role of ABA in integrating plant responses to drought and salt stresses. Field Crops Research, **97**(1), 111-119.
- Zhang, W., Ruan, J., Ho, T.-h.D., You, Y., Yu, T., Quatrano, R.S. (2005) Cis-regulatory element based targeted gene finding: genome-wide identification of abscisic acid-and abiotic stress-responsive genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Bioinformatics, 21(14), 3074-3081.
- Zhang, X., Wang, L., Xu, X., Cai, C., Guo, W. (2014) Genome-wide identification of mitogen-activated protein kinase gene family in *Gossypium raimondii* and the 121

function of their corresponding orthologs in tetraploid cultivated cotton. BMC plant biology, **14**(1), 345.

- Zhang, Y., Gao, M., Singer, S.D., Fei, Z., Wang, H., Wang, X. (2012) Genome-wide identification and analysis of the TIFY gene family in grape. PLoS One, 7(9), e44465.
- Zhao, Y., Thilmony, R., Bender, C.L., Schaller, A., He, S.Y., Howe, G.A. (2003) Virulence systems of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato promote bacterial speck disease in tomato by targeting the jasmonate signaling pathway. The Plant Journal, **36**(4), 485-499.
- Zhu, J.-K., Liu, J., Xiong, L. (1998) Genetic analysis of salt tolerance in Arabidopsis: evidence for a critical role of potassium nutrition. The plant cell, 10(7), 1181-1191.
- Ziegler, J., Stenzel, I., Hause, B., Maucher, H., Hamberg, M., Grimm, R., Ganal, M., Wasternack, C. (2000) Molecular cloning of allene oxide cyclase the enzyme establishing the stereochemistry of octadecanoids and jasmonates. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275(25), 19132-19138.